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Our vision
To be trusted by all to help organisations run smarter, 
faster and further.

Our mission
To be Europe’s leading information delivery platform,
providing organisations with best-in-class customer
experience and integrated computing and network 
services that make a difference to their businesses.

Our strategy
We focus exclusively on businesses, government agencies
and other organisations that have network and IT managed
services requirements in Europe and that wish to gain 
a competitive advantage in this market. This focus allows 
us to develop optimal technical architectures as well 
as support processes and systems to ensure that we are 
able to provide best-in-class customer support.

Colt has built an enviable reputation for technical innovation.
We will continue to maintain and extend our pan-European
network leadership – particularly as it relates to Ethernet
services – and to exploit the cost and performance advantages
of our unique network and data centre infrastructure, all
supported by the expertise of our people. These valuable
assets give us a strong platform to bring our advanced
networking, IT infrastructure, applications and security
services together into a powerful resource that can help 
our customers to easily share, process, store and deliver 
their vital business information. 

We are accelerating the development of our portfolio 
of IT managed services and integrating these with our next
generation European network. We will continue to expand
our enterprise cloud platform and application-aware
networking capabilities as well as our advanced online
customer management portal with the aim of achieving 
a leadership position in the integrated networking and 
IT managed services market. For our customers this will mean
the ability to flexibly manage applications from end-to-end
with the reassurance of a single service guarantee. 

What we do
We place customers at the centre of everything we do. 
Colt is a trusted provider of telephony, data networking, 
IT managed services and consultancy services to business
and government customers across Europe.

Colt is uniquely placed to deliver complex solutions that
comprise network, IT infrastructure, applications, security
and consultancy. We continually look for ways to extend 
this advantage.

We have control over the critical elements: 
• our own next generation network right across Europe 

to the very last mile
• significant pan-European IT infrastructure and services, and
• extensive expertise in creating integrated IT managed

services and networking solutions.

New technologies such as virtualisation and cloud computing
offer our customers a great opportunity to improve agility
and reduce costs. However, in order to get the most out 
of them, they need to be combined with an equally flexible,
secure and reliable, low latency network. By bringing them
together we offer our customers an information delivery
platform that is a powerful resource for sharing, processing,
storing and delivering vital business information. Colt is the
only company that can do this on a truly pan-European basis.
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Group at a glance

What are our assets?
Our primary assets include a 25,000km pan-European fibre
optic communications network which connects 19 data
centres and is directly connected to 16,000 buildings 
in 34 metropolitan area networks and more than 80 other
European cities. In addition, our Ethernet services now
reach four US cities and we have begun to expand into
selected central and eastern European countries.

These physical assets are all supported by highly efficient
shared services centres in Gurgaon and Bangalore, India 
(for back office processes), Barcelona (for front line
customer service) and London (for network management).

Our 5,000 employees are key to differentiating Colt. They
are one of our most important strengths as we design and
deliver a wide range of highly complex solutions to customers.
Their dedication, flexibility, technical skills and knowledge
have positioned the company as a leading force in current
and emerging markets.

Colt works around the clock to meet the needs and service
requirements of its customers. To handle growing numbers
of international customer enquiries we have chosen to
invest in delivering local language support to European
customers through our Barcelona centre. We provide 
front line customer service to 14 countries in 15 languages
through this centre. This 24 hour activity is supported 
by leading-edge call distribution and customer service
ticketing systems, designed to deliver exceptional and
market leading service to our customers.

Data Centre and Metropolitan
Area Network (MAN)

MAN

Colt connected city

Shared service operations

Network connections 
between cities are logical
paths and may not reflect
actual routes.

Operational network 
managed end-to-end

What do we offer?
We provide business telephony, data networking services, 
IT managed services and consulting services to design, build
and manage customer solutions. We help customers access
the Internet and privately share electronic information (Data),
manage their vital voice communications (Voice) and
optimise processing and storage of essential business 
data (Managed Services). We do this with the high levels 
of performance, security and reliability that our customers
demand. We are a recognised leader in Ethernet networking. 

Our data centre resources allow customers to host 
mission-critical business applications that require high 
levels of availability as well as e-commerce and web-based
applications. Our customers can store and back up their
valuable business data and can subscribe to managed
applications and software such as Managed Workspace. 
We provide an increasing range of IT consultancy services
and are rapidly establishing ourselves in enterprise 
cloud services.

We provide telephone services using traditional telephone
technologies or increasingly through business grade Voice
over IP (VoIP). We also offer customers advanced call
management products to enable them to support their
customers more efficiently, reach new markets or even
operate an entirely telephone-based business model.
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Group at a glance / continued

How are we organised?
The Major Enterprise Division meets the needs of multinational
and large national organisations. These customers value 
our reach, range of services and expertise in designing
specialist solutions.

The Small and Medium Enterprise (SME) Division serves
businesses of between 30 and 1,000 employees through
direct sales, online or through our growing network of more
than 600 skilled channel partners.

The Wholesale Division serves the needs of other
telecommunications operators. Colt has full public 
operator status in 13 European countries and has more 
than 400 fixed and mobile interconnects worldwide.

Excellent customer service is at the core of Colt’s values. 
Our Operations Division is responsible for providing this 
high level of service to customers from order right through 
to ongoing service and support. They do this through
investment in advanced tools and training and recruitment 
of the highest calibre people.

Our Managed Services Division leads the way in the
development of our range of managed IT infrastructure
services, managed applications, IT security and enterprise
cloud services. They provide expert advice to customers 
on issues such as virtualisation, IT optimisation, risk and
compliance, IT governance and strategy as well as the
transition to cloud computing. These services are available 
to all of our customers through our business divisions.

The Technology Division manages network capacity,
performance and functionality and ensures we offer
customers innovative, high performance products and
services. The Division works closely with our Managed
Services Division to deliver networking and IT Managed
Services to our customers.

Our human resources capability ensures we have the right
level of skills and support for all our divisions as well as the
best possible working environment. The Chief Operating
Office and the Chief Financial Office provide a range of
support services across the business to underpin final
delivery to customers.

Who are our customers?
We serve more than 35,000 organisations in 13 countries
across Europe. We work across most industry sectors with
organisations in both the private and public sector as well 
as wholesaling to other telecommunications providers. 

Wholesale customers use our pan-European network reach
as a gateway to doing business in Europe or to complement
their own network and services capabilities. Other customers
can be smaller companies in a single city location right 
up to national or multinational corporations. All choose 
to work with Colt because of the competitive and innovative
products and services we offer, the consistency of our
service from country to country and our focus on business.

Colt is at the heart of the financial services sector’s mission
critical activities. Every day our network carries trillions of
Euros worth of transactions securely and reliably, enabling
the fundamental trading activities of financial markets 
to operate. 

Similarly, media customers rely on us to deliver and protect
their creative work. In an online world this also means
managing ever increasing volumes of rich content and media. 

Sharing, storing and protecting information is the lifeblood
of the legal sector. Law firms increasingly use sophisticated
information, document management and billing systems
and often conduct business in more than one country. 
We help them to do so with efficiency, reliability and security.

We work with a number of national and local government
organisations and healthcare providers who depend 
on us to deliver and manage their information with the 
utmost security. We also work with a range of customers 
in hospitality, entertainment, marketing, property and 
IT sectors to help them serve their customers better.

More than 35,000 customers
34 major European cities
19 Colt data centres
Direct connections to 16,000 buildings 



2009 Performance 
In 2009 Colt moved forward in a challenging external
environment. Macro economic forces continued to manifest
themselves in pricing pressures and some customers
hesitated before committing to new business communications
spend. But against this backdrop Colt continued to win new
business and delivered further improvement in earnings and
cash generation.

In my statement last year I highlighted that 2009 revenue
would be difficult to predict but that Colt’s business model
would deliver a degree of resilience. This proved to be the
case and although the adverse trading conditions in the
global economy did impact our total revenue, 2009 was
Colt’s third consecutive year of profitability.

Early in the year Colt successfully secured equity funding
raising €199.1m (including a €9.7m foreign exchange gain)
before expenses, and used the proceeds to repay our
outstanding bond. Colt finishes 2009 with no debt and
remained free cash flow1 positive in 2009.

1 Free cash flow is net cash generated from operating activities less net cash
used to purchase non-current assets and net finance costs paid.
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Chairman’s statement

In 2009 Colt continued to move forward. We met the
challenges of a difficult economic environment and
made progress in addressing our strategy to be Europe’s
leading information delivery platform. We enter 2010
with renewed energy, a sharper focus on networking
and IT Managed Services, and a strong balance sheet.

“The macro economic outlook for 
2010 remains uncertain but Colt 
is well placed to react to changing
conditions. With the increasing
importance of secure, reliable data
transfer and storage, Colt will benefit
as customers continue to seek out
high quality service providers.”

Tim Hilton / Chairman
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Chairman’s statement / continued

Strategy
I want to take this opportunity to set out our strategy more
clearly. I have spoken in the past of Colt’s evolution from 
a traditional telecommunications provider to a company
that offers integrated networking and IT Managed Services.
This evolution involves moving from providing simple,
increasingly commoditised, voice and data services to
creating distinctive, repeatable solutions which take full
advantage of our unique network and data centre assets 
and our growing managed services capability.

Our mission is to be Europe’s leading information delivery
platform, providing organisations with best-in-class
customer experience and integrated computing and
network services that make a difference to their businesses.
Our pan-European communications network and integrated
data centres already provide us with the largest footprint 
of any pan-European service provider and we will look 
to leverage this position, specifically in the growth areas
around data services and managed services.

To reflect the changing mix of our business activities we 
will be proposing to change the name of the Company from
COLT Telecom Group S.A. to Colt Group S.A. at the AGM 
on 29 April 2010.

Management and Board
I am pleased that Stuart Jackson joined our senior
management team in September 2009 as our Chief 
Financial Officer. He will be proposed as a new executive
Director at the forthcoming AGM. 

In July we welcomed Sergio Giacoletto to the Board as 
a new independent non-executive Director. He brings with
him a wealth of experience in the IT sector and outsourcing 
of complex services. Also in July, Robert Hawley retired
from the Board and I would like to thank him for his
significant contribution to the Group over the years. 

Corporate Social Responsibility
Our CSR programme has made great progress during 
2009. We achieved all our targets for the year across the
environment, marketplace, workplace and community. 
We successfully gained ISO14001 certification for our
environmental management systems in India, Spain 
and the UK. All our employees have been involved in
selecting the charity partners we will be supporting for 
the next two years and we have also launched a new
volunteering scheme to support our communities.

Conclusion
The macro economic outlook for 2010 remains uncertain 
but Colt is well placed to react to changing conditions. 
With the increasing importance of secure, reliable data
transfer and storage, Colt will benefit as customers 
continue to seek out high quality service providers.

I would like to extend my thanks and those of the Board 
to our CEO Rakesh Bhasin and all our employees for their
hard work, loyalty and commitment during 2009. I know
they will build on their success in 2010.

Tim Hilton / Chairman



In 2009 Colt maintained momentum against a backdrop 
of economic uncertainty and challenging markets. 
We grew Data and Managed Services revenue and
delivered improved EBITDA. We are proud of our
position as a market leader for Ethernet services and
are establishing ourselves as a leading information
delivery platform. Our unique infrastructure means 
we can deliver the highest levels of security,
performance and reliability in the industry.

Reflecting on 2009
In 2009 Colt built on the foundations laid in recent years and
prospered in a time of uncertainty in the global economy.
We demonstrated our market leadership by winning some
notable deals. We continued to manage our costs with 
care and benefited from our investments in infrastructure
and technology.

Our products and services were well received in the 
market with total Group revenue at €1,622.5m, down 3.2%
(2008: €1,675.4m).
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Data revenue was up 0.5% at €794.9m (2008: €790.7m). 
However within that total, our Ethernet services grew 
by more than 10%. Our strong position in Ethernet services
has allowed us to capitalise on the growing customer
demand for Ethernet as the access technology of choice.
During 2009 Colt extended its Ethernet coverage in Europe
with an extensive local loop unbundling programme and
successfully delivered Ethernet services to the USA.

Managed Services revenue was up 24.6% at €156.1m 
(2008: €125.3m). We made significant progress during 
the year with the launch of new enterprise cloud solutions.
We can meet the needs of our customers in sectors with
stringent and exacting requirements for security and
reliability and provide rapid application delivery and 
cost efficiencies. 

Voice revenue was down 11.6% at €671.5m, (2008: €759.4m).
Colt continued to be affected by the decline in the voice
market in 2009. However, we have strengthened our 
position in the higher margin and more resilient areas 
of the market by further enhancing our IP Voice and 
unified communications solutions. We have continued 
to be successful in running high volumes of transactional
business. And by enabling our channel partners and
wholesale customers to more easily resell our voice 
offering to their corporate customers, we have built 
a significant new pipeline.

I am proud to report that for the fifth year in a row, Colt 
was successful in the Metro Ethernet Forum Awards, this
year winning the ‘Best Service Portfolio Award EMEA’ and
the ‘Service Provider of the Year EMEA’. We also won the
Expo Europe Award for ‘Service Provider of the Year –
Best Product Portfolio’ and the ‘2009 Best Regional
Operator Award’ at the World Communication Awards. 

Chief Executive’s review

Rakesh Bhasin / Chief Executive Officer
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“In 2009 we delivered 
a strong operational and
financial performance 
and continued to build 
our operational capabilities
by investing in infrastructure, 
systems and processes.”



Chief Executive’s review / continued

In terms of profitability, in 2009 Colt increased EBITDA 
to €318.7m (2008: €303.9m) reflecting tight cost control 
and an improvement in operating margins. This growth
flowed through to pre-tax profit which rose 31.7% to €94.7m 
(2008: €71.9m), also benefitting from lower net interest
costs as well as an exceptional foreign exchange gain
relating to the Open Offer.

The Group has recognised a deferred tax asset of €28.6m 
in its financial statements for the first time in 2009. This was
due to the establishment of a track record of sustainable
profitability in certain jurisdictions. It is expected that Colt will
progressively recognise the value of further tax assets as more
jurisdictions move into positions of sustainable profitability.

Financial position
Free cash flow generated in 2009 was €101.4m (2008: €45.7m)
reflecting increasing profitability and lower capital expenditure.
This was due to lower expenditure on major infrastructure
and larger IT projects, lower customer installations and
improved capital efficiency. Total capital expenditure 
in 2009 was €216.3m (2008: €310.1m).

In March 2009 Colt completed an Open Offer to shareholders,
raising a total of €199.1m (including a €9.7m foreign exchange
gain) before expenses. In April 2009 these funds, together
with other cash resources, were used for the early redemption
of our outstanding bond of €262.2m which was due to be
repaid in December 2009.

At the year end Colt had net funds of €309.9m (2008: €11.4m)
and no debt (2008: €262.2m).

Preparing for the future
Colt’s mission to become Europe’s leading information
delivery platform continues to move forward apace. You 
will see from the design of this report that we have already
adopted a fresh new visual identity to more readily reflect
our position in this fast moving marketplace. We will continue
to build on our integrated IT and network services and
award-winning customer service to deliver value for our
customers, shareholders, employees and other stakeholders. 

During 2009 we completed the upgrade of our Long Distance
Network, the backbone of our European network. Using
leading-edge technology, this upgrade significantly improves
the way we deliver our long distance data services across
Europe and allows us to meet the strong customer demand
for national and international high-speed Ethernet with the
lowest possible latency. Our customers benefit through
greater simplicity, choice and flexibility while we are now
able to introduce new products more quickly and further
improve our capital efficiency. 

We also completed the rollout of our next generation
Ethernet platform, which offers customers across Europe
higher bandwidth and improved performance from their
data services through reduced latency. This platform will
also enable Colt to be more competitive by delivering
services to our customers faster than before. 

We enhanced our managed services offering with the
introduction of our enterprise cloud platform. Enterprise
cloud will feature prominently in Colt’s approach of offering
customers immense choice and versatility, giving them
freedom to use both dedicated and shared or dedicated 
IT infrastructure solutions, including virtualisation to match
their evolving business requirements. 

Colt continued to automate processes to improve customer
experience. Customers have welcomed the launch of the
Colt Online Portal, our new online channel to market, 
which allows customers to interact with us, manage their
information, raise tickets and place orders online. We also
continued our investment in systems, infrastructure and
partners, successfully completing projects such as our 
Next Generation Billing system. 

Outlook 
Whilst financial markets responded positively in 2009, we still
believe that a note of caution is required regarding the pace
and timing of macro economic recovery. We believe that
confidence will start to return to those customers who have
delayed or reduced their IT expenditure plans. In these
uncertain times the strength of our balance sheet means 
we are well placed to respond to opportunities and 
to benefit from an economic upturn.

From a solutions perspective, we anticipate that demand 
for enterprise cloud and virtualisation will continue to grow
throughout our customer base and beyond. Colt is well
placed to respond to this opportunity with our integrated IT
and networking services as a key differentiator. These services
are being well received by our customers as they align with
their evolving business challenges. Our partnership approach
will continue in 2010 to deliver a best-in-class solutions
portfolio, expanded sales channels and accelerate our time 
to market.

Conclusion
In 2009 we delivered a strong operational and financial
performance and continued to build our operational
capabilities by investing in infrastructure, systems and
processes. Entering 2010, Colt is well placed. We will maintain
our drive for operational excellence and technological
solutions that meet the needs of our customers. Our focus 
on the growth areas of Data and Managed Services will
change our overall product mix as Voice continues to decline.
We will maintain our proactive management of both
operating and capital costs. We will invest in opportunities
that support our growing business activities, particularly 
in the Managed Services arena, and we enter 2010 in a strong
position ready to respond to opportunities that will emerge 
as the European economy returns to growth.

Rakesh Bhasin / Chief Executive Officer
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02
Tony Bates
Chief Operating Officer and, until
September 2009, Group Chief Financial
Officer, 53, was appointed to the Board
on 1 May 2004. Tony was previously
Group Finance Director of EMI Group
plc. Formerly Tony held senior positions
at Habitat UK, Philip Morris UK (now
Altria, Inc.) and qualified with Arthur
Andersen. Tony is a Fellow of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants. 

03
Rakesh Bhasin
Chief Executive Officer, 47, was
appointed to the Board on 13 December
2006. Rakesh was previously President
and Chief Executive of KVH Co. Ltd, 
a Fidelity Asia-focused telecom and
data centre services provider based 
in Tokyo and remains as non-executive
Chairman of that company. Rakesh has
previously held senior positions at AT&T
and Japan Telecom Company Limited.

01
Andreas Barth
Non-executive Director, 65, was
appointed to the Board on 1 September
2003. Andreas was formerly a member
of the Supervisory Board of TDS
Informationstechnologie. He was
previously Senior Vice-President of
Compaq Computer Corporation and
has also worked for Thomson-CSF,
Texas Instruments and Ford.

04
Vincenzo Damiani
Non-executive Director, 70, was
appointed to the Board on 23 July
2002. Vincenzo is President of VIDA
Consulting Srl and non-executive
Director of Mediatica SpA. He is a former
non-executive Director of Banca di Roma
and was previously Corporate Vice-
President of EDS Corporation, President
of Digital Equipment Europe and
General Manager of IBM Europe.

05
Hans Eggerstedt
Senior Independent Director, 71, 
was appointed to the Board on 
2 June 2003. Hans is a member 
of the Supervisory Board of Unilever
Deutschland and a non-executive
Director of Jeronimo Martins (Portugal)
and Jeronimo Martins Dystrybucja
(Poland). Hans was previously Group
Finance Director of Unilever. 

06
Mark Ferrari
Non-executive Director, 52, was
appointed to the board on 1 January
2009. He is Managing Director of
Devonshire Investors and also serves 
as Chairman of FIML Natural Resources
and Backyard Farms Holding, LLC and
as director on the boards of a number 
of other Devonshire portfolio companies.
Prior to joining Fidelity, Mark was Vice
President of Finance at Kronos Inc and
began his career at Ernst & Young. 

08
Sergio Giacoletto 
Non-executive Director, 60, was appointed
to the Board on 22 July 2009. Sergio was
Executive Vice President of Oracle
Corporation, Europe, Middle East and
Africa until December 2008. Prior to
joining Oracle in 1997, he was President,
Value Added Services at AT&T and before
that he spent 20 years with Digital
Equipment Corporation in various senior
management and executive roles. He is
currently the Senior Independent Director
of Logica Plc, a non-executive Director 
of CSR plc and the Chairman of Sophis. 

09
Simon Haslam
Non-executive Director, 52, was
appointed to the Board on 16 January
2007. Simon is President of the Moonray
Investors division of FIL Limited. 
He is also a director of FIL Limited 
and of various of its subsidiaries and 
of funds managed by FIL Limited and 
its subsidiaries. He is a Fellow of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants and
was previously an audit and consulting
partner with Deloitte, and a non-
executive Director of Euroclear plc.

07
Gene Gabbard
Non-executive Director, 69, was
appointed to the Board on 6 January
2005. Gene is a member of the 
boards of NetCracker Technology
Corporation, Knology, Inc. and Hughes
Communications, Inc. and a special
limited partner of Ballast Point Ventures.
Gene was previously Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer
of MCI Communications Corporation.

10
Tim Hilton
Chairman, 57, was appointed to the
Board on 26 May 1999 and as Chairman
on 16 January 2007. Tim is President of
Devonshire Investors, a private equity
firm affiliated with Fidelity Investments.
Devonshire manages a portfolio of
investments in telecommunications,
venture capital, real estate and other
businesses outside financial services.
Tim was previously a partner of the 
US corporate law firm Sullivan &
Worcester LLP.

11
H. Frans van den Hoven KBE
Non-executive Director, 87, was
appointed to the Board on 30 September
1996. Frans is a member of the board
of Hunter Douglas and a non-executive
Director of two funds managed by 
FIL Limited. Frans was previously joint
Chairman of Unilever and non-executive
Chairman of ABN AMRO Bank.

12
Richard Walsh
Non-executive Director, 63, was
appointed to the Board on 1 June
2005. Richard serves as a Managing
Director of Fidelity Investments and 
is a director of FIL Limited. Richard has
held a number of other senior positions
within the FMR and FIL organisations
and was previously with Digital
Equipment Corporation.

Robert Hawley CBE
Non-executive Director, 73, was appointed to the Board on 21 August 1998 
and resigned on 22 July 2009. 
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Turning bright ideas 
into competitive
advantage

Andrew Amu / Customer Relationship Manager IT

faster
We are working to ensure that 
Colt remains competitive in all 
our markets by developing new
products or enhancing existing
ones faster than our peers. 

Our internal IT resources and
teams provide the capacity, speed,
functionality and management 
to deliver best-in-class products
and services to our customers. 

COLT Telecom Group S.A. / Annual Report 2009 10

Report of the Board of Directors



The Directors submit their report and audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2009. 
For the purposes of this report, ‘Company’ means 
COLT Telecom Group S.A. and ‘Group’ or ‘Colt’ means 
the Company and its subsidiary undertakings.

Principal activity 
The Company is the holding company for the Group and 
is domiciled in Luxembourg. The principal activity of the
Group is the provision of business communications solutions
and services within Europe. The Company was admitted 
to the Official List of the UK Listing Authority and to trading
on the main market for listed securities of the London 
Stock Exchange PLC on 3 July 2006. The original holding
company, COLT Telecom Group plc, was listed on the
London Stock Exchange on 17 December 1996. 

Business review
This Report of the Board of Directors sets out an overview 
of the development and performance of the business, 
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
Colt and an indication of likely future developments. 

Product and services development
During 2009 we delivered a number of upgrades and
enhancements to our network which benefit our customers
through the introduction of new products and services 
or improved functionality of existing ones.

We introduced our Internet Protocol Multimedia Subsystem
or IMS platform. The IMS provides new functionality to our
Internet Protocol services such as Voice over IP and 
IP Access. The IMS allows us to extend our unified
communications services portfolio using Independent
Software Vendors. It provides new functionality to these
services such as enabling users to blend different services
together in a single session with guaranteed quality of voice
and video calls.

We completed the upgrade of our Long Distance Network
(LDN), the backbone of our European network. Using
leading-edge technology this upgrade significantly improves
the way we deliver our long distance data services across
Europe and allows us to meet the strong customer demand
for national and international high speed Ethernet. Our
customers benefit through greater simplicity, choice and
flexibility in communications and managed services while
we can introduce new products more quickly. The LDN
provides efficiencies in power, cooling and space reduction
to enable us to reduce our overall costs of service. It also
provides best-in-class latency across our whole network,
giving us a competitive edge with customers where the
lowest delay of information delivery is crucial.

During the year we also completed the rollout of our next
generation Ethernet platform, which offers customers
across Europe higher bandwidth and improved performance
from their data services through reduced latency. This
platform will also enable Colt to be more competitive 
by delivering services to our customers faster than before.

As well as delivering these new platforms we enhanced
some existing products and introduced new products such
as our IP Voice service providing advanced features for our
customers who want their Public Branch Exchanges (PBX)
moved onto the IP services area, IP Virtual Private Networks.

We have also created the Carrier Voice over IP service which
allows resellers to put their own brand on Colt services and
a reseller product which allows Colt products to reach 
a broader market.

We strengthened the Managed Services portfolio during
2009 with the introduction of our enterprise cloud platform.
Enterprise cloud will feature prominently in Colt’s approach 
of offering customers immense choice and versatility, 
giving them freedom to use both dedicated and shared IT
infrastructure including virtualisation to match their business
requirements. Enterprise cloud services are specifically
designed to support demanding business requirements.
Robust and secure, they assure the privacy, flexibility 
and control businesses rely on, with high availability 
and performance backed up by strong service levels. 
We introduced new enterprise cloud solutions, such as
Managed Workspace and Cloud Infrastructure Services.
Managed Workspace is our first Software-as-a-Service
(SaaS) offering and provides a virtualised desktop based
initially on Microsoft Office 2007 products. Our Cloud
Infrastructure Services offering provides customers with 
a range of scalable and flexible network, server and storage
configurations. 

The Managed Services Division played a key role in supporting
the delivery of consultancy led IT deals such as Sdu Uitgevers.
We also offer services to assess IT optimisation, ‘green’ data
centres and risk mitigation. Colt entered the leading-edge
VMware vCloud initiative and is increasingly recognised 
as a trusted partner by CIOs and considered a thought
leader in the field of Managed Services. We are also
pioneering the adoption of ITILv.3 – the industry standard 
for IT management to ensure Colt is recognised as a world
class service delivery company that is measured 
on customer satisfaction.
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Business Division Review
Major Enterprise Division
Our Major Enterprise Division saw significant growth in 
its Managed Services revenue, despite difficult economic
conditions in 2009. However Data and Voice revenue were
impacted as customers reviewed their IT budgets and price
pressures continued. Successes included new long term
Managed Services contracts with large corporate customers, 
as well as a number of deals to provide complex IT solutions
with integrated network and computing services. For example,
we won a contract with Sdu Uitgevers in the Netherlands 
to build and manage its entire server infrastructure. 

Colt also won a number of large pan-European deals 
for network services. Nomura selected Colt to provide 
a dedicated pan-European network contract to support its
new Ultra Low Latency Trading Service and Celesio selected
Colt as the single provider for all its voice and data needs
across 14 countries, as part of a drive to consolidate suppliers. 

Data revenue from Major Enterprise customers decreased 
by 3.1% (see graph below) with increased Ethernet revenue
offset by reduced revenue from other Data products and
customer churn reflecting the challenging economic climate. 

Managed Services revenue increased by 27.0%, with growth
across the product portfolio including new long term
Managed Services contracts with large corporate customers. 

Voice revenue declined by 12.6% due to continuing competitive
pressures and some reductions in mobile termination rates,
particularly in Germany. Of the decline, 4.4 percentage points
arose in the UK, 2.6 percentage points arose in Germany and
5.6 percentage points arose across other markets.

EBITDA1 for the Major Enterprise Division decreased 
by €3.6m to €151.3m (2008: €154.9m) due to lower Data
and Voice revenue and increased investment in Managed
Services, partially offset by reduced selling, general and
administrative (SG&A) costs.

Small Medium Enterprise (SME) Division
The SME Division saw strong growth in Data especially 
in the Ethernet portfolio, however Voice revenue continued
to decline. The launch of the comprehensive Colt Community
partner proposition helped attract a new profile of partners
that are able to sell advanced Data and Managed Services.
Strong marketing and awareness campaigns helped position
SME firmly in the medium-sized customer segment.

In 2009 SME launched an online channel and a series of
exclusive online packaged offers that combine voice, data 
and managed services. This online channel was supported 
by aggressive digital marketing campaigns. It complements
the existing Colt Online self service portal which has been
delivered to partners and customers to increase productivity
and make it easier to do business with Colt.

The SME Division enhanced its cloud-based services
portfolio with the launch of Managed Workspace. It also
enhanced its growing VoIP access services and Colt Total
product range. 

Data revenue from SME customers increased by 3.6% 
(see graph below), mainly driven by Ethernet products.
Managed Services revenue grew by 18.3% mainly from
growth in facilities management services. Voice revenue
declined by 14.3% of which 7.9 percentage points related 
to Germany, 2.0 percentage points to the UK, 1.7 percentage
points to France and 1.3 percentage points to Italy. The
decreases were driven by the continued decline in our
legacy Carrier Pre-Select product and some reductions 
in mobile termination rates, particularly in Germany.

EBITDA for the SME division increased by €3.3m to €53.9m
(2008: €50.6m) primarily due to the increased Data and
Managed Services revenue and reduced SG&A costs,
partially offset by the reduction in Voice revenue.
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240.4
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1 EBITDA is earnings before net finance costs, tax, depreciation, amortisation, foreign exchange and exceptional items.
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Wholesale Division
Our Wholesale Division seeks to be the European network
access provider of choice for other telecom suppliers 
and service providers, to optimise utilisation of our 
pan-European assets and to generate a strong cash 
return for the business. 

In 2009 the Wholesale Division continued to generate Data
revenue growth driven by strong demand for our Ethernet
products. This was despite the impact of the challenging
economic environment which reduced the volume of larger
deals. Carrier revenue continued to decrease owing 
to regulatory and market-led price declines and a deliberate
strategy to manage our overall credit risk.

Colt successfully began to position Wholesale as a provider 
of complete solutions by extending propositions from ‘on-net’,
with the launch of packaged ‘off-net’ offerings, initially 
in Germany, the UK, France and Switzerland. This proposition
significantly extends our reach to allow customers to use
Colt for all their needs rather than just those served by our
network. Wholesale also relaunched the backbone offering
following the upgrade of our Long Distance Network. 
We also launched our White Label Voice offering, to provide
customers with a pan-European Voice product for resale 
to their Corporate customers. This offering provides traditional
Voice services as well as new VoIP services to operators 
who do not have their own Voice capabilities. The early
growth from this product line has helped to offset the 
longer term decline of our legacy Voice products. 

Data revenue from Wholesale customers increased 
by 5.4% driven by demand for our Ethernet products.

Voice revenue from Wholesale customers decreased by 8.6%, 
of which 7.4 percentage points was a decline in Carrier Voice
revenue. This was due to regulatory and market-led price
decline and a reduction in our exposure to higher credit 
risk customers. Of the decline in Carrier Voice revenue 
3.2 percentage points arose in Germany, 2.3 percentage
points arose in France and 4.3 percentage points arose 
in other markets. These were offset by an increase in Carrier
Voice revenue in the UK due to new interconnects and the
hiring of new traders.

The Wholesale Division EBITDA increased by €15.1m to €113.5m
(2008: €98.4m) due to the improved mix of higher margin Data
revenue and decreased SG&A costs.

Report of the Board of Directors / continued
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Delivering outstanding 
performance and 
responsiveness 

Sandra Buckton / Senior Programme Manager, Operations

faster
Excellent customer service is at the core of Colt’s values.
Colt aims to lead the market by rapidly providing new
products and services to customers on our network.

Our Operations Division is responsible for providing 
the very highest levels of response to customers, from
order right through to ongoing service and support.
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Financial review and key performance indicators 
Unless indicated otherwise, the following commentary 
is based on financial statement variances including the
impact of exchange rate movements. Certain key financial
metrics are stated at constant currency, converting 2009
non-Euro currency measures at 2008 exchange rates.

Managed Services revenue has been separately disclosed
for the first time in 2009. This revenue was previously
reported within Data revenue. Colt’s Managed Services
comprise managed IT infrastructure services, managed
applications, IT security and enterprise cloud services,
including the provision of hardware to support these
services but excluding any associated telecoms-related
revenue which remains within Data revenue. 

Due to the reclassification of certain customers between
divisions in 2009 as a result of changes to divisional
customer revenue thresholds, prior year segmental
comparatives have been restated. 

Revenue is analysed in the following section in total, 
by segment and by product type. Product types are Data,
Managed Services and Voice, with Voice further split
between Carrier and Corporate and Reseller. 

INCOME STATEMENT REVIEW

Total revenue
Total revenue in 2009 decreased by 3.2% compared with
2008 and decreased by 1.3% at constant currency.

The growth in Data revenue of 0.5% was principally due 
to Ethernet offerings. Managed Services revenue increased
by 24.6% as a result of our success in selling a broad range
of services from our Managed Services portfolio. Voice
revenue declined overall by 11.6%, with a decline in Corporate
and Reseller Voice of 12.4% and in Carrier Voice of 9.8%.

Report of the Board of Directors / continued

Total revenue
■ Carrier Voice
■ Corporate and Reseller Voice
■ Managed Services
■ Data

*Data and Managed Services revenue reported in aggregate 
in 2005-2008. Split between Data and Managed Services
revenue in these years is unaudited.

Total revenue
■ Carrier Voice
■ Corporate and Reseller Voice
■ Managed Services
■ Data

Data and Managed Services
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Five year revenue summary
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382.8 363.4
246.7 235.6 212.4

1,821.7 1,801.0
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721.0 670.4 590.3 459.1523.8

156.1125.3
101.7

80.4 794.9790.7

650.5 686.8
740.967.4
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Cost of sales and exceptional item
Cost of sales decreased by €33.1m to €1,162.6m driven
by the reduced total revenue and improved mix of higher
margin Data and Managed Services revenue. 

There was an exceptional credit of €17.0m within cost of sales
in 2008 which resulted from the resolution of a complex
billing issue relating to the period 2004-2007. 

Gross profit before exceptional items
Gross profit before exceptional items decreased by 0.6%
during 2009 to €459.9m (see graph below) but increased by
0.6% on a constant currency basis due to the improved mix
of higher margin Data and Managed Services revenue, offset
by reduced total revenue. Gross margin before depreciation
and exceptional items increased by 1.1 percentage points 
to 40.5% driven by the improved revenue mix.

Network depreciation increased by 0.5%.
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Operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A)
decreased by 4.7% (see graph below) and remained stable
on a constant currency basis, as a significant proportion 
of costs are denominated in Sterling. Costs were tightly
controlled in the year with investments in areas of strategic
focus, including Managed Services, offset by savings in
areas of discretionary spend including IT, external fees 
and travel.
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EBITDA1

EBITDA continued its upward trend, increasing by 4.9% 
to €318.7m in 2009 reflecting lower SG&A expenses offset
by a small reduction in gross profit. On a constant currency
basis EBITDA was €312.1m for the year.

1 EBITDA is earnings before net finance costs, tax, depreciation, amortisation,
foreign exchange and exceptional items

€400m 50%

€200m 25%

Five year EBITDA summary

05 06 07 08 09

253.7
270.9
+6.8%

277.4
+2.4%

318.7
+4.9%303.9

+9.6%

■ Five year EBITDA summary
EBITDA margin

0 0

Dr Joachim Sinzig / Wholesale Voice Services

further
Colt carries more than two billion minutes 
of calls a month using traditional technologies
and increasingly, through business grade Voice
over Internet Protocol (VoIP).  

Our Wholesale Division offers customers
advanced call management services that
enable them to support their customers more
efficiently, reach new markets and even operate
entirely telephone-based business models.



The majority of the above time limited losses must be utilised
by 31 December 2011 and all must be utilised in the country
of origin. They remain subject to legislative provisions and to
agreements with the various tax authorities in the jurisdictions
in which the Group operates. The other timing differences
mainly arose from our assets being depreciated more quickly
in our financial accounts than in our tax accounts.

Profit after tax 
Profit after tax continued its improvement, increasing 
by €49.7m to €121.6m in 2009, and increasing by €57.0m 
to €111.9m excluding exceptional items.
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Operating profit
The Group operating profit excluding exceptional items
increased by €10.0m mainly due to the EBITDA improvement.

Finance income and finance costs
Finance income decreased by €5.2m to €4.1m (2008: €9.3m)
reflecting reductions in base rates during 2009. Finance
costs and similar charges decreased by €13.7m to €9.0m
(2008: €22.7m) mainly due to the capital increase and
subsequent repayment of Colt’s outstanding debt in 
April 2009.

Foreign exchange
During 2009 Colt realised an exceptional foreign exchange
gain of €9.7m on forward contracts relating to the Open
Offer proceeds.

Other exchange gains totalled €3.6m, primarily due to the
translation of Sterling-denominated assets and liabilities 
into Euros.

Taxation
The Group recognised a taxation credit for the year of €26.9m
in the income statement, composed of a deferred taxation
credit of €28.0m and a current taxation charge of €1.1m.
There was a further €0.6m credit to the statement of
comprehensive income in respect of deferred tax on defined
benefit pension schemes.

The Group recognised the deferred tax asset in its financial
statements for the first time in 2009, as it became probable
that future taxable income would arise to utilise the tax
asset. The main factor in recognising the asset in 2009 
is that the overall economic environment – and hence trading
conditions – in Europe improved during the second half 
of the year. The subsidiaries for which an asset is recognised
have also demonstrated the required consistent history 
of profits as well as future forecasts of profits.

Unrecognised gross tax asset
2009 2008

€m €m

Group tax losses carried forward – 
without time limits 1,486.5 1,329.0

Group tax losses carried forward – 
time limited 208.3 272.4

Total gross tax losses 1,694.8 1,601.4
Other timing differences 1,137.3 1,106.9
Total unrecognised gross tax asset 2,832.1 2,708.3

€100m 10%

Five year operating profit (loss) summary 
(before exceptional items)

05 06 07 08 09
(€100m) (10%)

(79.1)

55.3

24.7

86.3
76.3

■ Operating profit (loss) (before exceptional items)
Operating margin

€150m

Five year profit (loss) after tax summary 
(before exceptional items)

05 06 07 08 09
(€150m)

(129.6)

(9.5)

39.2

111.9
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€100m

€50m

Five year free cash flow summary
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* Includes €17.0m exceptional item

10.7

19.1

37.3

101.4

45.7*

Statement of cash flows
The normal statutory cash flow format has been amended 
in the presentation below to include free cash flow, a key
performance indicator of the Group.

Capital expenditure decreased by €93.8m to €216.3m
reflecting reduced expenditure on both major infrastructure
and larger internal IT projects, lower customer installations
and improved capital efficiency. Capital expenditure 
is discussed in more detail overleaf. 

Free cash inflow increased by €55.7m in 2009 to €101.4m
mainly due to the increase in EBITDA and lower capital
expenditure. We maintained a focus on collecting cash 
from our customers despite the challenging economic
environment. This was offset in working capital by 
a reduction in deferred revenue.

The Group’s March 2009 Open Offer raised proceeds 
of €199.1m (including a €9.7m foreign exchange gain) before
expenses and the Group’s remaining debt of €262.2m was
repaid during April 2009. Colt ended 2009 with net funds 
of €309.9m (2008: €11.4m).

Investments in 3 to 12 month bank deposits totalling
€110.0m were made to obtain higher returns than 
short term cash deposits. 

2009 2008
€m €m

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 273.6 231.1

EBITDA 318.7 303.9
Non-cash items (0.8) 0.1
Exceptional items – 17.0
Income taxes paid (0.5) –
Movements in working capital and provisions 4.2 46.6
Net cash generated from operating activities 321.6 367.6

Net interest paid (3.9) (11.8)
Capital expenditure1 (216.3) (310.1)

(220.2) (321.9)

Free cash inflow2 101.4 45.7

Issue of ordinary shares – 0.6
Open Offer proceeds3 199.1 –
Open Offer costs (2.8) –
Repayment of debt (262.2) –
Net cash used in other financing activities (65.9) 0.6

Purchase of bank deposits4 (110.0) –
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents (74.5) 46.3

Effect of exchange rates on cash balances 0.8 (3.8)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 199.9 273.6
Add back 3-12 month deposits 110.0 –
Net cash and deposits at end of year 309.9 273.6

1 Net purchase of non-current assets
2 Free cash flow is net cash generated from operating activities less net cash

used to purchase non-current assets and net finance costs paid
3 Including €9.7m exceptional foreign exchange gain
4 3-12 month bank deposits classified as current asset investments

0
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Vandana Kathuria / Manager, People & Change

smarter
The ability to provide an innovative perspective
is one of Colt’s key differentiators.  

Our People & Change Division is a driving force
for innovation by ensuring that we have the right
talent, focused on the right areas, creating 
a truly dynamic and rewarding place to work.  
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Wherever possible we try to manage the initial Data 
and Managed Services cash investment through up-front
customer payments. 

Other capital expenditure, representing core network
development, office infrastructure, IT projects, and network
inventory, decreased by €17.6m to €47.8m; this followed 
a significant expenditure on developing our next generation
Ethernet platform in 2008. Expenditure in 2009 included 
our Next Generation Billing system which provides the
business with the capability to deliver more complex
commercial products to the market as well as yielding
future cost efficiencies. 

Capital expenditure

Year ended
2009 2008

€m €m

Success driven capex primarily related to:
Data revenue* 135.8 188.5
Managed services revenue* 32.7 56.2

Other* 47.8 65.4
Total capital expenditure 216.3 310.1

* This analysis is allocated based on fixed asset additions

Capital expenditure relating to Data revenue is primarily
expenditure on new equipment both on customer premises
and elsewhere in the network to support the acquisition 
of new Data revenue customer contracts. These contracts are
typically medium to long term in nature. Capital expenditure
for these purposes decreased, driven by the reduction 
in Data revenue growth rates and capital efficiency savings,
including increased sales to buildings already connected 
to our network. In 2009 we also incurred key expenditure 
to support the upgrade to the Long Distance Network
which provides improved customer functionality and cost
efficiencies for the Group. 

There was a decrease in capital expenditure related 
to Managed Services revenue after the significant investment
in new data centre space across Europe during 2008 mainly
resulting from new customer contracts. There have been
fewer substantial data centre capital expenditure projects
during 2009. Colt’s policy is to invest in data centres 
to enable the Group strategy and to build out those data
centres in response to customer demand. 

€400m

€200m

Five year capital expenditure summary
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216.3

310.1
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Committed to helping 
our customers grow 
their businesses
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Patrick Patterson / Solutions Marketing Manager, Major Enterprise

smarter
Our customers don’t purchase
products, they purchase solutions 
to business issues. At Colt we provide
smarter solutions that enable our
customers to share, process, store
and deliver vital business information. 

Our Major Enterprise Division makes 
a real difference by delivering
solutions that help our business
customers to reduce capital costs,
increase flexibility and control. 
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Liquidity and Open Offer
Current asset investments – Colt invested €110.0m of its
cash into 3 to 12 month bank deposits, which are classified
as current asset investments. The impact on the cash
balance is shown earlier in this Financial Review, in the
Statement of Cash Flows section.

Issue of shares by Open Offer – Colt announced and
completed an Open Offer issue of shares during 2009. 
Total proceeds from this Sterling-denominated share issue
converted at the spot rate were €189.4m or €186.6m net 
of €2.8m of issue costs. Colt had entered into forward
contracts at the time of the initial Open Offer announcement
to convert the majority of Sterling receipts into Euros. The
forward contract rates were favourable to the spot rate at
maturity and accordingly Colt realised an exceptional €9.7m
exchange gain within the income statement. Gross proceeds
of the Open Offer including the €9.7m exchange gain and
before expenses were €199.1m.

As part of the Open Offer process, the shareholders
approved a reduction in the nominal value of the ordinary
shares from €1.25 per share to €0.50 per share. Accordingly,
the amount of the Group’s issued share capital in relation 
to the 680 million existing shares at that time was reduced 
by €510.4m and transferred to distributable reserves. 
The Open Offer shares were also issued at a nominal 
value of €0.50 per share.

Non-convertible debt – Colt repaid the existing €262.2m
non-convertible debt on 17 April 2009 together with €6.8m
of accrued interest.

As a result of the Open Offer and debt repayment noted
above, combined with the €101.4m of free cash flow
generated during the year, the Group’s cash and 3 to 12
month deposits increased by €36.3m during 2009. The Group
ended the year with net funds of €309.9m compared with
€11.4m in 2008, mainly due to the Open Offer proceeds 
and free cash flow.

Report of the Board of Directors / continued

The Group 
ended the year 
with net funds 
of €309.9m
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Key performance indicators
Colt’s key performance indicators (KPIs) for 2009 are
detailed below and discussed within the Financial Review. 

The Board of Directors monitors the financial performance
of the Group’s operations on a regular basis. The KPIs have
been calculated in line with the values presented in the
financial statements unless otherwise stated. Details of 
the most significant KPIs used by the Group along with
explanations of how the KPIs have been calculated and 
their purpose in assessing the performance of the business
are set out below. 

Group revenue 2009
2008

€1,622.5m
€1,675.4m

Revenue and its growth are used for internal performance
analysis and by investors to assess the overall performance 
of the business.

Data revenue 2009
2008

€794.9m
€790.7m

The level and growth of higher margin Data revenue is also
used for internal performance analysis and by investors 
to assess the performance of the business.

Managed Services revenue 2009
2008

€156.1m
€125.3m

The level and growth of higher margin Managed Services
revenue is also used for internal performance analysis and 
by investors to assess the performance of the business.

Gross margin before
depreciation

2009
2008

40.5%
39.4%

This is calculated as revenue less interconnect and network
costs as a percentage of revenue. It provides a useful
measure of the profitability of the network, before
depreciation and other operating expenses.

EBITDA 2009
2008

€318.7m
€303.9m

EBITDA is earnings before net finance costs, tax,
depreciation, amortisation, foreign exchange and 
exceptional items. We believe that EBITDA represents 
a meaningful measure of the underlying operating
profitability of the Group.

Profit before tax and
exceptional items

2009
2008

€85.0m
€54.9m

Profit before tax is used as a measure of the overall
profitability of the Group.

Free cash flow 2009
2008

€101.4m
€45.7m*

Free cash flow is net cash generated from operating activities
less net cash used to purchase non-current assets and net
finance costs paid. Free cash flow provides a measure 
of the cash generated from the Group’s operations. 

Capital expenditure 2009
2008

€216.3m
€310.1m

Cash capital expenditure is the amount of the Group’s funds
which have been spent on the purchase of assets retained
within the business. 

* Including exceptional items of €17.0m.
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Veronique Sotto / Head of Customer Service Centre

further
Sometimes, ‘going further’ means
ensuring that your customers feel
that you are close to them. 

We have invested in delivering
local language support to our
customers through our Barcelona
Customer Service Centre where
we provide frontline customer
service in 15 European languages. 



Strategy 
We aim to be Europe’s leading information delivery
platform, providing organisations with best-in-class
customer service and integrated computing and network
services that make a difference to their businesses.

Key elements of our strategy include:

European focus: The European market is the largest global
market with a GDP of €25.1bn but it retains substantial
internal complexity – particularly as it relates to linguistic
and other differences. We focus exclusively on businesses,
government agencies and other organisations that have 
IT and network services requirements in Europe and wish 
to gain a competitive advantage in this market. We have
more than 3,500 employees across 13 countries in Europe
and are able to provide support and account management
from native speakers in 15 European languages. This allows
us to reduce the complexity of doing business in and across
Europe for our customers.

Best-in-class customer experience: Customer centricity 
is at the core of our business. Our focus solely on businesses,
government agencies and other professional organisations
allows us to develop optimal technical architectures as well
as support processes and systems to ensure that we are
able to provide best-in-class customer support. 

Network leadership: We will continue to maintain and
extend our pan-European network leadership – particularly 
in Ethernet services – and to exploit the cost and performance
advantages of our 25,000km backbone and 34 MANs
(metropolitan area networks) as well as the footprint 
of 16,000 buildings that are currently ‘on-net’. 

Acceleration of Managed Services portfolio: We are rapidly
accelerating the development of our Managed Services
portfolio and in 2010 will be introducing new cloud
computing and network-enabled managed services with 
the intention of achieving a leadership position in this
market. These services will be delivered from our data
centres across Europe and will be available in 13 countries. 

Product integration: We will continue to further integrate
our networking and IT Managed Services offerings. 
This will allow our customers to improve their application
performance and availability, simplify the management 
of their IT requirements and to reduce their total cost 
of ownership for the delivery of these services. 

Automation: We are continuing to develop and automate
our core business and operational support systems. This 
will enable us to provide our customers with increasing
portal-based flexibility and control over the services that 
we provide to them. It will also enable us to continue to
increase the efficiency with which we use our infrastructure. 
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Likely developments in 2010
The business environment and market conditions, whilst
showing some signs of improvement, are likely to remain
challenging in 2010. Similarly the telecommunications
industry will continue to be highly competitive with no let-up
in the pace of innovation and technological change. There 
is still no consensus regarding the speed with which
businesses across Europe will emerge from the economic
downturn. It seems unlikely that there will be a consistent
return to growth across all Colt’s markets in the short-term;
some countries may see solid growth in 2010 whilst others
may only deliver more modest improvements. This will 
of course impact the ability of customers to pursue
discretionary programmes of investment and, in a minority 
of cases, maintain the scope of existing activities.
Nevertheless, growing revenue, introducing more innovative
services and technologies, improving the Group product 
mix and margins, managing costs and capital expenditure
and achieving improvements in EBITDA and free cash flow 
will continue to be our priorities. 

In this environment, Colt will continue to focus on its Data
and Managed Services revenue growth. In addition, we will
continue to develop and deliver new services and solutions,
especially in Managed Services. In 2009 through our increased
investment in Managed Services capability we made
encouraging progress in addressing the growth in demand
for integrated networking and IT Managed Services. We see
the development of our information delivery platform as 
a fundamental driver of our revenue growth in the future;
mitigating the decline of some of our more traditional
products such as Voice. We will continue to invest in our
data centre and network infrastructure to support the
development and delivery of new services and products.

Colt will invest further in its customer serving online
capability both to support the acquisition of smaller
customers and to provide enhanced customer experience
across the entire customer base. The online investment will
be tailored to support the customer segment-led operating
model. This will continue to evolve to ensure that the
business remains focused on delivering best-in-class
customer experience across all segments of the market.
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Infrastructure
We continue to invest to ensure customers are supported 
by a world class underlying infrastructure. This investment
has allowed our business to deliver improved performance
and end-to-end service delivery improvements for 
our customers. 

Investment in new platforms
In 2009 Colt invested in its next generation services
infrastructure and deployed a number of key technology
platforms. These platforms provide increases in capacity
and speed, new capabilities and advanced features for the
customers as well as increased efficiency for our support
organisation on the products we sell. They are already
bringing benefits in cost savings, reduction of complexity 
in the support organisation and advancements in technology
upon which we can build new services. These platforms
combine to take us into the next phase of our development
and provide an overall solution to the customer from
network to application in our offering. 

During 2009 we completed the upgrade of our Long
Distance Network, the backbone of our European network.
Using leading-edge technology this upgrade significantly
improves the way we deliver our long distance data services
across Europe and allows us to meet the strong customer
demand for national and international high speed Ethernet.
Our customers benefit through greater simplicity, choice
and flexibility while we are now able introduce new products
more quickly and further improve our capital efficiency.

The Multi Services Platform (MSP) which was completed 
in the first half of 2009, reduces capital expenditure
compared to the legacy platform. The MSP increases 
our efficiency in the support area and drives growth and
innovation in our world class Ethernet services area. 

The Internet Protocol Multimedia Subsystem (IMS) was
delivered in Q1 2009 and is now actively supporting our
customers. The IMS enables us to deliver higher quality of
service and new features and allows Colt to develop the IP
‘Platform-as-a-Service’ with Independent Software Vendors. 

In Managed Services, our partnership approach will continue
in 2010 to deliver a best-in-class solutions portfolio,
expanded sales channels and accelerate our time to market.

Investment in data centres
During 2009 our Data Centre Infrastructure Services (DCIS)
team provided standardised support across the European
portfolio. Though no major new investments were initiated
in 2009, new halls were commissioned and capacity
expanded at sites in London and Denmark in support 
of our Managed Services business.

A trial of a new data centre design has been successfully
completed. We have secured a first customer and
commenced construction in London. We have streamlined
the Security and Health and Safety Governance across Colt.
Our security systems have been upgraded across a quarter
of our network and we have achieved ISO14001 in the UK
and Spain.

In support of the Group CSR initiative, our aspiration 
is to become an industry-leading ‘green’ data centre energy
operator in 2010. We have initiated a major programme
aimed at energy efficiency. To date we have delivered
energy air flow optimisation at seven sites, deployed river
water cooling at Turin, city water cooling in Zurich and
advanced control schemes on our chiller systems at our
largest data centre in London. We have removed all legacy
CO2 gas suppression systems at all our data centres and at
all but one of our nodes. A significant investment has been
undertaken in the improvement of site operating resilience
with the replacement of over 6,000 batteries and associated
UPS equipment.

We also increased our data centre footprint from 18 pan-
European data centres to 19 with the upgrade of another
facility in Paris.
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Investment in Shared Service Centres
Our Shared Service Centres in India and Barcelona
continued to help differentiate Colt in terms of cost and
quality during 2009. 

Our Shared Service Operations in India support network
services, technical services, finance and accounting, billing,
professional services, technology, IT and sales & marketing.
The Bangalore facility was expanded in 2009 to provide
additional capacity and business continuity support. Colt
India teams obtained ISO 14001 and BS 25999 certifications
for all our India operations and ISO 9001:2008 and ISO
27001:2005 for billing, finance and India support functions.
During 2009 the average headcount in India increased by
17.2 per cent to 1,153 with approximately two thirds based
in Gurgaon and one third in Bangalore. Most of this growth
was attributable to scaling up of the Technology, IT and
Managed Services teams and the transfer of additional
services to Gurgaon. India IT and billing teams also supported
the migration to the Next Generation Billing platform. 

In Barcelona, our multilingual Customer Service Centre
expanded its operations into more complex technical
aspects of our business. Headcount increased from 
255 to 412 during 2009, mainly due to our strategy of
centralising key transactional processes into our Shared
Service Centres for both service assurance and service
delivery activities. This growth will continue through 2010 
as we continue to evolve our customer service offering
within a maturing multilingual environment.

Investment in IT
The implementation of the Next Generation Billing platform,
which enables flexible billing for combined Managed
Services and network propositions, was a major milestone 
in 2009. We also implemented the Colt Portal, supporting
online marketing and ordering, creating a new channel to
market for the SME division. In addition we have invested 
in system enhancements to support new product
introductions including workflow for delivery of the
Integrated Offer product, using a new component-based
service delivery workflow. Other major projects included 
a new integrated e-mail and online marketing system,
automatic system interfaces to some of our key suppliers, 
a voice trading application to support buying and selling 
of capacity in our Carrier Voice team, ongoing development
of our data warehouse platform and a new fraud
management system. 

Building on the virtualisation of our data centre
infrastructure we continued to see cost and efficiency
benefits. We also made organisational improvements and
reduced costs through improved vendor management and
insourcing of application support in India.

Our people 
Colt’s operating model and organisational design 
is focused on serving the needs of our customers. 

This operating model was stable throughout 2009 and 
we will continue to refine this model and our organisational
design as we find ways of improving our customers’
experience and interactions with the business.

In 2009 the average number of employees increased 
by 8 per cent to 4,777 (2008: 4,425). A significant part 
of the increase in employee numbers during the year was
attributable to customer serving roles. 

During 2009 Colt completed a number of key hires 
to strengthen the senior management team including 
Stuart Jackson, our new Chief Financial Officer, allowing
Tony Bates to focus solely on his COO role. We also
enhanced our strategic focus on Managed Services 
to reflect our commitment to our strategic imperatives.

Corporate Social Responsibility
The Corporate Social Responsibility review on pages 36 to 39
sets out the charitable donations made by the Group, the
employment policies of the Group and action taken to involve
employees in the business of the Group. That review forms
part of this report by cross reference.
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Macro economic context 
The global economy continued to face challenges in 2009
though by the end of the year the majority of countries 
in which Colt operates had emerged from recession. These
difficult economic conditions have impacted businesses
across virtually all sectors. In the specific case of the
financial services sector, which Colt has a particular
exposure to, fortunes have been mixed with the well 
placed institutions returning to strong growth but the
weaker players continuing to struggle. Common to the
whole sector is the high level of regulatory and political
uncertainty which has held back investment decisions and
impacts infrastructure providers such as Colt.

During the year we also saw an increase in public and
private sector interest and involvement in green-related
initiatives. These activities prompted by both commercial
and ethical considerations have impacted the business
agenda, leading to the introduction of new business
practices covering diverse areas including energy use and
travel. The eventual reach and impact of these initiatives
remains unclear.

For Colt, the broad economic downturn affected company
revenue, with some reductions in revenue due to lower levels
of, and delays in, customers booking new business in our
most significant countries (Germany, UK and France). In the
UK and France in particular, Colt’s revenue decreases were
less than the rate of decline for the overall economy. 
In Germany, additional circumstances such as the ongoing
reduction of Colt’s exposure to the carrier pre-select market
contributed more heavily to Colt’s revenue outturn. In total for
Colt’s other countries, the Company delivered revenue growth
in contrast to the broadly negative trends in these markets. 

Competition 
The telecommunications industry is highly competitive. 
This is particularly true where the opportunity for product
differentiation is low and customers’ purchasing decisions
are largely price driven, for example in switched Voice traffic
and point-to-point bandwidth services. Consequently,
although the volume of switched Voice traffic has increased
significantly over the last ten years, the price for such
services has declined over this period. Competition is
continuing to generate downward price pressure across the
market for business telecommunications services, including
Voice and Data. Most operators’ response to this has been
to attempt to move into the value-added segments of the
market. The fixed-line sector is subject to increased
competitive pressure from the mobile sector. To date this 
has principally been in the form of fixed-mobile substitution,
where the ubiquity and ease of a mobile phone has led 
to customers making calls from mobiles that could otherwise
be made from fixed lines. 

In every country in which it operates, Colt competes
primarily with the incumbent Public Telephone Operator
(PTO) in the fixed line market. Colt also faces competition 
for Voice and Data traffic from a number of alternative
service providers and for cross border business from 
a number of pan-European operators.

Competition is also emerging from Systems Integrators (SIs)
as they seek to add value by integrating telecommunications
services into their existing products. Whilst Colt has not
sought to compete with SIs, there is growing competition 
for Managed Services including application hosting,
infrastructure management, IT services, and network and
facilities management from SIs and other data centre
operators. The integration of the 19 Colt data centres 
with our pan-European network gives Colt a competitive
advantage over pure data centre operators. 

The Voice market is also subject to competition from VoIP
operators, who have offerings in the small and medium size
corporate markets. Colt also regards the competition that
will come from such new technologies and market entrants
as important influences on its medium to long term
profitability as customers migrate to those new services 
and technologies. 

Regulatory environment
Whilst the market for business communications is highly
competitive, it is still influenced strongly by regulation. 
Colt is subject to regulations specific to the communications
sector as well as horizontal regulations, such as data privacy
rules. For the communications sector, national regulatory
authorities (NRAs) in the European Union operate within 
a common regulatory framework, which focuses economic
regulation on dominant communications providers. NRAs
conduct regular reviews of communications markets to
assess whether there is effective competition or, if one 
or more providers have a dominant position, to impose some
form of regulatory remedy. For Colt, the implementation 
of the European framework is generally beneficial, since 
it provides the basis for NRAs to regulate the terms and
prices on which Colt can purchase wholesale services 
from incumbent operators, such as BT. The EU regulatory
framework was revised in 2009 and now contains some
additional measures to ensure closer harmonisation of rules
across the EU. These should be beneficial for Colt as a pan-
European provider.

Colt itself has generally not been found to be dominant and
thus does not face a significant regulatory burden. 

There is a significant dispute between the mobile operators
and the German Regulator regarding charges for mobile
termination. In 2007 the mobile operators challenged the
Regulator’s power to fix rates and whether those rates were
reasonable. The courts have judged that the Regulator did
have the power to fix rates but this decision is subject 
to appeal and therefore the applicable level of mobile
termination rates is not expected to be finally resolved until
2011. Although the risk of an unfavourable judgement 
is regarded as unlikely, if the judgement is reversed, Colt
may have to pay retrospectively higher charges to mobile
operators without, in most cases, being able to recover the
higher charges from customers.

Colt will continue to engage with regulators to ensure that
the regulatory environment continues to be favourable for
Colt’s business and investments.
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Principal risks and uncertainties
The management of Colt’s business and the execution 
of the Group’s strategy are subject to a number of risks 
and uncertainties. The key risks facing the business are 
set out below: 

• Economic conditions: A continued significant downturn 
in economic conditions could adversely affect Colt’s
results. Much of our business centres on implementing
information technology solutions for large corporate
customers. A continued downturn in economic conditions
may cause existing and potential customers to delay 
or avoid the purchase of such solutions, or may lead 
to consolidation of customers or increased bad debt.
However, it may also increase opportunities as our
customers seek to reduce costs and outsource their
operations. See page 29 for more details.

• Competition: The telecommunications and IT services
industries are highly competitive. Competition in the
industry is based upon a number of factors including
strategy, price, network quality, technology, products and
services and customer service. Failure to deliver on any 
of these aspects could have an adverse effect on Colt’s
business, financial condition and operating results. See
page 29 for more details.

• Changes in technology: The industry is also subject 
to rapid technological changes. However, it is not possible
to predict with any certainty the effect of any changes 
on Colt’s business. 

• Regulation: The telecommunications industry is highly
regulated in all the countries where Colt provides services.
The Group is therefore subject to uncertain and changing
regulatory issues that could potentially affect the way 
it operates in different jurisdictions. See page 29 for 
more details.

• Customer service: If Colt does not continue to provide 
a high level of customer service, there is a risk that
business prospects could be harmed and Colt’s financial
performance adversely affected.

• IT: The telecommunications and IT services business 
in general, and Colt’s in particular, is heavily dependent 
on IT systems. If the Group fails to maintain, develop and
implement new IT systems successfully Colt’s business
and operations will be negatively affected. 

• Infrastructure: Physical loss, damage or limitation 
of capacity to one or more of Colt’s data centres, network
management centres or network could disrupt our
business or customers’ business. Again, this could have 
an adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial
condition and operating results.

• Shared Service Centres: Physical loss, damage or restriction
of timely access to the Group’s Shared Service Centres 
in Gurgaon and Bangalore, India and Barcelona, Spain
could disrupt Colt’s business or customers’ business. 
Again, this could have an adverse impact on the Group’s
business, financial condition and operating results.

• Customer churn: Customer churn is when customers stop
subscribing to one or more of Colt’s products or services.
Colt is vulnerable to customer churn because some 
of its products have become commoditised and many 
of its customers do not commit to long term contracts.
Customer churn leads to reduced revenue from lost
business and could adversely affect Colt’s business.

• Suppliers: The Group is reliant on a consistent and
effective supply chain to meet its business plan
commitments. Any financial or operating weakness 
of Colt’s telecommunications equipment or service
suppliers or Colt’s IT software suppliers could affect 
the Group’s performance. 

These risks are managed and continuously monitored
through an established risk management process
embedded at both Divisional and Group-wide levels. 
The risk management process formalises management’s
activities around the identification, prioritisation and
ongoing assessment of risks. Changes in both the external
and internal environments are reviewed on a periodic basis
to ensure their impacts on Colt’s risk profile and exposure
are understood and mitigated if necessary. Risk mitigation
strategies are discussed and actions, ownership and
implementation dates are agreed accordingly. The progress 
of mitigation activities is tracked by dedicated risk champions
in the business, and update reports are provided to the
Audit Committee. The risk management process is aligned 
to the annual budget process to ensure risk-related spends
are considered, and where necessary, incorporated. 
On a yearly basis, senior management collectively revisits 
the Group-level risks to ensure the overall risk management
process remains aligned to Colt’s business objectives and
the operating environment. 
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Treasury policy
The Group operates a centralised treasury department that
is accountable to the Board for managing treasury activities
in accordance with a framework of treasury policies and
procedures approved by the Board. It is an overriding policy
that trading in financial instruments for the purpose of profit
generation is prohibited, with all financial instruments being
used solely for risk management purposes. 

Within the policy framework the Treasury department’s
principal responsibilities are:
• to manage the Group’s core funding, liquidity and working

capital requirements 
• to ensure the Group has access to a variety of short and

longer term funding options 
• to manage exposure to foreign currency movements 
• to manage exposure to interest rate movements 
• to control and monitor bank credit and counterparty risk,

and 
• to manage the Group’s relationship with debt capital

market investors, banks and rating agencies. 

The Group’s principal treasury risk exposures are as follows:

• Liquidity risk: Cash is invested either in AAA unsecured
money market mutual funds or placed on short term
deposit (3 to 12 months) with approved counterparties
and approved limits to ensure access to liquid funds 
to match operating needs.

• Foreign exchange risk: The Group’s principal revenue,
costs, assets and liabilities, including external and inter-
company debt financing were denominated in Euros
during 2009. Of the remaining currencies, Sterling is the
largest exposure along with US dollar. The Group seeks 
to match foreign currency assets and liabilities where
possible and hedging is considered for significant 
foreign currency transactions. 

• Interest rate risk: Interest is earned on short term cash
deposits at variable as well as fixed rates; changes 
in interest rates will impact the amount of interest income
earned. A change of 10% in short term rates applied to the
average cash balances in the year would vary the interest
receivable by €0.2m.

• Counterparty credit risk: The Group has policies in place
to ensure credit risk is limited through concentration
limits. Colt has a credit limit system to actively manage 
its exposure to treasury counterparties. The net funds
balance of €309.9m at 31 December 2009 was invested
with nine (2008: ten) financial institutions. The system
assigns a maximum exposure based on the counterparty
size, credit rating and Credit Default Swap price. The
limits are regularly monitored and updated. The minimum
permissible long term credit rating is single A. No single
counterparty constitutes more than 20% of the balance.
The Group has not experienced any losses on its deposited
cash from failure of the deposit taker. Concentration of
credit risk with respect to trade receivables is considered
limited given the large and diversified customer base. 

Credit rating
Two credit rating agencies, Moody’s Investors Service and
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services publish credit ratings 
for the Group. During the year both agencies upgraded 
their ratings on Colt by two notches and maintained 
a stable outlook.

As at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, the Group’s
long term credit ratings provided by these two agencies
were as follows:

Rating Rating Outlook Rating Outlook
agency 2009 2009 2008 2008

Moody’s Ba3 Stable B2 Stable
Standard & Poor’s BB- Stable B Stable

The Board views the continued improvement of the credit
rating of the Group as important to the efficient operation 
of the Group’s activities.

Further information is provided in note 24 of the attached
financial statements.

Capital management
The following table summarises the current capital 
of the Group:

2009 2008
€m €m

Cash and cash equivalents 199.9 273.6
Borrowings – short term – (262.2)
Bank deposits – 3 to 12 month term 110.0 –
Net funds 309.9 11.4
Equity 1,273.2 942.3
Capital 1,402.9 1,723.9

The Group’s policy is to finance the Group centrally using 
a mixture of equity and debt, accessing both longer term
capital markets and banking markets as circumstances
dictate. During March 2009 following a review of its financing
structure Colt completed an Open Offer to raise €199.1m
(including an exceptional foreign exchange gain of €9.7m)
before expenses. The Open Offer was fully underwritten 
by certain Fidelity parties. Colt’s remaining non-convertible
debt of €262.2m was then repaid during April 2009, before
its December 2009 due date.

The Group’s increase in equity during 2009 was mainly due
to the Open Offer and the Group’s profits for the year.

The Open Offer was offset by a €510.4m transfer to reserves
arising from a shareholder-approved reduction in the nominal
value of the Company’s ordinary shares resulting in an overall
reduction in the Group’s share capital during 2009.

Creditors and supplier payment policy
Where goods or services have been supplied in accordance
with terms agreed with a supplier, it is the policy of the
Group that the supplier is paid in accordance with those
terms. The Company is a holding company and has no trade
creditors. At 31 December 2009 the number of days of
annual purchases represented by year end creditors for the
Group was 31 days (2008: 28 days).
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Share capital
Details of the changes in the number of the Company’s
ordinary shares in issue are set out in the Statement of
Changes in Shareholders’ Equity on page 56. The Directors
have authority to allot ordinary shares in the Company and 
to dis-apply pre-emption rights, as permitted under the
Company’s Articles of Association. It is the Directors’ stated
intention to comply with the Association of British Insurers’
guidelines with respect to the allotment and pre-emption
limits with regard to the issue of ordinary shares in 
the Company. 

The AGM notice will also contain a resolution asking
shareholders to grant the Company authority to purchase
its own shares. No shares have been purchased and 
no contract has been entered into under any such authority 
in the past. 

Shareholders
Two trusts are set up for facilitating the holding of shares 
in the Company by employees and the executive Directors.
Details of these trusts, including the number of the Company’s
ordinary shares held by them, are given in note 16 of the
Financial Statements on pages 73 to 76.

As at 22 February 2010 the following shareholders have
notified the Company of their interest in three per cent 
or more of the Company’s issued ordinary shares: 

Shareholder Number of ordinary shares

FMR LLC1 322,078,966
Fidelity Investors Limited Partnership and 
Fidelity Investors Limited Partnership IV2 135,433,331
Orbis Investment Management Limited3 83,165,018
FIL Limited4 147,509,659

1 FMR’s interest is held (i) directly by FMR, 307,991,614 ordinary shares and
(ii) through the holding of a wholly-owned investment advisory subsidiary,
Strategic Advisers, Inc., that as manager of a charitable foundation has
voting power over 14,087,352 ordinary shares for the Fidelity Non-Profit
Management Foundation.

2 Fidelity Investors Limited Partnership’s holding is of 104,357,703 ordinary
shares and Fidelity Investors Limited Partnership IV’s holding is of 31,075,628
ordinary shares. Both entities are Delaware limited partnerships, the general
partner of which (Northern Neck Investors Corp.) is owned by, and the
shareholders of which are, certain shareholders and employees of FMR. 
By virtue of this relationship both FMR and Northern Neck Investors Corp.
are interested in these shares.

3 Held by funds managed by Orbis Investment Management Limited. 
Orbis Investment Management Limited is a Bermuda company.

4 FIL Limited’s interest in ordinary shares is held (i) through a nominee 
account in respect of its own holding of 147,184,268 ordinary shares and 
FIL Foundation’s holding of 236,493 ordinary shares over which FIL retains 
the voting rights through a voting trust and (ii) through a holding of 88,898
ordinary shares over which FIL exercises voting control but which are
beneficially owned by the MoneyBuilder UK Index Fund, a sub-fund 
of Fidelity Investments Fund OEIC.

Fidelity Relationship Agreement
On 5 May 2006 the Company entered into a Relationship
Agreement with FMR LLC, Fidelity Investors Limited
Partnership and FIL Limited (‘Fidelity’). Under the
Agreement, Fidelity, and where appropriate its affiliates,
have agreed that more than half of the Directors of the
Company will be non-Fidelity related Directors, that Fidelity
will not compete with the Group on network services
without the consent of the non-Fidelity related Directors
and that any agreements between Fidelity and the Group
will be on an arm’s length basis and subject to the approval
of the non-Fidelity related Directors. Additionally, the
Relationship Agreement provides that Fidelity will not
acquire ordinary shares of the Company if that would result
in the Company ceasing to comply with the UKLA’s
requirement for an adequate free float to be maintained.
The Agreement continues in force while Fidelity or its
affiliates hold at least 30 per cent of the issued ordinary
shares of the Company. 

The current Fidelity related Directors under the Agreement
are Rakesh Bhasin, Mark Ferrari, Simon Haslam, Tim Hilton
and Richard Walsh. Details of transactions with Fidelity and
its affiliates in 2009 are given in note 26 of the Financial
Statements on page 85.

Directors
The Directors of the Company and those who served during
the year are listed with their biographical details on pages 
8 and 9. Mark Ferrari was appointed to fill a vacancy as 
a non-executive Director on 1 January and was appointed
formally at the AGM held on 30 April 2009. On 22 July
Robert Hawley retired from the Board and Sergio Giacoletto
was appointed to fill the vacancy as non-executive Director.
In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,
all the Directors will retire at the AGM. All of the retiring
Directors, being eligible, will stand for re-election as Directors
and Sergio Giacoletto will stand for election as a Director. 
It is also proposed that Stuart Jackson, our Chief Financial
Officer, be appointed as a Director at the AGM, as set out 
in the AGM Notice.



COLT Telecom Group S.A. / Annual Report 2009 33

Report of the Board of Directors / continued

Directors’ interests
The interests of the Directors in the Company’s ordinary
shares at 1 January 2009 or if later, their date of appointment,
and at 31 December 2009 or if earlier, their date of
resignation*, were:

Number of ordinary shares
Director 1 Jan 09 31 Dec 09

Andreas Barth 21,827 28,593
Tony Bates 86,666 113,352
Rakesh Bhasin 100,000 200,000
Vincenzo Damiani 58,729 76,929
Hans Eggerstedt 25,606 33,543
Mark Ferrari – –
Gene Gabbard 15,580 15,580
Sergio Giacoletto *– –
Simon Haslam – –
Robert Hawley 38,381 *38,381
Tim Hilton 15,360 15,360
Frans van den Hoven 47,552 60,000
Richard Walsh – –

* As at 22 July 2009 when Robert Hawley retired and Sergio Giacoletto joined 
as a Director of the Company.

There was no change in these interests between 
31 December 2009 and 25 February 2010. 

Details of the Directors’ interests in options over the
Company’s ordinary shares are set out on page 51. Details 
of the Directors’ service agreements are set out on page 49.

Indemnities
The Company has entered into indemnities with each of the
Directors. Notwithstanding the fact that the Company is not
a UK incorporated company, the indemnities are in the form
of Qualifying Third Party Indemnity Provisions consistent with
s234 of the UK Companies Act 2006. The indemnities are
available for inspection at the registered office of the Company.

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers S.à r.l. are the independent auditors
of the Company. Their reappointment as the Company’s
auditors, together with authority for the Directors to fix their
remuneration, will be proposed at the AGM.

Article 11 report
The following disclosures are made in compliance 
with Article 11 of the Luxembourg Law on Takeovers 
of 19 May 2006. 

a) Share capital structure 
COLT Telecom Group S.A. has issued one class of shares
which are admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange.
No other securities have been issued by COLT Telecom
Group S.A. The issued share capital of COLT Telecom Group
S.A. as of 31 December 2009 amounts to €445,747,119
represented by 891,494,232 shares. COLT Telecom Group S.A.
has a total authorised share capital of €1,250,000,000. 
All shares issued by COLT Telecom Group S.A. have equal
rights as provided for by Luxembourg Company Law and 
as set forth in the Articles of Association of COLT Telecom
Group S.A. 

b) Transfer restrictions 
As at the date of this report all the COLT Telecom Group
S.A. shares are freely transferable but shall be subject to the
restrictions on shareholdings set forth in Article 8 of the
Articles of Association. 

c) Major shareholdings 
The details of shareholders holding more than three per cent 
of the issued share capital of COLT Telecom Group S.A. 
as notified to COLT Telecom Group S.A. are set forth 
on page 32.

d) Special control rights 
All the issued and outstanding shares of COLT Telecom
Group S.A. have equal voting rights and there are no special
control rights attaching to shares of COLT Telecom Group S.A.

e) Control system in employee share scheme
COLT Telecom Group S.A. is not aware of any issues
regarding section e) of Article 11 of the Luxembourg Law 
on Takeovers of 19 May 2006.

f) Voting rights 
Each share issued and outstanding in COLT Telecom Group
S.A. represents one vote. The Articles of Association of
COLT Telecom Group S.A. do not provide for any voting
restrictions. In accordance with the Articles of Association 
a record date for the admission to a general meeting may 
be set. The Articles of Association further provide that
certificates for the shareholdings and proxies be received 
by the Company a certain time before the date of the relevant
meeting. In accordance with the Articles of Association the
Board of Directors may determine such other conditions
that must be fulfilled by shareholders for them to take part
in any meeting of shareholders in person or by proxy.

g) Shareholders’ agreements with transfer restrictions 
COLT Telecom Group S.A. has no information about any
agreements between shareholders, which may result 
in restrictions on the transfer of securities or voting rights.
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h) Appointment of Board members, amendment of Articles
of Association
The appointment and replacement of Board members and
the amendment of the Articles of Association are governed
by Luxembourg Law and the Articles of Association 
(in particular Chapters 3 and 4). The Articles of Association
are published under the Investors section on www.colt.net. 

i) Powers of the Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors is vested with the broadest powers
to manage the business of the Company and to authorise
and perform all acts of disposal and administration falling
within the purposes of the Company. 

In common with the Articles of Association of other
Luxembourg public limited companies, the Company’s
Articles of Association provide full power to the Board to
issue shares on a non-pre-emptive basis. However the Board
has confirmed that, as a matter of policy, it intends to comply
with the pre-emption guidelines supported by the Association
of British Insurers and the National Association of Pension
Funds to the extent practical for a Luxembourg company.
Furthermore, under the current authorisation given by the
shareholders, the Board may purchase, acquire or receive
COLT Telecom Group S.A.’s own shares in the Company
representing up to ten per cent of the issued share capital
from time to time on behalf of COLT Telecom Group S.A.,
subject to prior authorisation by the General Meeting of
shareholders and on such terms as the Board may decide 
in accordance with the law. The Board intends to seek 
a new authorisation at the AGM to be held in 2010.

j) Significant agreements or essential business contracts
The Board of Directors is not aware of any significant
agreements to which COLT Telecom Group S.A. is a party
and which take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of
control of the Company following a takeover bid. The Board
of Directors has considered essential business contracts and
concluded that there is none.

k) Agreements with directors and employees 
No agreements between COLT Telecom Group S.A. and 
its Board members or employees exist that provide for
compensation if the Board members or the employees
resign or are made redundant without valid reason or if their
employment ceases because of a takeover bid other than 
as disclosed in the Remuneration Report on page 49.

Dividends
The Directors are not recommending the payment 
of a dividend (2008: €nil).

Annual General Meeting and Extraordinary General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of the Company (AGM) is to be
held at K2 Building, Forte 1, 2a rue Albert Borschette, L-1246,
Luxembourg on Thursday 29 April 2010, starting at 11.00
a.m. (Luxembourg time). The notice convening the meeting
is in a separate document sent to shareholders. All proposals
in the notice of the meeting to be considered at the AGM
will be decided by a poll of shareholders. There will be an
EGM immediately following the AGM to make changes 
to the articles to reflect updated legislation and also the
change of name of the Company to Colt Group S.A.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its 
behalf by 

Caroline Griffin Pain / Company Secretary

25 February 2010
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Directors’ responsibilities statements

The Directors confirm that, to the best of each 
person’s knowledge:

(a) the consolidated financial statements prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union 
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial
position and profit of COLT Telecom Group S.A. and 
the undertakings included in the consolidation taken 
as a whole; and

(b) the Report of the Board of Directors includes a fair
review of the development and performance of the business
and the position of COLT Telecom Group S.A. and the
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole,
together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that they face. 

So far as the Directors are aware there is no relevant audit
information of which the Group’s auditors are unaware and
they have each taken all the steps that they ought to have
taken as a Director to be aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Group’s auditors are
aware of that information. 

The financial statements are published on the Company
website. The maintenance and integrity of the website is the
responsibility of the Directors. Legislation in Luxembourg
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its 
behalf by 

Caroline Griffin Pain / Company Secretary

25 February 2010



In 2009 we continued to make progress with Colt Cares,
our Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) programme.
This was recognised with Colt becoming a finalist for
the WCA’s Green Award 2009. In challenging economic
times we believe we must work even harder to be 
a responsible and sustainable business.

Colt organises its CSR programme around the four pillars 
of Environment, Marketplace, Workplace and Community.
We operate 11 CSR work streams, which have been created
to address the issues most specific and relevant to Colt.
Each work stream is sponsored by a senior manager.
Collectively these senior managers form the CSR Steering
Group that meets on a quarterly basis and is chaired by
Rakesh Bhasin, CEO. The Steering Group not only monitors
progress of each individual work stream, but sets the wider
CSR policies and direction for Colt.
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Monthly updates on the progress of Colt Cares are provided 
to senior managers and a briefing paper is presented 
at each Colt Board meeting. In addition, the achievement 
of Colt’s eight CSR targets was a personal objective of
every member of the Company’s Operating Committee.

In each Colt country there is a nominated CSR Champion,
responsible for implementing activity at a local level. Monthly
teleconferences of all CSR Champions enable the coordinated
delivery of company-wide initiatives and provide a forum 
for sharing ideas and best practice across the Group.

In 2008 we announced eight CSR KPIs for 2009. We achieved
all the targets set for completion by the end of 2009 and are
on track with the one KPI that extends into 2010. The table
below summarises these achievements, together with the
targets for 2010.

Corporate Social Responsibility

Passionate about our
community and environment

What we said we’d do What we did in 2009 What we’ll do in 2010

Environment Improve the Power Unit Efficiency
(PUE) of our data centres 
by 10% by 2010.

Set PUE benchmark and
established an Energy Efficiency
Programme for 2009 & 2010.

Improve PUE by 10%.

Reduce the number 
of flights by 5%.

Flights have been cut by 10%. Maintain flights at their 2009 level
and introduce carbon-based
monitoring and reporting.

Reduce the consumption 
of paper in our offices by 10%.

Use of paper, as measured 
by purchases, has fallen 
by 29%.

Reduce paper consumption 
by a further 5%.

Achieve ISO 14001 accreditation
in at least one Colt country.

ISO 14001 certification received 
in three Colt countries: India,
Spain and UK.

Achieve ISO 14001 certification 
in all remaining Colt countries.

Marketplace 75% of core suppliers with 
a defined CSR Policy by 
end 2009.

76% of core suppliers have 
a CSR Policy or strategy 
in place.

Increase number of core 
suppliers with a CSR Policy 
to 80%.

Establish and embed a robust
Customer Scorecard to measure
and respond to the satisfaction
level of all our customers.

Analysis, planning and feedback
loops in place for annual and
quarterly surveys.

Increase customer satisfaction 
by 5%, as measured by our
Customer Loyalty Index (CLI).

Workplace Reduce voluntary turnover rate 
of our employees.

Voluntary turnover has fallen 
by 3.8 percentage points in 2009.

Conduct an Employee Survey 
in early 2010, which will set 
a benchmark and inform targets 
for 2011 onwards.

Community 200 days volunteered 
by Colt employees.

224 days volunteered 
by Colt employees.

Increase to 400 volunteering days.
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Environment
Becoming a low carbon company
We promised to bring our existing management systems 
up to the standard required to gain ISO 14001 certification
in at least one Colt country. Throughout 2009 teams from
Facilities, Data Centre Infrastructure Systems (DCIS), Group
Sourcing & Supply, IT and Service Delivery have established
comprehensive environmental management systems in three
Colt countries. Our operations in India, Spain and the UK 
all gained ISO 14001 certification from the accreditation
body, BSI.

Using the expertise, processes and procedures developed
during 2009, we will roll out environmental management
systems across the Group and ensure that the rest of Colt 
is ISO 14001 certified by end 2010.

During the accreditation, Colt was identified as a ‘low risk’
company. Our main environmental impact remains the
power consumed by our data centres and networks. 
We are determined to reduce this impact by improving the
efficiency of our data centres, as measured by PUE (a ratio
that measures the total electricity usage of the data centre
compared to the energy consumption of the servers and 
IT equipment within it). An Energy Efficiency Programme
targeting seven of our largest data centres with 14 initiatives
has been launched for 2009-10 to improve PUE by 10%. 
In addition, we have developed innovative water cooling
systems at our data centres in Milan and Zurich, which
reduce the need for mechanical cooling.

Elsewhere, we continue to promote our ‘Switch off’
campaign, encouraging all employees to turn off lights,
computers and monitors when not in use. In our head office,
this – together with the installation of light sensors – has
resulted in a 10% reduction in electricity consumption.
Moreover, our next generation network uses the latest
energy efficient equipment, providing us with a 55% saving 
in electricity.

We committed to reducing flights by 5% during 2009. 
Our new travel policy, stipulating that flying should be 
a last resort, promoting easier and smarter alternatives 
to air travel, helped us to exceed our target and record 
a 10% reduction in flights. We will cap flights at this 2009
level while also working to introduce a carbon-based
monitoring and reporting system. 

In July 2009 we launched the first phase of Colt’s fully
supported video conferencing network linking our offices 
in London, Paris, Frankfurt, Madrid, Barcelona, Valencia,
Gurgaon and Bangalore. We have subsequently extended
the network to include Dublin, Geneva and Zurich. 

Our energy usage and business travel comprise most 
of our carbon footprint. 2009 was the first year in which 
we calculated, for 2008, our carbon footprint for the whole
of our operations across Europe and India, publishing the
figure via the Carbon Disclosure Project. Our carbon
footprint for 2008 was 105,096 tonnes CO2 equivalent, 
a figure that covers all our Scope 1 and 2 emissions as well 
as our business travel for Scope 3. 

Another aim has been to reduce the amount of paper 
we consume by 10% and increase the amount we recycle. 
In 2009 we exceeded this target and paper consumption 
in our offices (measured by purchased volume) fell by 29%.
This was achieved through promoting a ‘Think before you
print’ campaign and converting all printers to double-sided
printing wherever possible. We will continue our focus 
on paper consumption by targeting a further 5% reduction 
in 2010. To promote more recycling, we have launched 
a ‘Bin the bin’ scheme in India, Spain, Sweden and the UK,
where personal desk bins are removed and, in their place,
the number of communal recycling bins is increased.
Preparations are also advancing well to implement 
‘Bin the bin’ in Austria, France and Ireland. 

Corporate Social Responsibility / continued



Marketplace
Creating and demanding low emission alternatives
In 2009 we implemented robust processes and procedures
around our customer satisfaction surveys. The 2008 annual
survey results were analysed to create action plans that
address key areas of our service. Feedback loops are in
place to ensure that we quickly respond to all customers’
issues and quarterly transactional surveys allow us to focus
on the most important aspects of customers’ experience.
Following this work we are setting ourselves the challenging
target of increasing our Customer Loyalty Index (CLI) 
by 5%. To achieve this we will be introducing improvements 
in every aspect of our customer experience: across
communication, sales, service delivery, customer service
and billing. Success in this measure will form a key
component in employees’ Annual Incentive Plan.

Our Managed Services Division is developing a range 
of products and services such as cloud computing that 
will reduce our customers’ carbon footprints. In a recent
contract, Sdu Uitgevers migrated their existing Den Haag
based data centre to Colt’s Amsterdam data centre whilst
also transferring more than 450 applications into a new,
more energy-efficient virtualised environment.

Alongside our work with customers, we have been
promoting CSR to our suppliers and have tracked
compliance through our ARIBA system. By the end of the
year, 76% of our core suppliers had a CSR policy or strategy 
in place, exceeding the target set in last year’s annual
report. In addition 63% hold ISO 14001 certification for their
Environmental Management Systems. Our goal for 2010 
is to continue this dialogue and raise the level of core
suppliers with CSR policies to 80%.

Our Sustainable Procurement Policy requires us to take into
account the entire lifetime cost of any product or service we
source. Benefits are evident in the equipment procured for
our next generation network and the energy saving features
on our Office of the Future hardware. 
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Workplace
Creating a great place to work
Health and safety remains of paramount importance and
Colt aims to eliminate all unnecessary and unacceptable
risks from the workplace and reduce all remaining risks 
as far as possible. Whilst meeting or exceeding UK and
European legislative requirements, our aim is to become 
a company that sets the standards for health and safety
best practice within the telecommunications industry.

We recognise that we must provide the right level of skill
and support to all our business divisions along with the best
possible environment for everyone at Colt to succeed.
During 2009 we developed our People & Change Division 
to create centres of expertise and provide strategic and
tactical support to the businesses. Our priority is to help line
managers support and develop employees using global best
practices and by deploying leading-edge tools. 

The Colt Competency Framework was introduced in 2009.
This was launched following extensive development and
testing and describes the qualities, characteristics, attitudes
and behaviours that are key to success in Colt. The
competencies have been designed to support a wide range 
of uses including:
• recruitment and selection
• managing, reviewing and improving performance
• training, development and self-development
• building teams, and
• succession planning and managing careers at Colt.

Colt Talent Manager is an example of a leading-edge tool
that we introduced in 2009. It is designed to deliver a step
change in our performance management activities. Used 
by all employees, it supports Colt’s annual performance
management process including goal setting, competency
development, mid-year and year end reviews and regular
performance reviews throughout the year. During 2010, 
we will introduce new modules covering resourcing and
recruitment, career and learning management, 360 degree
feedback, succession planning, and reward management.

Corporate Social Responsibility / continued
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In recruitment, equality of opportunity remains central 
to our culture. Colt is committed to attracting and retaining
the best people and discrimination on the grounds of race,
gender, age, gender orientation, religious beliefs or disability
is not acceptable and contravenes our policies in this area.

All employees have now completed training on our Code 
of Conduct. This goes beyond previous requirements 
to respect the UN Declaration of Human Rights and ILO
Conventions and comply with national human rights and
employment legislation.

We launched a trial of an Office of the Future with employees
in London and Frankfurt. The project concentrates on creating
and facilitating smarter ways of working in addition 
to introducing new IT equipment and software. The trial
supports our environmental objectives with more energy
efficient technology that can be powered down overnight
automatically and with functionality that reduces the need
to travel to Colt offices.

Through these and other initiatives introduced in 2009, 
we saw the voluntary turnover rate of our employees reduce
by 3.8 percentage points in 2009. In early 2010 we will
conduct an employee survey that will create a benchmark
from which we will set and publish targets for 2011 onwards.

Community
Getting involved to make a difference
Our target for volunteering was exceeded with 224 days
contributed by Colt employees in 2009. This year we launched
our volunteering programme, giving every employee up 
to two days a year away from the office to help charities
and not-for-profit organisations. Our people responded
enthusiastically to this:
• in Spain, employees helped out at a local childrens’ home

four evenings a week
• in India, employees carried out a series of improvements

to local villages
• in Portugal, our people renovated a local school 
• in Austria, we staffed the Christmas Market stall for our

chosen charity partner, and
• in September, all 150 attendees of our Senior Management

Event in the UK spent half a day on projects at six local
schools creating gardens, providing advice in a business
challenge and repainting outside areas.

Given such enthusiasm, we are raising our volunteering
target for 2010 to 400 days. 

As a communications business, we decided that it was
appropriate to support the work of charities focused on
children and education. In addition, Colt made cash charitable
donations of €7,000 during the year (2008: €31,000). Towards
the end of the year employees in each Colt country voted
on a charity partner to support and work with over the next
two years.

Corporate Social Responsibility / continued
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Corporate governance statement

Frans van den Hoven has been non-executive Director 
for over nine years. The Board does not consider this 
to compromise his independence as the composition of the
Board has changed significantly over this time. The Board
has considered the guidance in the Combined Code that
serving more than nine years could be relevant to the
determination of a non-executive Director’s independence.
However, the Board is satisfied that Mr van den Hoven
remains independent and continues to make a valuable
contribution as independent non-executive Director. 
All Directors are subject to annual re-election under the
Company’s Articles of Association. The Board took into
account shareholder support for the re-election of Mr van
den Hoven and Mr Walsh; votes were cast in favour of
reappointment at levels of 99.5% and 94.5% respectively.

Succession planning
As part of the Board’s ongoing refresh programme, the
Nomination Committee prepared a matrix of skills and
competencies for the Board and reviewed this against 
Colt’s strategic objectives. A role profile was prepared
focusing on recent executive pan-European experience 
of the IT sector and sales of complex services. During 2009
MWM, an independent search firm, was retained to conduct
a search for a new independent non-executive Director. 
The purpose of this recruitment was to supplement the skills
and competencies to support Colt’s strategy to become
Europe’s leading information delivery platform. The Board
gave consideration to shareholder activists’ comments on
Board composition and independence. Sergio Giacoletto
was recruited as a result of this search.

The Board
The Board has twelve members and it comprises the
Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, one other executive
Director and nine non-executive Directors. Biographical
details of the Directors are set out on pages 8 and 9. 

Board composition

There is a division of responsibility between the Chairman,
Tim Hilton, and the Chief Executive Officer, Rakesh Bhasin.
The Chairman is responsible for keeping the strategic
direction of the Group under review and for ensuring that
the Board functions effectively. His commitments other than
to the Group are set out on page 9. They were disclosed to
the Board prior to his appointment, and have not changed
during the year. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible
for the operation and development of the Group’s business.

This statement describes the Company’s corporate
governance arrangements. 

The Combined Code on Corporate Governance
The Combined Code on Corporate Governance (the
‘Combined Code’) was issued in its amended form by the
UK Financial Reporting Council in June 2006 and further
amended in June 2008. In its prospectus dated 5 May 2006
the Company stated its intention to voluntarily comply with
the Combined Code so far as it is practical for a Luxembourg
company to do so. Throughout the year ended 31 December
2009, the Company complied with the provisions of Section
1 of the Combined Code in all respects save only for the
matters described in this statement which relate to the Group
on an ongoing basis. These matters as at 31 December 2009
were as follows:

Richard Walsh, a Fidelity related non-executive Director, 
is a member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr Walsh has
significant recent and relevant executive experience of HR
and remuneration; accordingly the Board concluded that 
it was in the best interests of Colt to include Mr Walsh 
as a member of the Remuneration Committee. 

The Board considers the independence of the non-executive
Directors on an annual basis. Five members of the Board are
employed by Fidelity or its affiliates. These are the Chairman,
the Chief Executive Officer, and three of the non-executive
Directors: Mark Ferrari, Simon Haslam and Richard Walsh.
The appointment of directors employed by a company’s
major shareholder is common and the Fidelity related non-
executive Directors, although not independent under the
provisions of the Combined Code, are independent of
management and accordingly exercise their judgement 
in the interests of all shareholders. The Company is also 
able to carry on its business independently of its major
shareholders by virtue of the Fidelity Relationship Agreement,
details of which are set out in the Report of the Board 
of Directors on page 32. This agreement requires that any
agreements between Fidelity and the Group will be on 
an arm’s length basis and subject to the consent of the 
non-Fidelity related Directors, with Fidelity related Directors
abstaining from voting.

Robert Hawley retired from the Board on 22 July 2009 after
serving the Board for almost 11 years. Sergio Giacoletto
was recruited as part of a Board refresh programme
described below and was appointed on 22 July 2009. 

The Board considers each of the remaining six non-executive
Directors namely: Andreas Barth, Vincenzo Damiani, 
Hans Eggerstedt, Gene Gabbard, Sergio Giacoletto and
Frans van den Hoven to be independent, notwithstanding
the following relationships or circumstances.

Frans van den Hoven is an independent non-executive
Director of two funds managed by FIL Limited. His role 
in this capacity involves the oversight of FIL Limited on
behalf of the funds’ shareholders. As he is independent 
of FIL management, the Board does not consider that these
external directorships compromise his independence. Mr van
den Hoven is not a member of any of the Board Committees.
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the Board meetings (including informal exposure to senior
managers and site visits) and progress on issues raised 
in the previous year’s evaluation. Particular attention was
paid to issues raised by shareholder activists relating 
to independence and the inclusion of Fidelity-related Directors. 

To supplement the formal annual evaluation, the Nomination
Committee conducted an assessment of skill sets and
competencies for each Director. 

As recommended by the Combined Code, the reviews 
of Directors serving for more than six years were particularly
rigorous. Following this comprehensive review the Board
has concluded that each Director contributed effectively 
to the Board and demonstrated full commitment to the 
role and that the Board and each of the Board Committees
were effective. 

Attendance 
In 2009 there were no absences from Board meetings save
that Hans Eggerstedt missed the February Board meeting.
In the event that a Director was unable to attend all meetings
of the Board or Board Committees of which he is a member,
the Director would be invited to confirm that he remains
committed to the role and has the requisite time available 
to perform the role. 

Annual reappointment
Under the Company’s Articles of Association, at each AGM 
all Directors appointed since the previous AGM retire and
seek election, and all other Directors retire and seek 
re-election. This means that no Director can hold office 
for more than one year unless re-elected by shareholders.

Operation of the Board
The Company held five regular Board meetings in 2009 
and additional meetings relating to the Open Offer. 
The attendance of each of the Directors at the Board
meetings held in 2009 while a Director was:

Senior Independent Director
Hans Eggerstedt is the Senior Independent Director (SID).
The role of the SID is to act as an alternative conduit to the
Board for the communication of shareholder concerns, 
to act as chairman of meetings of the independent non-
executive Directors which are not attended by the Chairman
and to lead the annual performance evaluation of the
Chairman. The SID maintains open lines of communication
with the internal and external auditors and the brokers 
of the Company.

Induction and training
On appointment, Directors undertake a tailored induction
process in accordance with ICSA best practice. This is
designed to develop their knowledge and understanding 
of the Group’s business through visits to various key data
centres and offices, presentations on relevant technology,
products and services, one to one meetings with executive
Directors and senior management, and a familiarisation with
investor and analysts’ perceptions of the Group. Meetings
are available with representatives of major shareholders 
and key advisors including lawyers, brokers and auditors.
The Directors also receive an information pack on the 
Group and tutorials on its corporate governance framework,
organisation, corporate structure, operations, insurance,
Code of Business Conduct, share dealing and other
corporate policies and procedures, together with recent
Board materials and presentations.

The Directors’ knowledge and understanding of the Group’s
business is refreshed throughout the year and with briefings
as necessary on corporate governance and regulatory
compliance. The training needs of the Directors are
periodically reviewed by the Board. 

Evaluation 
The effectiveness of the Board is vital to the success of Colt.
The process is managed by the Chairman and the Company
Secretary. The SID led an assessment of the Chairman’s
performance. A detailed online questionnaire was completed
by all Board members to facilitate the evaluation process.
The Chairman and Company Secretary discussed individual
responses with Board members. The SID discussed the
conclusions of the Chairman’s appraisal with the Board, 
then the Chairman. Summary results were presented to the
Board for discussion and to identify improvements for 
the future. 

The Board undertook its 2009 annual evaluation of its
performance and that of its Committees and their continuing
ability to act as effective bodies. The evaluation included 
a peer assessment of the effectiveness of the Chairman, 
the Chairman of each of the Committees, the CEO and the
Company Secretary. 

Questions were both qualitative and quantitative, designed 
to generate a detailed narrative response and enable the
Board to measure trends. The Board were asked to
recommend improvements on all aspects. Comments were
invited on a wide range of issues including the contribution
of the Board to strategy and risk management, management
reporting, the decision making process, how the Board
addresses risk, the logistics of Board meetings, the
composition, size and operation of the Board, skill sets and
competencies, number of meetings, engagement outside
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Meetings Meetings Percentage
Director held attended attended

Andreas Barth 5 5 100%
Tony Bates 5 5 100%
Rakesh Bhasin 5 5 100%
Vincenzo Damiani 5 5 100%
Hans Eggerstedt 5 4 80%
Mark Ferrari 5 5 100%
Gene Gabbard 5 5 100%
Sergio Giacoletto (joined on 22 July 2009) 3 3 100%
Simon Haslam 5 5 100%
Robert Hawley (retired on 22 July 2009) 2 2 100%
Tim Hilton 5 5 100%
Frans van den Hoven 5 5 100%
Richard Walsh 5 5 100%
Average % attendance 98%

The Board is scheduled to meet five times in 2010. 
Additional meetings will be held as required. 

During 2009 the Board continued the practice that the 
non-executive Directors and the Chairman met at the end 
of each meeting without the executive Directors present 
and it is intended that this practice will continue in 2010.



Meetings Meetings Percentage
Director held attended attended

Andreas Barth 5 5 100%
Vincenzo Damiani 3 3 100%
Hans Eggerstedt 5 4 80%
Gene Gabbard 5 5 100%
Sergio Giacoletto 2 2 100%
Average % attendance 96%

To promote transparency, in accordance with best practice,
it is the usual practice of the Committee for the executive
team to withdraw at the end of each meeting, to give the
opportunity for the Senior Director of Audit, Risk and Security
to meet with the Committee and the independent auditors 
to raise any concerns. Following this meeting the Committee
meets alone with the auditors for a private session.

The duties of the Committee are to review the integrity 
of the financial statements, to review the effectiveness 
of the internal control process, to review the procedures 
for managing risks, to oversee the internal audit function, 
to consider the appointment of and relationship with the
independent auditors and to review procedures for handling
allegations from whistle-blowers.

During 2009 the Committee considered, among other
matters, compliance with the provisions of the Combined
Code and accounting developments, the financial control
environment and risk management and control.

The Committee assesses annually the qualification, expertise
and resources, and independence of the independent
auditors and the effectiveness of the audit process. 
The Committee’s assessment is made with reference to 
a satisfaction survey of the independent auditors completed
by members of senior management and the Committee.

During 2009 the independent non-executive Directors met
three times without the Fidelity related Directors present
and it is intended that this practice will continue in 2010.

The Board is primarily responsible for decisions on Group
strategy, including the approval of strategic plans, annual
budgets, interim and full year financial statements and
reports, accounting policies and all material capital projects,
investments and disposals. There is a schedule of matters
reserved for approval by the Board. 

Each Director is provided with monthly reports which
include financial information and updates on the business.
When there is a Board meeting, this information is circulated
to the Directors in advance of the meeting, together with
details of all other business items to be considered at the
meeting. Directors receive regular articles on industry news
and analysts’ and press reports on Colt. The Directors are
encouraged to supplement this information through direct
contact with the Group’s senior management and the
Company Secretary facilitates regular informal meetings
throughout the year. Each of the Directors can take
independent advice at the expense of the Company.

Board Committees
The Board has delegated specific responsibilities to three
standing Committees. The membership of these Committees
and a summary of their main duties under their terms 
of reference are set out below. The full terms of reference
may be viewed on the Company’s website: www.colt.net. 

The Committees are provided with the resources required 
to undertake their duties and they are able to take
independent advice at the expense of the Company. 
The Company Secretary acts as secretary to each 
of these Committees.

In addition to the standing Committees, the Board
occasionally delegates specific tasks to ad-hoc 
Committees of the Board.
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Audit Committee
Hans Eggerstedt is the Chairman of the Audit Committee.
The other members of the Audit Committee are Andreas
Barth, Gene Gabbard and Sergio Giacoletto. Hans Eggerstedt
and Gene Gabbard are the Audit Committee members
identified as having recent and relevant financial experience.
Sergio Giacoletto was appointed and Vincenzo Damiani
resigned as a member of the Audit Committee on 
22 July 2009.

The Chief Financial Officer, the Senior Director of Audit, 
Risk and Security and representatives from the independent
auditors usually attend meetings of the Audit Committee.

The Committee met five times in 2009. The attendance 
of each of the Directors at the meetings held in 2009 while 
an Audit Committee member was: 

Corporate governance statement / continued
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Corporate governance statement / continued

PricewaterhouseCoopers S.à r.l. (Luxembourg) have been the
Company’s auditors since 2006 when it listed on the London
Stock Exchange. Prior to that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
UK (‘PwC’) were the auditors of the predecessor company,
COLT Telecom Group plc, from that company’s IPO in 1996.
The Committee considers that the relationship with the
auditors is working well and remains satisfied with their
effectiveness. Accordingly, it has not considered it necessary
to date to require the firm to tender for the audit work. 
The independent auditors are required to rotate the audit
partners responsible for the Group audit every seven years.
There are no contractual obligations restricting the
Company’s choice of independent auditor.

To guard against the objectivity and the independence 
of the independent auditors being compromised, the
Committee has adopted a policy under which any service
provided by the independent auditors must be approved 
by the Committee or within a category pre-approved by 
the Committee, and within the maximum charge set by the
Committee. The policy is consistent with ethical standards
published by the Auditing Practices Board in December
2004. Generally the independent auditors will not be
approved to perform a service in which they participate 
in activities that are normally undertaken by management
or act in an advocacy role for Colt or may be required 
to audit their own work. The policy includes a list of types 
of prohibited services which include but are not limited 
to book-keeping, internal audit outsourcing or valuation
services unless these activities are not subject to audit
procedures, HR services and legal services. The Policy 
on the Provision of Services by the External Auditor 
is available on the website at www.colt.net. A breakdown 
of non-audit fees charged by the independent auditors 
is disclosed in note 3 in the Notes to the accounts. The 
non-audit services primarily relate to tax work but during
2009 PwC were retained to provide professional services 
for the Open Offer because of their knowledge of the 
Group and because it was the most cost effective solution 
for shareholders.

The Audit Committee has completed its assessment of the
independent auditors for the financial period under review.
Having satisfied itself as to their qualification, expertise,
resources and independence and the effectiveness 
of the audit process, it has recommended to the Board, 
for approval by shareholders, the reappointment 
of PricewaterhouseCoopers S.à r.l. as the Company’s
independent auditors and approved their fees and terms 
of engagement.

Internal control
Risk Management
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system
of internal control and risk management. Colt has an
embedded risk management and reporting process which
ensures that risks are identified, assessed and mitigated 
at an executive level and reported to the Board. 

During the year a series of risk management workshops,
facilitated by Group Internal Audit, are held periodically 
at both Divisional and Group-wide level. As part of this
process, changes in both external and internal environments
are reviewed to ensure their impacts on Colt’s risk profile
and exposure are understood and mitigated if necessary.
Risk mitigation strategies are discussed and actions,
ownership and implementation dates are agreed accordingly.
The progress of mitigation activities is tracked by dedicated
risk champions and reported to Divisional management 
on a regular basis. Each year senior management collectively
revisit the Group-level risks to ensure that risks which may
prevent the achievement of strategic objectives and
priorities are identified, understood and mitigated. 

The results of Divisional and Group-level risk management
activities are consolidated and reviewed by the Audit
Committee on an annual basis.

Internal control 
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system
of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. The
system of internal control is designed to manage, rather
than eliminate, risk of failure to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. This system of internal
control is in line with the 2005 UK Turnbull guidance. 

Colt’s systems of internal control ensure key risks are
managed through:
• the management structure with delegated authority

levels, segregation of duties, functional reporting lines
and accountability

• comprehensive budgeting and financial reporting
processes, which compare actual performance to budget
on a monthly basis

• authorisation processes for all capital expenditure, other
purchases and expenses are subject to appropriate
authorisation procedures

• formal reporting to the Board on specific areas of financial
and operational risk, and

• ‘whistleblowing’ procedures allowing employees to contact
the Compliance Committee directly and confidentially.



Compliance with systems of internal control is subject 
to regular review by Group Internal Audit. On a yearly basis,
Group Internal Audit develops a risk-based Internal Audit
Plan which links to the Group-wide risk assessments and 
is aligned to Colt’s strategic priorities. Group Internal Audit
delivers a programme of independent end-to-end audit
reviews. The objectives of these audits include to evaluate
governance across the Group, to review process
effectiveness and to assess the design and effective
operation of key manual and automated controls. 

The Group operates a management structure with 
clear delegated authority levels and clear functional
reporting lines and accountability. The Group operates 
a comprehensive budgeting and financial reporting 
system, which compares actual performance to budget 
on a monthly basis. All capital expenditure, other purchases
and expenses are subject to appropriate authorisation
procedures. Management monitor financial and operational
performance and compliance controls on a continuing basis
and identify and respond to business risks as they arise.

The Audit Committee conducts reviews of the risk
management process and system of internal controls. 
To achieve this, the Audit Committee receives regular
updates on key risks and control priorities such as business
controls, IT security, business continuity planning, tone 
at the top and anti-fraud procedures. The Audit Committee
also reviews the results of all internal and external audits
performed over systems of internal controls and tracks
management’s response to any identified control issues.

The effectiveness of the system of internal control and risk
management process is reviewed annually by the Board. 
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Remuneration Committee
Vincenzo Damiani is the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and the other members are Andreas Barth,
Gene Gabbard and Richard Walsh. Dr Robert Hawley 
was Chairman of the Remuneration Committee until his
retirement on 22 July 2009. The Managing Director, People 
& Change and the Director, Performance & Reward normally
attend meetings of the Remuneration Committee in an
advisory capacity. The Remuneration Committee met six
times in 2009. The attendance of each of the Directors 
at the meetings held in 2009 while a Committee member was: 

Meetings Meetings Percentage
Director held attended attended

Andreas Barth 6 6 100%
Vincenzo Damiani 6 6 100%
Gene Gabbard 6 6 100%
Robert Hawley 4 4 100%
Richard Walsh 6 6 100%
Average % attendance 100%

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review
the remuneration policy, to determine the remuneration 
of executive Directors and to exercise discretion on behalf
of the Board in relation to employee benefit schemes. The
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 46 to 51 provides
details of how the Remuneration Committee discharged 
its duties in 2009. During the year the Remuneration
Committee agreed to amend its Terms of Reference 
to extend its remit to include approval of the remuneration 
of the CEO’s direct reports and consider remuneration risk, 
in line with the Walker Report recommendations.
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Nomination Committee
Tim Hilton is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee
and the other members are Andreas Barth and Vincenzo
Damiani. Robert Hawley resigned as a member on 22 July
2009. The Nomination Committee met four times in 2009. 
The attendance of each of the Directors at the meetings
held in 2009 while a Nomination Committee member was: 

Meetings Meetings Percentage
Director held attended attended

Andreas Barth 4 4 100%
Vincenzo Damiani 4 4 100%
Robert Hawley 3 3 100%
Tim Hilton 4 4 100%
Average % attendance 100%

The duties of the Nomination Committee are to recommend
to the Board succession planning strategy, to select and
recommend a preferred candidate for appointment to the
Board or to a specific role on the Board or Board Committee
and to recommend to the Board the continuation in office 
of non-executive Directors.

The activities of the Nomination Committee on succession
planning are described in more detail on page 40. During
2009 the Nomination Committee considered the appointment
of one new independent non-executive Director and the
Chief Financial Officer. 

An external search consultancy, MWM, was retained 
to facilitate the search and selection of a new independent
non-executive Director, Sergio Giacoletto as described 
in more detail on page 40. Colt retained J Robert Scott, 
a search consultancy affiliated to Devonshire Investors, 
to recruit a new CFO. Open advertising was used to facilitate
the search process.

Relations with shareholders
The Group uses its website, www.colt.net, to communicate 
a wide range of information about the Group. The Group has
a policy of maintaining an active dialogue with institutional
shareholders through individual meetings with senior
management and participation in conference calls. The views
of shareholders expressed during these meetings and calls
are reported to the Board. Analysts’ and brokers’ briefings
are also circulated to the Board so that an understanding 
of the views of major shareholders can be developed. 

Colt also maintains dialogue with shareholder activists. 
The Board recognises that one of the main opportunities 
for non-institutional shareholders to question the Board 
is at the Annual General Meeting and for this reason it is the
practice that each of the Directors attends the meeting
whenever possible. All Directors attended the 2009 AGM. 

We are very proud of our significantly high AGM voting
records and grateful to our shareholders for their support. 
In 2009 on average over 90% of the shareholders who could
vote cast their votes. Shareholders voted overwhelmingly 
in favour of all resolutions and full details are set out on our
website. Any shareholder is free to contact the Group’s
Head of Investor Relations or Senior Independent Director
at any time.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
The statement of Directors’ responsibilities is included
within the Report of the Board of Directors.

Going concern
The Directors, after making appropriate enquiries, believe
that they have a reasonable basis for concluding that the
Group has adequate facilities to continue as a going concern.
Accordingly the financial statements have been prepared 
on a going concern basis. 



The Directors’ Remuneration Report sets out the
Group’s policy on remuneration. The report also sets
out for each Director the remuneration earned in 2009,
their interests in share options and other long-term
incentive plans and their contractual relationship with
the Company. 

The Directors’ Remuneration Report, which has been
approved and adopted by the Board of Directors, will 
be put to shareholders at the Annual General Meeting for
approval. The Report sets out how the principles in Section
1.B of the Combined Code have been voluntarily applied.

Remuneration Committee
From 1 January until 22 July 2009 the members were
Robert Hawley, Andreas Barth, Vincenzo Damiani and
Richard Walsh. With effect from 22 July 2009 Gene Gabbard
joined the Remuneration Committee and Robert Hawley
stepped down from the Committee. Vincenzo Damiani
succeeded Robert Hawley as the Chairman of the
Committee on 22 July 2009. 

Normally attending meetings of the Remuneration Committee,
in an advisory capacity, is the Managing Director, People &
Change and the Director, Performance & Reward. The
Remuneration Committee also received advice from Hewitt
and Watson Wyatt on salary, benefits and other remuneration
trend data which the Remuneration Committee has used
when considering the appropriate level of remuneration 
for its executive Directors and other Colt employees. 
In addition, Slaughter and May has provided guidance 
on the rules of the long-term incentive plans.
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Remuneration policy
The Group’s policy is to place a significant emphasis 
on performance-related elements of total remuneration for
executive Directors and senior executive officers and to align
their interests with those of shareholders. Pay within Colt 
is considered in determining executive Directors’ remuneration.

Base salary reflects an executive’s experience, responsibility
and market value. Performance bonuses for senior executives
are subject to upper limits that range between 50 per cent
and 200 per cent of salary. Each year, performance targets
are set for bonuses that link partly to the Group’s financial
targets and partly to personal business goals such as quality
of service, revenue success, process improvements and
introduction of new technologies.

The policies relating to each of the components of total
remuneration are subject to regular review in order to ensure
that they remain competitive, stimulating and challenging.
The total reward package is geared towards driving
exceptional effort through the variable elements of the
package. The ability to have an impact on shareholder value
will influence the mix of the total reward package. Base
salaries and performance bonuses are benchmarked
regularly against other appropriate sectors, in particular,
telecommunications operators and technology companies.

In 2009 Colt determined that it needed to review its reward
and remuneration strategy and governance to ensure that 
it is aligned with its business strategy and properly takes
account of external best practice and developments in the
regulatory environment. An important first step has been 
to refocus the agenda of the Board Remuneration Committee
on a deeper consideration of executive remuneration. This
includes ensuring that remuneration policy and plans are
driving appropriate behaviours and priorities to deliver the
strategic goals and improved shareholder value, management
of risk and opportunity and ensuring linkage of awards 
to both short and long-term performance. To complete this
work the Remuneration Committee will consider the results 
of an employee survey and study of external best practice
which will shape a new Colt Remuneration Strategy to be
agreed by the Board in 2010. 

Elements of remuneration for executive Directors
Executive Directors receive base salary, performance 
bonus, long-term incentives, defined contribution pensions
and other usual benefits. Payment of bonus and vesting 
of long-term incentives are dependent upon the
achievement of performance targets that are set
beforehand by the Committee.

Directors’ remuneration report
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Salary and bonus
Base salaries for the executive Directors are set when they
are appointed to the role and are reviewed annually and
reflect experience, responsibility and market value. The
executive Directors did not receive an increase in base
salary in 2009.

Bonus amounts are based upon demanding financial targets
and the achievement of personal predetermined business
objectives. Bonuses are subject to upper limits of 200 per
cent of salary for Tony Bates and Rakesh Bhasin. Annual
bonuses do not form part of pensionable earnings.
Executive Directors’ bonus payments for the year were 
at the level of 75 per cent (2008: 83 per cent) and 82 per cent
(2008: 85 per cent) of maximum bonus potential based 
on Mr Bates’ and Mr Bhasin’s respective performances. 

The targets set for 2009 were as follows:

Financial goals – 60% of total bonus potential

Weighting Achievement

Data revenue (ex MS) 20% Partly achieved
Managed Services revenue 20% Achieved
Data and Managed Services bookings 10% Partly achieved
Capex efficiency 20% Over achieved
EBITDA 20% Partly achieved
Total free cash flow 10% Achieved

Directors’ remuneration report / continued

Mr Bates: 40 per cent on personal targets relating 
to delivering the objectives of the business plan, business
development and overall management including IT, legal 
and regulatory, business process reengineering, creation 
of COO function, shared services evolution, procurement
and supply chain, replacement funding for bond and major
customer transactions – (mostly achieved).

Mr Bhasin: 40 per cent on personal targets relating 
to delivering the objectives of the business plan, business
development and overall management including establishing
the Managed Services organisation, capex efficiency, 
senior management team building, development and
implementation of strategy – (mostly achieved). 

Further details of Tony Bates’ and Rakesh Bhasin’s
remuneration are set out on pages 50 and 51.

Proportion of fixed and variable remuneration
The table below shows the approximate targeted proportion
of fixed and variable remuneration for the executive
Directors. The annual cash bonus plan supports financial
and operational performance, whilst the long-term incentive
element is reward for superior performance over the longer
term and the numbers in the table take into account the
likelihood of payment. 

Proportion of fixed and variable remuneration

Fixed Variable
Base Long-term

Pay Pension Benefits Bonus Incentives* Total
(%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%)

Tony Bates 29 6 1 43 21 100
Rakesh Bhasin 26 1 4 43 26 100

* Variable long-term incentive proportion is based on the 2009 Share Grant Plan
award face value (as a percentage of base salary).

The Company has four plans currently available for long-
term incentives. In addition, rights remain outstanding
under two plans established by COLT Telecom Group plc,
the previous holding company of Colt prior to re-domiciliation
to Luxembourg in 2006: the Option Plan and the Deferred
Share Bonus Plan. Options over shares granted under the
plan to Directors are set out in the table on page 51. Further
details of the plans are set out in note 16 on pages 73 to 76. 

No awards were made under the Share Option Plan during
the year. 
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Previous COLT Telecom Group plc plan
Group Share Plan (‘Option Plan’)
Options were granted at an option price which was not less
than the market value of the ordinary shares on the date of
grant. All option awards since July 2003 have been subject
to performance tests. Tony Bates’ options granted at an
exercise price of £2.30 in May 2004 vested. The performance
tests for the options granted to Tony Bates in May 2004
were satisfied as Colt was free cash flow positive for at least
one quarter in 2004, for two consecutive quarters in 2005
and for 2005 as a whole. 

No further grants will be made under this Option Plan. 

Current plans
Deferred Cash Plan
As set out in previous annual reports, this plan related to the
financial results the Company was required to achieve during
the financial year. The outstanding entitlements are detailed
as below. 

In 2007 Tony Bates was awarded an entitlement under the
Deferred Cash Plan. The 2007 Deferred Cash Plan is payable
in two tranches in cash as two thirds in March 2009 and one
third in March 2010 provided that the participant remains
employed by the Company or an associated company. 
The outstanding entitlement under the 2007 Deferred Cash
Plan was €78,820, of which €71,865 has been accrued 
as at 31 December 2009 (2008: €162,000). 

In 2008 Tony Bates and Rakesh Bhasin were each awarded 
an entitlement under the Deferred Cash Plan. The maximum
award is equivalent to 100 per cent of basic salary for 
Mr Bates and 118 per cent for Mr Bhasin. The 2008 Deferred
Cash Plan is payable in two tranches in cash as one third 
in March 2009 and two thirds in January 2010 provided 
that the participant remains employed by the Company 
or an associated company. 

The outstanding entitlement under the 2008 Deferred Cash
Plan of €208,347 for Tony Bates and €334,331 for Rakesh
Bhasin has been accrued as at 31 December 2009 as follows:
€542,678 (2008: €419,000). 

It is intended that there will be no further annual awards
under the Deferred Cash Plan to the executive Directors 
in future. 

The intention is that awards under the Share Grant Plan 
shall replace participation in the Deferred Cash Plan. 

Share Grant Plan
The Share Grant Plan provides for awards to be made over
Company shares. Awards are made to the senior executives
and are aimed to attract senior employees to the Company.
Subject to meeting performance conditions which are
challenging and reflect a real and meaningful improvement
in performance, awards ordinarily vest on the third
anniversary of the date of grant. The maximum individual
limits for awards are 150 per cent of base salary, however,
the Remuneration Committee can grant awards in excess 
of this limit if it is of the view that there are exceptional
circumstances to justify such awards.

In 2009 we obtained shareholder consent to amend the
rules of the Share Grant Plan to enable grants to be made
with flexibility to set metrics for one, two or three years,
with a three year vesting period applying in all cases.
Against a background of market volatility and uncertainty 
as a result of the global economic crisis the Committee 
is satisfied that this was an appropriate decision at the time.
However during dialogue with shareholder activists we
indicated that it would be our intention to impose longer
time frames for metrics in a more stable environment. 
This remains our intention and the Committee will judge 
the appropriate timing. 

In 2009 the Committee made awards to a small number 
of senior executives at the Company including Messrs Bates
and Bhasin. Mr Bates received an award equivalent to 75% 
of basic salary and Mr Bhasin 100%. Details of awards under
the Share Grant Plan are set out on page 51. 

For the 2009 award, year one metrics were set comprising
the following elements and weighting:

Weighting Achievement

Data and MS revenue 50% Not achieved
EBITDA 30% Partly achieved
Success based capex ratio 

for Data revenue 10% Over achieved
Total free cash flow 10% Achieved

Overall a performance level of 38% was achieved in respect
of year one. 

At the end of the three year vesting period the Committee
has discretion to adjust the number of shares vested 
by more or less than 20% to reflect any exceptional
circumstances, provided that the maximum is the number 
of shares over which the award was made. 

It is likely that the Committee will consider granting awards
on an annual basis.

Share Option Plan
The Share Option Plan is divided into two parts: the
‘Approved Part’ approved by HM Revenue & Customs for the
purposes of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 and
the ‘Unapproved Part’ which is not so approved. Options are
granted at an option price which is not less than the market
value of the ordinary shares on the date of grant. Subject to
meeting performance conditions which are challenging and
reflect a real and meaningful improvement in performance,
awards ordinarily vest on the third anniversary of the date 
of grant. The maximum individual limits for awards are 
150 per cent of base salary, however, the Remuneration
Committee can grant awards up to 300 per cent of base
salary if it is of the view that there are exceptional
circumstances to justify such award.

No awards were made during 2009. There are no awards
outstanding under the Share Option Plan, however the
Remuneration Committee plans to review awards in 2010.
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Deferred Share Bonus Plan
The Deferred Share Bonus Plan allows grants of awards over
matching shares based on shares purchased by participants
with monies earned under the annual bonus plan. The award
of matching shares is subject to performance conditions 
the same or similar to those relating to the Share Grant Plan.
Participants must hold the shares for three years to obtain
matching shares. No awards were made during 2009. 
There are no awards outstanding under the Deferred Share
Bonus Plan. 

Share Incentive Plan
The Share Incentive Plan enables eligible employees 
to acquire shares monthly through a one year savings plan,
or through the award of free shares and/or matching shares.
The aggregate market value of free shares may not exceed
£3,000 per annum. No awards were made during 2009. There
are no awards outstanding under the Share Incentive Plan.

Pension contributions and other benefits
Pension contributions are determined based on employee
age and years of service and are made to defined
contribution schemes. Benefits include, as appropriate:
housing benefit, private health insurance and other similar
benefits commensurate with market practice.

Savings-related share option scheme (SAYE Scheme)
Participation in the Company’s SAYE Scheme is open to all
eligible employees and the executive Directors. The executive
Directors do not participate in the SAYE Scheme. Under the
SAYE Scheme, employees may save between £5 and £250 
a month with a savings institution and are granted options
to acquire shares in the Company. After a three year period,
employees can use the proceeds of their savings account 
to exercise the options at a price established at the beginning
of the three year period. The price established at the
beginning of the three years is at the discretion of the Board
of Directors and can be up to a 20 per cent discount to the
then market price of the Company’s shares; to date no such
discount has been applied and it is not the Company’s
policy to apply such a discount. The maximum number 
of shares under option for the 2009 Sharesave Scheme 
was 1,331,604.

Non-executive Directors
The remuneration of non-executive Directors is reviewed
periodically by the Board. Non-executive Directors abstain
from voting on their own remuneration. The fees were last
increased in January 2008. Non-executive Directors receive 
a basic fee of €60,000, Chairmen of the Audit and
Remuneration Committees and the members of the Audit
Committee receive an additional fee of €7,500 and the
Senior Independent Director receives an additional fee 
of €7,500. There was no fee increase in 2009. All details 
are set out in the table on page 50. 

In line with prevailing market practice, non-executive
Directors’ remuneration is paid wholly in cash. It is not 
Colt’s policy to pay non-executive Directors’ remuneration 
in the form of options, benefits or other incentives. 

Directors’ service agreements
Rakesh Bhasin’s services are provided under a secondment
agreement with FMR LLC. The secondment is expressed 
to be until 13 December 2011, however, the secondment
can be terminated by FMR LLC or Colt at any time for any
reason without compensation payable by Colt. Therefore
the termination cost for Colt in respect of Rakesh Bhasin
would be nil. 

Tony Bates has an employment contract that can be
terminated by him giving six months’ notice. The contract
can be terminated by the Company giving twelve months’
notice. In the event of termination, he has the right to
receive an amount which is equal to his salary and other
benefits for the period of notice plus bonus equal to the
average bonus percentage of salary achieved during the
previous two years. The employment contract contains 
a mitigation clause.

Stuart Jackson will be proposed for appointment to the
Board at the next AGM. He has been employed on 
a contract with annual on target total remuneration and
termination terms not substantially different from those
applicable to Tony Bates, the Chief Operating Officer.

The Chairman and non-executive Directors are engaged 
on letters of appointment that set out their duties and
responsibilities. The appointment of the Chairman and 
the non-executive Directors can be terminated by them 
or by the Company giving three months’ notice. In every 
case, there is no right to compensation in the event 
of termination.

All contracts summarised above are available for inspection
at the Registered Office of the Company.

Colt v MSCI Europe Telecom Services Index 
The graph below shows the Company’s share performance
against the Morgan Stanley MSCI Europe Telecom Services
Index (both rebased to 100 as at 1 January 2005). This Index
was selected because it is the principal index of European
Telecom Service providers.
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AUDITED INFORMATION

Directors’ remuneration
The table below sets out details of the remuneration receivable in respect of 2009 for Directors of the parent company 
of the Group. The Directors and the CFO represent the key management personnel of the Group.

Non-executive Directors
€000 SID Audit Committee Total Total Pension Pension
Name Fee fee1 Comm. Fee2 Chair Fee3 2009 2008 2009 2008

Andreas Barth 60.0 – 7.5 – 67.5 61.9 – –
Vincenzo Damiani 60.0 – 4.4 3.1 67.5 67.5 – –
Hans Eggerstedt 60.0 7.5 7.5 7.5 82.5 82.5 – –
Mark Ferrari4 – – – – – – – –
Gene Gabbard 60.0 – 7.5 – 67.5 67.5 – –
Sergio Giacoletto 35.0 – 4.4 – 39.4 –
Simon Haslam4 – – – – – – – –
Robert Hawley 35.0 – – 4.4 39.8 73.1 – –
Tim Hilton4 – – – – – – – –
Frans van den Hoven 60.0 – – – 60.0 60.0 – –
Richard Walsh4 – – – – – – – –
Total 360.0 7.5 31.3 15.0 423.8 412.5 – –

1 An annual fee of €7,500 is paid to the Senior Independent Director.
2 An annual fee of €7,500 is paid to the members of the Audit Committee. Sergio Giacoletto was appointed as a member of the Board and the Audit Committee 

and Vincenzo Damiani resigned from the Audit Committee during the year.
3 An annual fee of €7,500 is paid to the Chairmen of the Remuneration and Audit Committees respectively. On 22 July 2009 Robert Hawley resigned as Chairman 

of the Remuneration Committee and Vincenzo Damiani was appointed Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
4 Simon Haslam is employed by FIL Limited and Mark Ferrari, Tim Hilton and Richard Walsh are employed by FMR LLC. They receive no remuneration from 

FIL Limited or FMR LLC attributable to their duties for the Company and, as set out in their letters of appointment, receive no remuneration from Colt. 

Executive Directors 
€000 Total Total Pension Pension
Name Basic Salary1 Bonus Benefits2 2009 2008 2009 2008

Tony Bates3 393.1 589.6 11.3 994.0 1,530.4 82.5 87.9
Rakesh Bhasin4 556.3 912.3 85.0 1,553.6 1,987.8 25.3 23.5
Total 949.4 1,501.9 96.3 2,547.6 3,518.2 107.8 111.4

1 Tony Bates’ basic salary is paid in Sterling and Rakesh Bhasin’s in US dollars.
2 This figure includes, as appropriate: housing benefit, private health insurance and other similar benefits. Tony Bates does not receive housing benefit.
3 In 2009 Tony Bates received a fee of €9,635 in respect of his non-executive directorship of Mitchells & Butler plc.
4 Rakesh Bhasin’s services as Chief Executive Officer were provided under a secondment agreement with FMR LLC under which all the remuneration attributable 

to his duties to the Company was paid by the Company. 
5 The average P&L exchange rates for the year were used in the above calculations (£/€1.123 and $/€0.7178).

No Directors waived emoluments during 2009 (2008: nil).
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Deferred cash plan 
At 31 December 2009, €71,865 (2008: €162,000) was accrued under the 2007 Deferred Cash Plan in respect of Tony Bates;
additionally €208,347 and €423,203 was accrued under the 2008 Deferred Cash Plan in respect of Tony Bates and 
Rakesh Bhasin respectively1.

1 The exchange rates of 31 December 09 (£/€1.126 and $/€0.69416) were used in the above calculations.

Directors’ share options 
The table below sets out details of options under each of the Company’s share option plans held by the Directors 
of the Company. 

The closing mid-point price of the Company’s ordinary shares on 31 December 2009 was £1.33 per share and the range
during the year was £0.74 to £1.34. 

Option plan
Option Usual date 

Market exercise from which 
31 Dec Date of value price per first Usual

Name 1 Jan 2009 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2009 exercise (£) share (£) exercisable expiry date

Tony Bates 166,666 – – – 166,666 – – 2.3001 4 May 2007 to 4 May 2009 4 May 2014

All Tony Bates’ options are exercisable.

Share Grant Plan 

31 Dec Grant Usual
Name 1 Jan 2009 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2009 price (£) vesting date

Tony Bates – 260,977 – – 260,977 £1.0058 7 May 2012

Rakesh Bhasin – 511,399 – – 511,399 £1.0058 7 May 2012

SAYE Scheme
There are no Directors in the SAYE scheme.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by 

Vincenzo Damiani / Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Directors’ remuneration report / continued
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Independent Auditor’s report to the shareholders of 
COLT Telecom Group S.A.

Report on the consolidated financial statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial
statements of COLT Telecom Group S.A. (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2009 and the consolidated income
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes.

Board of Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation
and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.
This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing as adopted by the Luxembourg
Institut des Réviseurs d’Entreprises. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the Board of Directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group 
as at 31 December 2009, and of its financial performance
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the European Union.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
The Report of the Board of Directors, which is the
responsibility of the Board of Directors, is consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements.

Other matter
The Directors have requested, (because the Company
applies Listing Rules 9.8.6R (5) and (6) of the United
Kingdom Financial Services Authority as if it were a United
Kingdom listed company), that we review the parts of the
Corporate Governance Statement relating to COLT Telecom
Group S.A.’s compliance with the nine provisions of the
June 2008 Combined Code specified for auditor review 
by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority. 
We have nothing to report in respect of this review. 

25 February 2010
PricewaterhouseCoopers S.à r.l.
Luxembourg
Réviseur d’entreprises
Represented by

Marc Minet

R.C.S Luxembourg B65 477 TVA LU17564447
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

Notes €m €m

Profit for the year 121.6 71.9

Other comprehensive income
Actuarial gain (loss) on defined benefit pension scheme 12, 25 1.6 (1.8)
Pre-2008 defined benefit pension scheme deficit 25 – (4.4)
Net exchange adjustments offset in reserves 20.5 (60.8)
Total recognised profit for the year 143.7 4.9

Items in the statement above are disclosed net of tax. The income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income 
is disclosed in note 8.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated income statement

Year ended 31 December 2009 Year ended 31 December 2008
Before After Before After 

exceptional Exceptional exceptional exceptional Exceptional exceptional
items items items items items items

Notes €m €m €m €m €m €m

Revenue 2 1,622.5 – 1,622.5 1,675.4 – 1,675.4

Cost of sales
Interconnect and network (964.6) – (964.6) (1,015.7) 17.0 (998.7)
Network depreciation (198.0) – (198.0) (197.0) – (197.0)

(1,162.6) – (1,162.6) (1,212.7) 17.0 (1,195.7)

Gross profit 459.9 – 459.9 462.7 17.0 479.7

Operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative (339.2) – (339.2) (355.8) – (355.8)
Other depreciation and amortisation (34.4) – (34.4) (30.6) – (30.6)

(373.6) – (373.6) (386.4) – (386.4)

Operating profit 86.3 – 86.3 76.3 17.0 93.3

Other income (expense)
Finance income 4.1 – 4.1 9.3 – 9.3
Finance costs and similar charges 6 (9.0) – (9.0) (22.7) – (22.7)
Exchange gain (loss) 3.6 9.7 13.3 (8.0) – (8.0)

(1.3) 9.7 8.4 (21.4) – (21.4)

Profit before taxation 3 85.0 9.7 94.7 54.9 17.0 71.9
Taxation 8,12 26.9 – 26.9 – – –
Profit for the year 111.9 9.7 121.6 54.9 17.0 71.9
Basic earnings per share 9 €0.14 €0.11
Diluted earnings per share 9 €0.14 €0.11

Details of exceptional items are provided in note 7.
All results derived from continuing operations.
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Consolidated statement of financial position

At 31 December
2008

2009 (Restated*)
Notes €m €m

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 10 91.6 66.2
Property, plant and equipment 11 1,195.4 1,194.4
Deferred tax asset 12 19.1 –
Total non-current assets 1,306.1 1,260.6

Current assets
Deferred tax asset 12 9.5 –
Trade and other receivables 13 258.4 268.0
Current asset investments 14 110.0 –
Cash and cash equivalents 15 199.9 273.6
Total current assets 577.8 541.6
Total assets 1,883.9 1,802.2

EQUITY
Capital and reserves
Share capital and share premium 16 1,402.9 1,723.9
Other reserves 16 (233.8) (762.5)
Retained profits (losses) 104.1 (19.1)
Total equity 1,273.2 942.3

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Provisions 18 20.8 28.5
Retirement benefit obligations 25 5.7 6.2
Total non-current liabilities 26.5 34.7

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 564.8 551.0
Current tax liabilities 0.4 –
Non-convertible debt 24 – 262.2
Provisions 18 19.0 12.0
Total current liabilities 584.2 825.2

Total liabilities 610.7 859.9
Total equity and liabilities 1,883.9 1,802.2

*See note 18

The financial statements on pages 54 to 88 were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 February 2010 
and were signed on its behalf by

Rakesh Bhasin / Chief Executive Officer

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

Retained
Ordinary Share Share Shares to Translation Other profits Total

shares capital premium be issued reserves reserves (losses) equity
Notes No. m €m €m €m €m €m €m €m

At 31 December 2007 680.2 850.3 873.0 5.1 (34.4) (672.8) (84.5) 936.7
Profit for the year – – – – – – 71.9 71.9
Pre-2008 defined benefit pension scheme deficit 25 – – – – – – (4.4) (4.4)
Actuarial losses on retirement benefit obligations 25 – – – – – – (1.8) (1.8)
Shares issued in the year 16 0.3 0.4 0.2 – – – – 0.6
Other reserve transfer – – – – – 0.3 (0.3) –
Share option credit 16 – – – 0.1 – – – 0.1
Net exchange adjustments offset in reserves – – – – (60.8) – – (60.8)
At 31 December 2008 680.5 850.7 873.2 5.2 (95.2) (672.5) (19.1) 942.3

Profit for the year – – – – – – 121.6 121.6
Actuarial gains on retirement benefit obligations* 25 – – – – – – 1.6 1.6
Reduction in nominal share capital 16 – (510.4) – – – 510.4 – –
Open Offer shares issued 16 211.0 105.5 83.9 – – – – 189.4
Open Offer costs recognised directly in equity 16 – – – – – (2.8) – (2.8)
Share option credit 16 – – – 0.6 – – – 0.6
Net exchange adjustments offset in reserves – – – – 20.5 – – 20.5
At 31 December 2009 891.5 445.8 957.1 5.8 (74.7) (164.9) 104.1 1,273.2

* Net of tax
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

Notes €m €m

Net cash generated from operating activities 19 321.6 367.6

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (217.0) (310.5)
Proceeds from the disposal of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 0.7 0.4
Purchase of current asset investments 14 (110.0) –
Net cash used in investing activities (326.3) (310.1)

Cash flows from financing activities
Finance costs and similar charges paid (8.5) (20.8)
Finance income received 4.6 9.0
Issue of ordinary shares – 0.6
Open Offer gross proceeds 16 189.4 –
Open Offer costs recognised directly in equity 16 (2.8) –
Exceptional foreign exchange gain on Open Offer proceeds 16 9.7 –
Repayment of debt 24 (262.2) –
Net cash used in financing activities (69.8) (11.2)

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents (74.5) 46.3
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 273.6 231.1
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 0.8 (3.8)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15 199.9 273.6

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1  Basis of presentation and principal accounting policies

COLT Telecom Group S.A. (‘Colt S.A.’ or ‘the Company’) together with its subsidiaries are referred to as ‘the Group’. The Group
financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at and for the year ended 
31 December 2009. COLT Telecom Group S.A. is a company domiciled in Luxembourg.

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified for fair value where
required. The accounting policies set out below have been consistently applied across Group companies to all periods presented 
in these consolidated financial statements.

Going concern
The Directors believe that they have a reasonable basis for concluding that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Basis of accounting
The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’)
and IFRIC interpretations as endorsed by the EU and in accordance with Luxembourg laws and regulations.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires the use of estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge of the amounts, events or transactions, the actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include those of the Company and all of its subsidiary undertakings. Subsidiary undertakings
are those entities controlled directly or indirectly by the Company. Control arises when the Company has the ability to direct the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Foreign currency translation
The Group has a European-domiciled holding company and the Euro is the Group’s most significant trading currency, therefore the
Group’s financial statements are presented in Euros.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the time of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the period end rate and any exchange differences are taken to the consolidated
income statement. Exchange differences arising from the re-translation of the opening net assets of subsidiaries which are
denominated in foreign currencies, and any related loans, together with the differences between income statements translated 
at average rates and rates ruling at the period end are taken directly to the translation reserve.

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
New and amended standards adopted by the Group
The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRS as of 1 January 2009:
• IAS 1 (revised), ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ – effective 1 January 2009. The revised standard prohibits the presentation 

of items of income and expense (that is, ‘non-owner changes in equity’) in the statement of changes in equity, requiring ‘non-
owner changes in equity’ to be presented separately from owner changes in equity in a statement of comprehensive income. 
As the change in accounting policy only impacts presentation aspects, there is no impact on earnings per share.

• IAS 23 (amendment), ‘Borrowing Costs’ – effective 1 January 2009. This requires the Group to capitalise borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. Since the Group
repaid its outstanding debt in April 2009 there is no material impact on the financial statements.

• IFRS 2 (amendment), ‘Share Based Payment’ – effective 1 January 2009. This clarifies that vesting conditions are service
conditions and performance conditions only.

• IFRS 7 (amendment), ‘Financial Instruments – disclosures’ – effective 1 January 2009. This amendment requires enhanced
disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity risk.

• IFRS 8, ‘Operating Segments’ – effective 1 January 2009. The Group early-adopted this standard in the 2007 annual accounts.

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group
The following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for the Group’s accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010 or later periods, but the Group has not early-adopted them:
• IFRS 3 (revised), ‘Business Combinations’ – effective from 1 July 2009.
• IAS 27 (revised), ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’ – effective from 1 July 2009.
• IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’ – effective from 1 January 2013.

The Group does not at this stage expect these revisions and amendments to significantly impact the Group’s financial position.

A summary of the more important Group accounting policies is set out below.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements / continued

Exceptional items
The Group separately identifies and discloses one-off or unusual items (termed ‘exceptional items’). We believe this provides
meaningful analysis of the trading results of the Group and aids readers’ understanding of the impact of such items. Therefore, 
in the discussion of the Group’s results of operations, reference is made to measurements before and after exceptional items.
Exceptional items may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies.

Revenue
Revenue represents amounts earned for telecommunication services provided to customers (net of value added tax and
intercompany revenue). Contracted income invoiced in advance for fixed periods is recognised as revenue in the period of actual
service provision. Data and Managed Services revenues are generally billed in advance. Advance billings for data centre revenue 
are recognised on a straight line basis over the initial contract term of the data centre agreement. Installation fees are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated income statement over the expected length of the customer relationship period (typically three 
to five years) or the contractual period, if longer.

Proceeds from the sale of infrastructure qualify as revenue where the infrastructure was designated as built for resale at the outset
and where the associated costs of construction have been classified as inventory for future sale. Where the infrastructure was not
designated for resale and was classified as tangible non-current assets, the proceeds from these infrastructure sales are recorded 
net of costs as a gain or loss on the disposal of a non-current asset.

Charges to customers for services provided through the Group network where the Group is deemed to be acting as agent are
reported net of service providers’ charges to the Group.

Cost of sales
Cost of sales includes payments made to other carriers, depreciation of network infrastructure and equipment, direct network 
costs and construction costs associated with infrastructure sales.

Operating leases
Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Operating lease incentives are
recognised as a reduction in the rental expense over the lease term.

Segmental reporting
The Group is managed around its three customer serving divisions: Major Enterprise, Small and Medium Enterprise (SME) and
Wholesale. Colt’s three Business Divisions correspond to its reportable segments in line with the information reported to its chief
operating decision maker, the Board.

Divisional EBITDA includes all costs directly attributable to the Divisions and the recharge of shared network and other service division
operating costs. The Divisions use a shared network which is not divisible and therefore is classified as an unallocated corporate asset.

A geographical analysis of revenue and non-current assets is disclosed where material.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the purchase of subsidiary undertakings and represents the excess of the fair value of purchase consideration
over the fair value of assets acquired. The goodwill was fully impaired during 2005.

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets purchased separately, such as software that do not form an integral part of related hardware, are capitalised 
at cost. Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible fixed assets on a straight-line basis over their expected
economic lives which are between three and five years.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is recorded at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Network infrastructure and equipment comprises assets purchased and built, at cost, together with capitalised labour and
borrowing costs which are directly attributable to the cost of construction.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of tangible fixed assets on a straight-line basis over their expected economic lives 
as follows:

Network infrastructure and equipment 5% – 20% per annum
Office computers, equipment, fixtures and fittings and vehicles 10% – 33% per annum

Depreciation of network infrastructure and equipment commences from the date it becomes operational. 

The assets’ useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each statement of financial position date.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements / continued

Impairment
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets other than goodwill are reviewed for impairment only
when events indicate the carrying value may be impaired.

In an impairment test, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit or asset is estimated to determine the extent of any
impairment loss. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the value in use to the Group. An impairment
loss is recognised to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount.

Deferred taxation
Deferred tax is provided on all timing differences that arise between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax base which result in an obligation at the statement of financial position date to pay more tax, 
or a right to pay less tax at a future date, at rates that are expected to apply when the obligation crystallises, based on current tax
rates and laws enacted or substantially enacted at the statement of financial position date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised to the extent that it is regarded as probable that they will be recovered in the foreseeable future. Factors considered
when assessing the recognition of deferred tax assets by jurisdiction include a consistent history of profits as well as future forecasts
of profits. Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis.

Deferred tax is classified within current assets if the asset is expected to be utilised within one year. If not, it is disclosed within 
non-current assets.

Property provisions
The Group provides for obligations relating to excess leased space and reinstatements in its properties. The provisions represent the
net present value of the future estimated costs, with the unwinding of the discount included within the interest charge for the year.

Financial instruments
Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of preparation of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash at bank and in hand, 
and short-term deposits with a maturity period of three months or less. Interest income receivable on cash and cash equivalents 
is recognised as it is earned.

Current asset investments
Current asset investments consist of bank deposits held for a term of 3 to 12 months from the date of deposit.

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost. Any difference between the proceeds, net of transaction costs, and the redemption value is recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings using the constant rate method.

Trade receivables
These are amounts due from customers for services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one
year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not they are presented 
as non-current liabilities.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements / continued

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit schemes
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged to the income statement on an accruals basis in the
period in which contributions are payable to the schemes.

For defined benefit schemes, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method, based on actuarial
valuations. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the period in which they occur. They are recognised outside of the
income statement and presented in the statement of comprehensive income.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the statement of financial position represents the present value of the defined
benefit obligation, as reduced by the fair value of scheme assets. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined
through consultation with independent actuaries, taking into account current market discount rates, current market values 
of investments and actual investment returns.

Share-based payments
The cost of share-based employee compensation arrangements, whereby employees receive remuneration in the form of shares 
or share options, is recognised as an employee benefit expense in the income statement.

The total expense is apportioned over the vesting period of the benefit and is determined by reference to the fair value at the grant 
date of the shares or share options awarded and the number that are expected to vest. The assumptions underlying the number 
of awards expected to vest are subsequently adjusted to reflect conditions prevailing at the statement of financial position date. 
At the vesting date of an award, the cumulative expense is adjusted to take account of the awards that actually vest.

Critical accounting policies and judgements
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements under IFRS requires a number of estimates and assumptions to be made. 
In addition, management is required to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
Management continually evaluates the estimates, assumptions and judgements based on available information and experience. 
As the use of estimates is inherent in financial reporting, actual results could differ from these estimates. The Group believes that 
of its significant accounting policies, the following are considered to be critical to its financial condition and results and involve 
a higher degree of judgement and complexity.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from Voice services, which are generally billed in arrears, and from Data and Managed Services (including data centre
revenues), which are generally billed in advance, is recognised when services are provided. Revenue from installation activities 
is deferred and recognised over the expected length of the customer relationship period (typically three to five years), or the
contractual period if longer. Judgement is required in the application of these principles.

Carrier revenue and payments to other operators
When telephony traffic is carried by other operators, the Group incurs interconnect costs. Some interconnect costs are subject 
to regulation by local regulatory authorities in the countries in which the Group operates. A regulatory determination may give 
rise to amendments, (most often in the form of reductions) to interconnect costs. The changes in regulated interconnect costs 
may or may not be in line with the change in market selling prices for telephony traffic. Margins may therefore be eroded where
selling prices fall faster than regulated interconnect costs.

The Group reviews its interconnect costs on a regular basis and adjusts the rate at which these costs are charged in the income
statement in accordance with the estimated interconnect costs for the current period. The prices at which these services are
charged are often regulated and can be subject to retrospective adjustment. Estimates are used in assessing the likely impact 
of these retrospective adjustments.

Receivables and provisions for doubtful debts
The Group performs ongoing reviews of the bad debt risk within its receivables and makes provisions to reflect its views of the
financial condition of its customers and their ability to pay in full for amounts owing for services provided. Estimates based 
on historical and current experience are used in determining the level of debts that are not expected to be collected.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is recorded at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Network infrastructure and equipment comprises assets purchased and built, at cost, together with capitalised labour, directly
attributable to the cost of construction.

Colt’s network assets are long-lived with cables and switching equipment operating for between five and 20 years. The annual
depreciation charge is sensitive to the estimated service life allocated to each asset type. The Group reviews asset lives annually and
changes them when it is considered necessary to reflect its current estimates of its remaining lives in light of changes in technology, 
the actual condition and expected utilisation of the assets concerned.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements / continued

Impairment
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets other than goodwill, within a cash generating unit, are
reviewed for impairment only when events indicate the carrying value may be impaired. Impairment indicators include both internal
and external factors. Examples of internal factors include analysing performance against budgets and assessing absolute financial
measures for indicators of impairment. Examples of external considerations assessed for indications of impairment include wider
economic factors.

Where impairment indicators are present, the recoverable amounts of assets are measured. Asset recoverability requires
assessment as to whether the carrying value of assets can be supported by the net present value of future cash flows derived 
from such assets using cash flow projections which have been discounted at an appropriate rate. In calculating the net present 
value of the future cash flows, certain assumptions are required to be made in respect of highly uncertain matters. In particular,
management has regard to assumptions in respect of revenue mix and growth rates, customer churn, EBITDA margins, timing 
and amount of capital expenditures, long term growth rates and the selection of appropriate discount rates.

Deferred tax assets
The Group operates in a large number of different tax jurisdictions. Deferred tax assets require management judgement 
in determining the amounts to be recognised. In particular, significant judgement is used when assessing the extent to which 
deferred tax assets should be recognised with consideration given to the timing and level of future taxable income, time limits 
on the availability of taxable losses for carry forward together with any future tax planning strategies.

Provisions
The Group’s provisions are established based on its best estimate at the balance sheet date of the amounts necessary to settle
existing obligations or commitments as of each balance sheet date.

2  Segmental reporting

Operating segments
The Group is managed around its three customer serving divisions: Major Enterprise, Small and Medium Enterprise (SME) and
Wholesale (including Carrier Voice operations), supported by six Service Divisions. Colt’s three Business Divisions correspond 
to its reportable segments in line with the information reported to its chief operating decision maker, the Board of Directors.

Divisional revenue has been classified as Voice, Data and Managed Services to provide an analysis of products and services that
they provide. Voice revenue comprises services including the transmission of voice, data or video through a switching centre. Data
revenue includes non-managed network services, bandwidth services and voice traffic which is delivered in a digital form (IP Voice).
Managed Services revenue comprises managed network services. Voice revenue has been further split between Carrier Voice and
Corporate and Reseller Voice. Carrier Voice revenue includes Voice services provided wholesale to other licenced operators, and
Corporate and Reseller Voice revenue is all other Voice revenue.

Managed Services revenue, which was previously included within Data revenue, has been reported separately for the first time 
in 2009 as it approaches materiality in relation to total Colt revenue. The 2008 split of Data and Managed Services revenue 
is unaudited.

The Group measures the performance of its operating segments through a measure of segment profit or loss which is referred 
to as EBITDA in our management reporting system. EBITDA is earnings before net finance costs, tax, depreciation, amortisation,
foreign exchange and exceptional items.

Divisional EBITDA includes all costs directly attributable to the Business Divisions and the recharge of shared network and other
Service Division operating costs. The bases used to recharge these costs may be further refined in the future.

The Divisions use a shared network which is not divisible and is therefore classified as an unallocated corporate asset. As such, 
all capital expenditure and depreciation are also classified as corporate, although depreciation is recharged. Other unallocated
corporate assets and liabilities include cash, current asset investments, debt, provisions and current and deferred tax assets.

Due to the reclassification of certain customers between Divisions in 2009 as a result of changes to divisional customer revenue
thresholds, prior year segmental comparatives have been restated.

The Group has a large customer base and no undue reliance on any one major customer therefore no such related revenue 
is required to be disclosed by IFRS 8.

The accounting policies adopted by each segment are described in note 1.
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Corporate
Major and

Enterprise SME Wholesale eliminations Consolidated
Year ended 31 December 2009 €m €m €m €m €m

Revenue
Carrier Voice – – 212.4 – 212.4
Corporate and Reseller Voice 144.3 240.4 74.4 – 459.1
Total Voice revenue 144.3 240.4 286.8 – 671.5
Data revenue 404.9 183.1 206.9 – 794.9
Managed Services revenue 124.3 27.1 4.7 – 156.1
Total revenue 673.5 450.6 498.4 – 1,622.5

Result
EBITDA 151.3 53.9 113.5 – 318.7
Depreciation and amortisation (232.4)
Operating profit 86.3
Finance income 4.1
Finance costs and similar charges (9.0)
Exchange gain excluding exceptional items 3.6
Exceptional item (note 7) 9.7
Profit before taxation 94.7
Taxation credit 26.9
Profit after taxation 121.6

Segment assets 89.8 54.4 97.2 1,642.5 1,883.9

Segment liabilities 268.4 121.0 125.9 95.4 610.7

Other segment items
Additions to non-current assets

Intangible non-current assets 38.0 38.0
Tangible non-current assets 184.9 184.9

222.9 222.9

Amortisation and depreciation
Intangible non-current assets 22.7 22.7
Tangible non-current assets 209.7 209.7

232.4 232.4
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Corporate
Major and

Enterprise SME Wholesale eliminations Consolidated
Year ended 31 December 2008 (restated) €m €m €m €m €m

Revenue
Carrier Voice – – 235.6 – 235.6
Corporate and Reseller Voice 165.1 280.5 78.2 – 523.8
Total Voice revenue 165.1 280.5 313.8 – 759.4
Data revenue 417.7 176.7 196.3 – 790.7
Managed Services revenue 97.9 22.9 4.5 – 125.3
Total revenue 680.7 480.1 514.6 – 1,675.4

Result
EBITDA 154.9 50.6 98.4 – 303.9
Depreciation and amortisation (227.6)
Operating profit before exceptional items 76.3
Exceptional item (note 7) 17.0
Operating profit after exceptional items 93.3
Finance income 9.3
Finance costs and similar charges (22.7)
Exchange loss (8.0)
Profit before and after taxation 71.9

Segment assets 83.2 52.8 115.8 1,550.4 1,802.2

Segment liabilities 248.7 126.5 135.0 349.7 859.9

Other segment items
Additions to non-current assets

Intangible non-current assets 36.2 36.2
Tangible non-current assets 273.9 273.9

310.1 310.1
Amortisation and depreciation

Intangible non-current assets 22.8 22.8
Tangible non-current assets 204.8 204.8

227.6 227.6

Geographical information
The Group has material revenue and assets in a number of countries, including Germany, France, the UK, Spain, Italy and Switzerland.
There are no material revenue or assets in the Company’s country of domicile, Luxembourg. Revenue by country is disclosed based 
on amounts invoiced and accrued. Inter-geographical revenue transactions are carried out at an arm’s length price.

The information in the table below is based on the location of the assets which is not materially different from the location 
of the customer.

Revenue Total non-current assets
2009 2008 2009 2008

€m €m €m €m

Germany 424.3 469.5 383.9 411.8
UK 292.3 292.6 275.0 247.4
France 235.1 245.2 141.7 149.1
Spain 163.7 158.6 126.9 132.6
Italy 130.5 136.6 54.1 54.1
Switzerland 98.8 95.3 77.9 82.2
Other 277.8 277.6 227.5 183.4

1,622.5 1,675.4 1,287.0 1,260.6
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3  Profit before taxation

The following items have been included in arriving at profit before taxation:

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Staff costs (note 5) 329.2 321.2
Network depreciation and amortisation

Intangible assets (note 10) 0.7 2.7
Property, plant & equipment (note 11) 197.2 194.3

Other depreciation and amortisation
Intangible assets (note 10) 22.0 20.1
Property, plant & equipment (note 11) 12.5 10.5

Receivables provision charge (note 13) 5.8 3.6
Loan interest (note 6) 5.9 20.0
Other operating lease rentals payable

Property 35.5 39.4
Plant and equipment 147.6 143.0

Net foreign exchange (gains) losses (13.3) 8.0

Services provided by the Group’s auditors and network of firms:

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the parent company and consolidated financial statements 0.1 0.1

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services:
The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation 1.6 1.8
Other services supplied pursuant to such legislation 0.1 –
Other services in connection with the Open Offer 0.3 –

2.1 1.9
Tax services 0.7 0.7

2.8 2.6

4  Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel compensation is shown in the table below:

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Salaries and short term benefits 4.2 3.5
Post employment benefits 0.1 0.1
Other long term benefits – 0.3
Share based payments 0.2 –
Total 4.5 3.9

Further details on Directors’ emoluments are set out in the Audited Information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 46 to 51
which form part of these financial statements (incorporated by reference).
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5  Employee information

Average monthly number of people (including Directors) employed by the Group:

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

By reportable segment:
Major Enterprise 2,563 2,305
SME 1,427 1,330
Wholesale 787 790

4,777 4,425

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

By geography:
Europe 3,619 3,437
India 1,153 984
Rest of World 5 4

4,777 4,425

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Employee costs (for the above employees):
Wages and salaries 295.6 287.5
Share option charge 0.6 0.1
Social security costs 44.5 43.9
Pension costs (note 25) 18.6 16.8

359.3 348.3
Less: employee costs capitalised (29.7) (27.1)

329.6 321.2

Capitalised employee costs are included in additions within the appropriate non-current asset category.

6  Finance costs and similar charges

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Finance costs and similar charges on non-convertible notes 5.9 20.0
Discount unwind on property provisions 1.4 1.7
Other finance costs and similar charges 1.7 1.0

9.0 22.7

7  Exceptional items

During 2009 Colt realised an exceptional foreign exchange gain of €9.7m on forward contracts relating to the Open Offer proceeds
(see note 16).

During 2008 a credit of €17.0m relating to the resolution of a complex billing issue during the period 2004-2007 was recognised 
as an exceptional item within cost of sales.
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8  Taxation

The Group income tax credit during the year was as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Current tax charge
Overseas tax (1.1) –
Total current tax charge (1.1) –

Deferred tax credit (note 12)
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 28.0 –
Total deferred tax credit 28.0 –

Total tax credit 26.9 –

The difference between the actual tax expense (income) computed using a weighted average tax rate and the tax expense computed
on accounting profit can be explained as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Profit before tax 94.7 71.9

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits (losses) in the respective countries 42.7 21.3
Permanent differences (66.0) (39.8)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (20.8) (8.7)
Recognition of deferred tax assets previously unrecognised (28.0) –
Temporary differences for which no deferred income tax asset was recognised 45.2 27.2

(26.9) –

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 45.1% (2008: 29.6%). The movement is caused by a change in the relative accounting
profits and losses of the Group’s subsidiaries in the respective countries.

The tax credit relating to components of other comprehensive income is as follows:

2009 2008
Before tax Tax credit After tax Before tax Tax credit After tax

€m €m €m €m €m €m

Actuarial gain (loss) on retirement benefit obligations 1.0 0.6 1.6 (1.8) – (1.8)
Pre 2008 defined benefit pension scheme deficit – – – (4.4) – (4.4)
Net exchange adjustments offset in reserves 20.5 – 20.5 (60.8) – (60.8)
Other comprehensive income 21.5 0.6 22.1 (67.0) – (67.0)

9  Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is based upon the profit after tax for each year and the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
in issue in the year.

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

Basic weighted average number of ordinary shares (m) 844.7 680.5
Dilutive ordinary shares from share options (m) 0.8 0.2
Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares (m) 845.5 680.7
Profit for the year (€m) 121.6 71.9
Basic earnings per share € 0.14 € 0.11
Diluted earnings per share € 0.14 € 0.11
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10  Intangible assets

Software
Goodwill assets Total

€m €m €m

Cost
At 1 January 2008 30.5 336.3 366.8
Additions – 36.2 36.2
Exchange differences – (70.3) (70.3)
At 31 December 2008 30.5 302.2 332.7
Additions – 38.0 38.0
Disposals – 1.2 1.2
Exchange differences – 17.5 17.5
At 31 December 2009 30.5 358.9 389.4

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2008 30.5 258.4 288.9
Charge for the year – 22.8 22.8
Exchange differences – (45.2) (45.2)
At 31 December 2008 30.5 236.0 266.5
Charge for the year – 22.7 22.7
Disposals – (0.3) (0.3)
Exchange differences – 8.9 8.9
At 31 December 2009 30.5 267.3 297.8

Net book value
At 1 January 2008 – 77.9 77.9
At 31 December 2008 – 66.2 66.2
At 31 December 2009 – 91.6 91.6
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11  Property, plant and equipment

Computers,
equipment,

Network fixtures,
infrastructure fittings and

and equipment vehicles Total
€m €m €m

Cost
At 1 January 2008 4,313.0 202.6 4,515.6
Additions 259.1 14.8 273.9
Disposals (4.6) (0.2) (4.8)
Exchange differences (203.6) (19.4) (223.0)
At 31 December 2008 4,363.9 197.8 4,561.7
Additions 177.1 7.8 184.9
Disposals (8.4) (2.0) (10.4)
Exchange differences 81.6 7.7 89.3
At 31 December 2009 4,614.2 211.3 4,825.5

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2008 3,140.4 177.0 3,317.4
Charge for the year 194.3 10.5 204.8
Disposals (2.2) (0.2) (2.4)
Exchange differences (130.1) (22.4) (152.5)
At 31 December 2008 3,202.4 164.9 3,367.3
Charge for the year 197.2 12.5 209.7
Disposals (8.3) (1.5) (9.8)
Exchange differences 59.0 3.9 62.9
At 31 December 2009 3,450.3 179.8 3,630.1

Net book value
At 1 January 2008 1,172.6 25.6 1,198.2
At 31 December 2008 1,161.5 32.9 1,194.4
At 31 December 2009 1,163.9 31.5 1,195.4

Included in network infrastructure and equipment at 31 December 2009 are payments on account and assets under construction 
of €56.4m (2008: €59.9m).

Indicator of impairment
An impairment review was performed in respect of COLT Telecom Group S.A.’s investments of €1,908.1m in the underlying Group.

The value in use calculation supported the carrying value of the Group’s intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 
as at 31 December 2009.

The value in use calculation was derived from a cash flow forecast based on the Group’s most recent budget approved by management.
The cash flow forecast is sensitive to material changes in key assumptions, including those relating to Data and Managed Services
revenue growth, Data and Managed Services profit margins, customer churn and capital expenditure. The rate used to discount the
forecast cash flows is estimated by reference to the Group’s weighted average cost of capital, calculated to be 10.2% for 2009.
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12  Deferred tax asset

The recognised deferred tax asset is as follows:

2009 2008
€m €m

Non-current assets
Deferred tax 19.1 –
Current assets
Deferred tax 9.5 –
Total deferred tax 28.6 –

Capital
allowances Tax losses – Tax losses – Other

less without time expiring Retirement timing
depreciation time limits (within 10 years) benefits differences Total

€m €m €m €m €m €m

At 1 January 2009 – – – – – –
Income statement credit (note 8) 13.0 4.0 1.6 – 9.4 28.0
Tax credit relating to components of other 

comprehensive income (note 25) – – – 0.6 – 0.6
At 31 December 2009 13.0 4.0 1.6 0.6 9.4 28.6

The Group has recognised a deferred tax asset in its financial statements for the first time in 2009, as it became probable that future
taxable income would arise to utilise the tax asset. The main factor in recognising the asset in 2009 is that the overall economic
environment – and hence trading conditions – in Europe improved during the second half of the year. The subsidiaries for which 
an asset is recognised have also demonstrated the required consistent history of profits as well as future forecasts of profits.

At 31 December 2009, gross tax losses carried forward amounted to €1,694.8m (2008: €1,601.4m), of which €1,486.5m (2008: €1,329.0m)
are not time limited and €208.3m (2008: €272.4m) are time limited. The majority of the time limited losses will expire in 2011. 
All losses must be utilised in the country in which they arose. They remain subject to legislative provisions and to agreement with the
various tax authorities in jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

At 31 December 2009 the Group also had other timing differences of €1,137.3m (2008: €1,106.9m), the majority of which have arisen 
as a result of the carrying value of fixed assets being higher for tax purposes than their value in the accounts.

The Group has recognised a deferred tax asset of €28.6m as at 31 December 2009 (2008: €nil). As at 31 December 2009 the Group 
has net tax losses and other tax attributes of €740.1m (2008: €745.9m) for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised.

Deferred tax assets are not recognised where their recovery is not deemed to be probable in the foreseeable future. The major
components of the deferred tax asset not recognised are as follows:

At 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Capital allowances less depreciation 258.8 295.8
Short term temporary differences 51.6 32.5
Potential deferred tax asset 310.4 328.3
Tax value of losses

Losses – without time limits 377.8 347.3
Losses – time expiring (within 10 years) 51.9 70.3

Total potential deferred tax asset after addition of losses 740.1 745.9
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13  Trade and other receivables

At 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables 236.9 258.1
Provision against doubtful debts (37.6) (37.9)
Trade receivables – net 199.3 220.2
Other receivables 22.9 23.7
Prepayments and accrued income 31.7 21.2
VAT recoverable 4.5 2.9

258.4 268.0

The Group has a variety of credit terms depending on the customer. The Group has provided fully for all receivables over 180 days.
Trade receivables between 60 and 180 days are provided for based on the age of the debt and other customer specific matters. 
Colt does not renegotiate credit terms.

The fair value of trade receivables as at 31 December 2009 is not materially different to the carrying value.

Trade receivables with a gross value of €41.3m (2008: €42.0m) are individually determined to be impaired as at the end of the
reporting period.

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts:
Balance at the beginning of the year (37.9) (46.5)
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable 6.7 9.0
Amounts recovered during the year 5.7 11.7
Provided during the year (11.5) (15.3)
Exchange differences (0.6) 3.2
Balance at the end of the year (37.6) (37.9)

In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables the Group considers any changes in the credit quality of the trade receivable
from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base
being distributed over many customers, in different countries and in different industries.

Aged analysis of trade receivables
As of 31 December 2009, trade receivables of €32.7m (2008: €35.4m) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number 
of customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

Past due and not impaired
between more than 

0 and 90 days 90 days 
past due past due

€m €m

Trade receivables at 31st December 2009 30.5 2.2
Trade receivables at 31st December 2008 32.4 3.0

Currency profile of trade and other receivables
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

At 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Euro 187.6 208.3
Sterling 50.4 40.5
Swiss Franc 11.4 11.5
Other 9.0 7.7

258.4 268.0
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14  Current asset investments

At 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Current asset investments 110.0 –
110.0 –

Current asset investments consist of bank deposits held for a term of 3 to 12 months from the date of deposit. During 2009 the effective
interest rate on 3 to 12 month deposits was 1.2% (2008: nil%). The fair value of current asset investments as at 31 December 2009 
is not materially different to the carrying value.

15  Cash and cash equivalents

At 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Cash at bank and in hand 32.8 74.6
Short term deposits 167.1 199.0

199.9 273.6

Cash at bank and in hand and short term deposits comprise funds which the Group can access without restriction within a maximum 
of three months. During 2009 the effective interest rate on short term deposits was 1.3% (2008: 4.4%) and at 31 December 2009 these
deposits had an average maturity of 10 working days (2008: 38 working days).
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16  Changes in shareholders’ equity

Share capital
The authorised share capital at 31 December 2009 consisted of 2,500,000,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value of €0.50, 
of which 891,494,232 had been issued and were fully paid-up. All shares have the same rights and entitlements.

Colt S.A. announced and completed an Open Offer issue of 210,963,549 ordinary shares during Q1 2009. Total proceeds from this
Sterling denominated share issue converted at the spot rate were €189.4m or €186.6m net of €2.8m of issue costs. Colt S.A. had
entered into forward contracts at the time of the initial Open Offer announcement to convert the majority of Sterling receipts into
Euros. The forward contract rates were favourable to the spot rate at maturity and accordingly Colt realised an exceptional €9.7m
exchange gain within the income statement. Gross proceeds of the Open Offer including the €9.7m exchange gain were €199.1m.

As part of the Open Offer process, the shareholders approved a reduction in the nominal value of the ordinary shares from €1.25 per
share to €0.50 per share. Accordingly, the amount of the Group’s issued share capital in relation to the 680,527,576 existing shares 
at that time was reduced by €510.4m and transferred to distributable reserves. The Open Offer shares were also issued at a nominal
value of €0.50 per share.

Other reserves
Other reserves includes the special reserve and the reverse acquisition reserve, which were both created during 2006, and the other
distributable reserve arising from the 2009 reduction in nominal value of the ordinary shares noted above.

Special reserve
On 30 June 2006 Colt S.A. became the holding company of COLT Telecom Group Limited (formerly plc) under the terms of a Scheme
of Arrangement (the ‘Scheme’) approved by Colt plc shareholders. The former Colt plc shareholders were issued new shares in Colt S.A.
on a one-for-three basis under the terms of the Scheme. Immediately preceding the Scheme, the shareholders of Colt plc had
approved a capital reduction which reduced share premium by €2.9bn and reduced retained losses by €2.8bn. The excess of share
premium over retained earnings at that date of €60.9m was transferred to a ‘special reserve’ in the accounts of Colt plc which is not
distributable to shareholders.

Reverse acquisition reserve
Immediately following the approval of the Scheme, the former shareholders of Colt plc held the same economic interest in Colt S.A. 
as they held in Colt plc immediately prior to its implementation. Accordingly, the acquisition of Colt plc via the Scheme has been
accounted for as a reverse acquisition under IFRS3 ‘Business Combinations’. For accounting purposes in a reverse acquisition, the
acquirer (Colt plc) is the entity whose equity interests have been acquired and the issuing entity (Colt S.A.) is the acquiree. The effect 
of this is that the financial statements of the combined Group represent a continuation of Colt plc’s financial statements. The assets
and liabilities of Colt plc have been recognised and measured in these financial statements at their pre-combination carrying amounts.
The consolidated accumulated losses and other reserves of the combined Group are based on the amount of Colt plc’s 
pre-combination ‘total equity’.

The fair value of the consideration for the business combination, calculated in accordance with IFRS3 ‘Business Combinations’, 
was €nil. The fair value of the net assets and liabilities of Colt S.A. acquired by Colt plc was €nil therefore no goodwill was recognised. 
As a result of the combination, a reverse acquisition reserve was created. This has been classified as part of ‘other reserves’ 
within equity.
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Previous COLT Telecom Group plc plan
Group Share Plan (‘Option Plan’)
Options were granted at an option price which was not less than the market value of the ordinary shares on the date of grant. 
All option awards since July 2003 have been subject to performance tests. No further grants will be made under this Option Plan.

Details of grants made under the Option Plan are set out below:

Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
Date Exercise Dates of Date of Options at 31 Dec in the in the in the at 31 Dec
of grant price (£) vesting expiry granted 2008 year year year 2009

Mar 99 33.90 Mar 00 to Mar 04 Mar 09 330,000 53,662 – – (53,662) –
May 99 36.75 May 00 to May 04 May 09 195,000 15,998 – – (15,998) –
Aug 99 38.22 Aug 00 to Aug 04 Aug 09 310,000 42,330 – – (42,330) –
Nov 99 63.00 Nov 00 to Nov 04 Nov 09 266,833 33,165 – – (33,165) –
Dec 99 73.17 Dec 00 to Dec 04 Dec 09 246,666 44,984 – – (44,984) –
Feb 00 108.54 Feb 01 to Feb 05 Feb 10 248,333 24,159 – – (3,332) 20,827
May 00 67.83 May 01 to May 05 May 10 264,166 59,983 – – (2,499) 57,484
Jun 00 79.98 Jun 01 to Jun 05 Jun 10 282,000 49,320 – – (4,999) 44,321
Aug 00 57.48 Aug 01 to Aug 05 Aug 10 393,833 80,650 – – (1,666) 78,984
Aug 00 53.19 Aug 01 to Aug 05 Aug 10 105,833 10,827 – – (1,666) 9,161
Nov 00 58.44 Nov 01 to Nov 05 Nov 10 266,666 74,145 – – (8,331) 65,814
Dec 00 45.54 Dec 01 to Dec 05 Dec 10 252,440 65,122 – – (2,498) 62,624
Feb 01 40.11 Feb 02 to Feb 06 Feb 11 800,347 93,475 – – (6,998) 86,477
May 01 25.32 May 02 to May 06 May 11 288,833 37,156 – – – 37,156
Jun 01 21.30 Jun 02 to Jun 06 Jun 11 896,250 258,109 – – (21,657) 236,452
Aug 01 9.66 Aug 02 to Aug 06 Aug 11 488,166 87,310 – – (10,831) 76,479
Nov 01 5.16 Nov 02 to Nov 06 Nov 11 77,000 8,499 – – – 8,499
Dec 01 4.68 Dec 02 to Dec 06 Dec 11 470,166 193,420 – – (10,323) 183,097
Feb 02 1.23 Feb 03 to Feb 07 Feb 12 1,562,833 175,673 – – (29,330) 146,343
May 02 1.35 May 03 to May 07 May 12 24,166 4,998 – – – 4,998
Jul 02 1.44 Jul 03 to Jul 07 Jul 12 1,867,433 538,239 – – (35,274) 502,965
May 03 1.47 May 04 to May 08 May 13 16,666 6,667 – – – 6,667
Jul 03 2.31 Jul 06 to Jul 08 Jul 13 2,387,000 828,292 – – (73,329) 754,963
Feb 04 3.39 Feb 07 to Feb 09 Feb 14 20,000 6,666 – – – 6,666
Apr 04 2.52 Apr 07 to Apr 09 Apr 14 6,666 6,666 – – – 6,666
May 04 2.31 May 07 to May 09 May 14 166,666 166,666 – – – 166,666
Mar 06 2.19 Mar 09 to Mar 11 Mar 16 13,333 13,333 – – (4,800) 8,533

2,979,514 – – (407,672) 2,571,842

Weighted average exercise price of options £16.08 – – £30.13 £13.85

Share Grant Plan
The Share Grant Plan provides for awards to be made over Company shares. Awards do not vest until the third anniversary 
of the date of grant. Awards are made to Operating Committee executives and are aimed to attract senior employees to the
Company. Subject to meeting performance conditions which are challenging and reflect a real and meaningful improvement 
in performance, awards ordinarily vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant.

Details of grants made under the Share Grant Plan are set out below:

Date of Date of Number Outstanding Granted in Exercised in Lapsed in Outstanding
grant vesting granted at 31 Dec 08 the year the year the year at 31 Dec 09

May 2009 May 2012 1,840,337 – 1,840,337 – – 1,840,337
July 2009 July 2012 74,152 – 74,152 – – 74,152

1,914,489 – – 1,914,489

Share Option Plan
The Share Option Plan is divided into two parts; the ‘Approved Part’ approved by HM Revenue & Customs for the purposes of the Income
and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 and the ‘Unapproved Part’ which is not so approved. Options are granted at an option price which is not
less than the market value of the ordinary shares on the date of grant. Subject to meeting performance conditions which are challenging
and reflect a real and meaningful improvement in performance, awards ordinarily vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant.

No awards were made during 2009. There are no awards outstanding under the Share Option Plan.
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Share Incentive Plan
The Share Incentive Plan enables eligible employees to acquire Colt S.A. shares monthly through a one year savings plan, or through the
award of free Colt S.A. shares and/or matching shares. The aggregate market value of free shares may not exceed £3,000 per annum.

No awards were made during 2009. There are no awards outstanding under the Share Incentive Plan.

Colt Savings-Related Share Option Scheme
The Colt Savings-Related Share Option Scheme (the ‘SAYE Scheme’) was adopted on 28 April 2006 and operates for the benefit 
of all eligible employees. Under the SAYE scheme, employees may save between £5 and £250 a month with a savings institution and
are granted options to acquire shares in the Company. After a three year period, employees can use the proceeds of their savings
account to exercise the options at a price established at the beginning of the three year period.

Details of grants made under the SAYE Scheme are set out below:

Date of Exercise Date of Options Outstanding Granted in Exercised Lapsed in Outstanding
grant price (£) vesting granted at 31 Dec 08 the year in the year1 the year at 31 Dec 09

December 20042 1.29 March 2009 67,443 53,882 – – (53,882) –
December 20052 1.71 March 2010 80,272 70,172 – – (44,870) 25,302
December 2005 1.74 March 2009 1,252,647 488,519 – – (488,519) –
December 20062 1.41 March 2011 92,971 92,971 – – (60,263) 32,708
December 2006 1.43 March 2010 1,175,623 515,310 – – (186,009) 329,301
December 20072 1.70 March 2012 10,293 10,293 – – (4,117) 6,176
December 2007 1.77 March 2011 482,797 231,629 – – (83,107) 148,522
December 20082 0.62 March 2013 147,304 147,304 – – – 147,304
December 2008 0.65 March 2012 1,845,922 1,845,922 – (1,846) (110,014) 1,734,062
December 20092 1.24 March 2014 147,304 – 36,573 – – 36,573
December 2009 1.21 March 2013 1,845,922 – 1,302,531 – (7,500) 1,295,031

3,456,002 1,339,104 (1,846) (1,038,281) 3,754,979

Weighted average exercise price of options £1.05 £1.21 £0.65 £1.52 £0.98

1 Of the options exercised in the year, 1,846 were early exercises
2 Each option holder entered into a four year savings contract

Share option charge
As described in note 1, the cost of share-based employee compensation arrangements is recognised as an employee benefit expense
in the income statement. The ‘shares to be issued reserve’ represents the cumulative share option charge less amounts transferred 
to share premium on exercise of options.

For most grants made, the fair value has been calculated using the Black-Scholes model. The following assumptions were used in this
model for share options granted during 2008 and 2009:

Options Options
granted during granted during 

2009 2008

Weighted average fair value £0.44 £0.23
Weighted average exercise price £1.21 £0.65
Weighted average share price at grant date £1.21 £0.65
Weighted average volatility 50% 47%
Option life 4 – 5 years 4 – 5 years
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%
Risk free interest rate 1.8%-1.9% 2.3%-2.4%

Volatility is estimated at the date of each grant with reference to the historical volatility in the Group’s share price over the previous
two year period. In order for options to vest, participants must continue to be employed by the Group and the Group must meet
certain non market-based performance conditions. The likelihood of these conditions being met is taken into account when the share
option charge is calculated.

During 2009 1,846 options were exercised. The average share price during the year was £1.08. Share options with exercise prices
ranging from £0.62 to £108.54 were outstanding at the end of the year, with a weighted average remaining option life of three years.
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Colt Deferred Bonus Plan
The Colt Deferred Bonus Plan (the ‘Deferred Bonus Plan’) was adopted on 28 April 2006. The Deferred Share Bonus Plan allows
grants of awards over matching shares based on shares purchased by participants with monies earned under the annual bonus plan.
The award of matching shares is subject to performance conditions the same or similar to those relating to the Share Grant Plan.
Participants must hold the shares for three years to obtain matching shares. No awards were made during 2009.

Details of grants made under the Deferred Bonus Plan are set out below:

Date of Date of Number Outstanding Granted in Exercised in Lapsed in Outstanding
grant vesting granted at 31 Dec 08 the year the year the year at 31 Dec 09

Apr 06 Apr 09 6,529 4,504 – (1,261) (3,243) –

On 22 March 1999 an Employee Benefit Trust (‘EBT’) was established, and on 31 December 2009 it held 43,737 shares (2008: 52,746).
The nominal value per share was €0.50 (2008: €1.25) and the market value per share was €1.33 (2008: €0.67). These shares can 
be used to satisfy the Company’s obligations under the Deferred Bonus Plan.

17  Trade and other payables
At 31 December

2009 2008
€m €m

Trade payables 110.2 109.7
Other payables 10.0 10.2
Taxation and social security 25.9 24.9
Accruals 226.7 220.3
Deferred revenue 192.0 185.1
Accrued interest – 0.8

564.8 551.0

The average credit period on purchases varies by supplier. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that
all payables are paid within the credit timeframe. The value of trade payables due in less than one year is €110.2m (2008: €109.7m).

18  Provisions
Property

€m

At 1 January 2008 44.3
Amortisation of discount 1.7
Utilised in the year (3.6)
Exchange difference (1.9)
At 31 December 2008 40.5
Amortisation of discount 1.4
Utilised in the year (2.6)
Exchange difference 0.5
At 31 December 2009 39.8

At 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Maturity profile of property provisions
Within 1 year 19.0 12.0
Between 1 and 2 years 7.0 11.2
Between 2 and 5 years 3.0 7.6
Over 5 years 10.8 9.7

39.8 40.5

The Group provides for obligations relating to excess leased space and reinstatements in its properties. The provisions represent the
net present value of the future estimated costs, with the unwinding of the discount included within the interest charge for the year.
The provisions are discounted at 4.0% (2008: 5.5%).

The current liabilities element of provisions became material during 2009 and the 2008 statement of financial position classification
has been restated to aid comparability. Accordingly, provisions within current liabilities and non-current liabilities were restated 
to €12.0m and €28.5m respectively.
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19  Cash flow reconciliations

a) Reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash generated from operations

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Profit for the year 121.6 71.9
Taxation credit (26.9) –
Exchange differences (13.3) 8.0
Finance costs and similar charges 9.0 22.7
Finance income (4.1) (9.3)
Depreciation and amortisation 232.4 227.6
Other non-cash items (0.8) 0.1
Income taxes paid (0.5) –
Movement in receivables 14.7 40.4
Movement in payables (8.2) 10.8
Movement in provisions (2.3) (4.6)
Net cash generated from operations 321.6 367.6

b) EBITDA reconciliation

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Net cash generated from operations 321.6 367.6
Exceptional items (see note 7) – (17.0)
Movement in receivables (14.7) (40.4)
Movement in payables 8.2 (10.8)
Movement in provisions 2.3 4.6
Income taxes paid 0.5 –
Other non-cash items 0.8 (0.1)
EBITDA 318.7 303.9

EBITDA is earnings before net finance costs, tax, depreciation, amortisation, foreign exchange, and exceptional items.

c) Free cash flow reconciliation

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

EBITDA 318.7 303.9
Exceptional items (see note 7) – 17.0
Movement in receivables 14.7 40.4
Movement in payables (8.2) 10.8
Movement in provisions (2.3) (4.6)
Income taxes paid (0.5) –
Other non-cash items (0.8) 0.1
Finance costs paid (8.5) (20.8)
Finance income received 4.6 9.0
Net cash used in investing activities (excluding purchase of current asset investments) (216.3) (310.1)
Free cash inflow 101.4 45.7

Free cash flow is net cash generated from operating activities less net cash used to purchase non-current assets and net interest paid.
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20  Analysis of net funds

Purchase of
At 31 current At 31 

December asset Repayment Exchange December
2008 investments Cash flow of debt loss 2009

€m €m €m €m €m €m

Cash and cash equivalents 273.6 – (74.5) – 0.8 199.9
Current asset investments – 110.0 – – – 110.0
Non-convertible debt (262.2) – – 262.2 – –
Total net funds 11.4 110.0 (74.5) 262.2 0.8 309.9

Analysed in the statement of financial position:
Cash and cash equivalents 273.6 199.9
Current asset investments – 110.0
Current liabilities (262.2) –
Total net funds 11.4 309.9

21  Capital and other financial commitments

At 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Contracts placed for future plant and equipment capital expenditure not provided for in the financial statements 18.4 24.6

22  Operating lease commitments

Total commitments by period under non-cancellable operating leases:

At 31 December 2009
Within Between More than

Total 1 year 1 and 5 years 5 years
€m €m €m €m

Property leases 337.7 44.8 147.6 145.3
Other 7.6 3.6 3.0 1.0

345.3 48.4 150.6 146.3

At 31 December 2008
Within 1 Between 1 More than

Total year and 5 years 5 years
€m €m €m €m

Property leases 300.3 39.5 120.5 140.3
Other 6.4 3.6 2.1 0.7

306.7 43.1 122.6 141.0

23  Contingent liabilities

There is a significant dispute between the mobile operators and the German Regulator regarding charges for mobile termination. 
In 2007 the mobile operators challenged the Regulator’s power to fix rates and whether those rates were reasonable. The courts have
judged that the Regulator did have the power to fix rates but this decision is subject to appeal and therefore the applicable level of
mobile termination rates is not expected to be finally resolved until 2011. Although the risk of an unfavourable judgement is regarded
as unlikely, if the judgement is reversed Colt may have to pay retrospectively higher charges to mobile operators without, in most
cases, being able to recover the higher charges from customers.

From time to time, the Group is subject to legal or regulatory claims, proceedings, investigations or reviews, and may have claims
against its suppliers. With the exception of the German regulatory matter set out above, there are no pending claims, proceedings,
investigations or reviews against the Group, which if determined adversely to the Group, have a material adverse effect on its 
liquidity or operations.
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24  Financial instruments

Treasury policy
The Group operates a centralised treasury department that is accountable to the Board for managing treasury activities in accordance
with a framework of treasury policies and procedures approved by the Board. The prime objective of the Treasury department 
is to optimise the return on the Group’s cash balances and to manage the working capital requirements of the Group. The Group’s
principal financial risk exposures arise from liquidity, and volatility in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. 

Liquidity risk
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an appropriate liquidity 
risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management
requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by managing adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities 
by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The Group has financed its operations historically through a mixture of issued share capital and long term senior unsecured loan
notes. The Group repaid the existing €262.2m non-convertible debt in 2009 together with €6.8m of accrued interest and at the end 
of 2009 the Group was debt-free. At 31 December 2009 the Group had an undrawn committed borrowing facility of up to €20.0m
(2008: €20.0m), which is available until further notice.

Excess cash balances are invested either in AAA unsecured money market mutual funds or placed on short term money market cash
deposits with approved counterparties (classified as current asset investments if the maturity period is greater than three months),
prior to being invested in the Group’s operating companies to fund their operations on an as needs basis.

Foreign currency risk
The majority of the Group’s transactions and balances are denominated in Euros. The Group retains an exposure to other foreign
currencies, principally in relation to Sterling transactions and balances. Fluctuation in exchange rates impact results through foreign
exchange gains or losses, as well as causing reserves movements through translation of non-Euro denominated results, assets 
and liabilities. The Group seeks to match foreign currency assets and liabilities where possible and hedging is considered for
significant foreign currency transactions.

Average and year end Sterling to Euro exchange rates used in the preparation of the financial statements for 2008 and 2009 were 
as follows:

Average rate Rate as at
for year 31 December

2009 1.123 1.126
2008 1.258 1.022

Interest rate risk
As interest is earned on short term cash deposits and current asset investments at variable as well as fixed rates, changes in interest
rates will have an impact on the amount of interest income earned. Trade receivables and payables do not present exposure to interest
rate volatility.

Concentration of credit risk
Financial assets which potentially subject the Group to concentration of credit risk consist principally of trade and other receivables,
cash and current asset investments. Cash includes short term and money market deposits as well as liquidity funds investments, all
deposited for up to three months. Current asset investments include bank deposits of 3 to 12 months duration. Management believes 
the concentration of credit risk associated with trade and other receivables is minimised due to distribution over many customers 
in different countries and in different industries. Risks associated with the Group’s cash and current asset investments are mitigated
by the fact that these amounts are placed across a number of high quality financial institutions. The Group has not experienced any
losses to date on its deposited cash or current asset investments.

Sensitivity analysis
As a result of the procedures the Group has implemented to manage foreign currency exchange risk as described above, a 10% increase
in the value of the Euro relative to other currencies would lead to a corresponding decrease in the fair value of its non-Euro denominated
cash and cash equivalents of approximately €2.4m (2008: €1.4m) and an increase in its equity translation reserve deficit of €44.2m
(2008: €36.3m). A 10% increase in interest rates across all maturities would lead to a corresponding increase in the Company’s
earnings of approximately €0.2m (2008: €0.7m) based on the interest bearing assets and liabilities held on 31 December 2009.
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Currency profile of cash and cash equivalents, and current asset investments

At 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Currency:
Euro 175.8 256.4
Swiss Franc 4.8 4.8
Swedish Krona 2.5 3.2
Sterling 10.3 5.6
US Dollar 3.0 1.2
Other 3.5 2.4
Total 199.9 273.6

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2009 comprise a mix of investments in unsecured money market 
mutual funds which earn interest at variable rates and funds deposited for fixed periods earning higher fixed rates of interest.

The Group’s current asset investments of €110.0m as at 31 December 2009 (2008: €nil) are all denominated in Euros.

Interest rate and currency profile of borrowings

At 31 December 2009
Weighted

Weighted average
average period for Total
interest which rate financial

rate is fixed liabilities
% Years €m

Euro non-convertible debt – – –

At 31 December 2008
Weighted

Weighted average
average period for Total
interest which rate financial

rate is fixed liabilities
% Years €m

Euro non-convertible debt 7.6 1 262.2

The Group’s provision of €39.8m (2008: €40.5m) for excess leased space and reinstatements (see note 18) is considered to be 
at floating rate. This is on the basis that when establishing the provision the cash flows have been discounted and the discount 
rate is subsequently re-appraised to ensure it reflects the current market assessment.

Maturity profile of borrowings

At 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

In less than one year – 262.2
– 262.2

Fair value of borrowings

Book value Fair value
At 31 December At 31 December

2009 2008 2009 2008
€m €m €m €m

Euro non-convertible debt – 262.2 – 254.4

Fair values of non-current borrowings have been estimated on the basis of market prices.
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Non-convertible notes
Colt repaid the existing Euro denominated December 1999 unsecured non-convertible notes in April 2009 together with €6.8m 
of accrued interest.

Categories of financial instruments

At 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 199.9 273.6
Current asset investments 110.0 –
Trade and other receivables1 226.7 246.8

536.6 520.4

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities held at amortised cost – 262.2
Other financial liabilities2 372.8 365.9

372.8 628.1

1  Excludes prepayments and accrued income.
2  Excludes deferred revenue.

The maximum credit risk exposure of Group financial assets is €536.6m (2008: €520.4m).

The following tables set out the contractual maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities:

As at 31 December 2009
Trade

Non-convertible and other
debt payables* Provisions Total

€m €m €m €m

2010 – 372.8 19.0 391.8
2011 – – 7.0 7.0
2012 – – 0.9 0.9
2013 – – 1.0 1.0
2014 – – 1.1 1.1
2015 and subsequent years – – 10.8 10.8
Total – 372.8 39.8 412.6

* Excluding deferred revenue and pension liability

As at 31 December 2008
Trade 

Non-convertible and other 
debt payables* Provisions Total

€m €m €m €m

2009 262.2 365.9 12.0 640.1
2010 – – 11.2 11.2
2011 – – 7.2 7.2
2012 – – 0.1 0.1
2013 – – 0.3 0.3
2014 and subsequent years – – 9.7 9.7
Total 262.2 365.9 40.5 668.6

* Excluding deferred revenue and pension liability
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At 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Financial assets pledged as collateral
Bank guarantee deposits 12.8 11.5
Other guarantee deposits 3.6 3.9

16.4 15.4

Bank guarantee deposits are restricted cash funds and credit extensions granted by banks on a country basis. Other guarantee
deposits are cash funds paid in advance to suppliers to secure contracts. These deposits have no expiry terms.

Capital risk management
The following table summarises the current capital of the Group:

At 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Cash and cash equivalents 199.9 273.6
Current asset investments 110.0 –
Short term borrowings – (262.2)
Net funds 309.9 11.4
Equity 1,273.2 942.3
Capital 1,402.9 1,723.9

The Group’s policy is to finance the Group centrally using a mixture of equity and debt, accessing both longer term capital markets
and banking markets as circumstances dictate.

25  Pension arrangements

Defined contribution schemes
The Group operates a number of defined contribution pension schemes in its subsidiaries. Pension costs are charged to the Income
Statement on an accruals basis in the period in which contributions are payable to the scheme. The pension cost for 2009 was €16.4m
(2008: €15.0m). At 31 December 2009, there were no amounts outstanding in relation to defined contribution pension schemes
(2008: €nil).

Employees in certain subsidiaries are members of pension schemes which are state sponsored multi-employer arrangements whereby
Colt contributes to a combined fund in which information specific to Colt is not available. In accordance with IAS 19 ‘Employee
Benefits’, these schemes have been accounted for as defined contribution schemes.

Defined benefit schemes
The Group operates a pension scheme in Switzerland with gross assets and liabilities which were not material prior to 2008 and which
was previously accounted for as a defined contribution scheme. The gross assets and liabilities became material in 2008, from which
date the scheme has been accounted for as defined benefit in nature. As a result the accumulated scheme deficit as at 31 December
2007 of €3.2m was recognised directly in the Retained Losses reserve in 2008 via the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The most recent actuarial valuation for this scheme was carried out at 31 December 2009. The present value of the defined benefit
deficit and the related current service cost were measured using the projected unit credit method resulting in a net defined pension
deficit of €4.5m.

The Group also operates a scheme in France whereby employees are entitled to a lump-sum payable on retirement based on final
salary and length of service. No payments are made during the employee’s service life therefore no assets are built up in the fund 
and the scheme contains only liabilities for future payments. The liability is not material, but for consistency with the Swiss scheme
has been accounted for as defined benefit from 2008. As a result, the accumulated scheme liability as at 31 December 2007 of €1.2m 
was also recognised directly in the Retained Losses reserve in 2008 via the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The most recent actuarial valuation for this scheme was carried out at 31 December 2008 and produced a defined benefit pension
liability of €1.2m. Since the scheme has only an immaterial liability with no corresponding pension scheme assets, no further detailed
disclosures regarding the scheme have been provided in this note.

The total defined benefit pension scheme impact relating to years prior to 31 December 2007 recognised directly in equity in 2008 
in the statement of comprehensive income for the Swiss and French schemes was €4.4m.
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The pension liability is composed as follows:

At 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

French scheme 1.2 1.2
Swiss scheme 4.5 5.0
Total liability 5.7 6.2

Swiss scheme
The following actuarial assumptions were adopted:

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

% %

Discount rate 3.25 3.25
Future pension increases 1.00 1.00
Expected rate of salary increases 2.50 2.50
Expected return on scheme’s assets 4.00 4.00

The overall expected rate of return on assets is calculated as the weighted average of the expected returns from each of the 
asset classes. The expected return on assets assumption is derived by considering the expected long term rates of return on 
plan investments.

Measurement of the defined benefit pension obligation is particularly sensitive to changes in certain key assumptions, including the
discount rate. An increase or decrease of 0.5% in the discount rate would result in a respective €1.7m decrease or a €2.0m increase 
in the defined benefit obligation. Mortality tables used are the ‘BVG’ 2005 tables. The assumed average life expectancy of a pensioner
at retirement is 21.85 years for women (2008: 21.85 years) and 17.9 years for men (2008: 17.9 years).

Amounts expensed in the income statement in respect of the defined benefit scheme are set out below:

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Current service cost (2.1) (1.8)
Interest cost (0.7) (0.6)
Expected return on scheme’s assets 0.6 0.6

(2.2) (1.8)

Current service costs have been included in selling, general and administrative expenses. Interest costs and expected return on the
scheme’s assets have been included in other finance costs and similar charges. The cumulative actuarial loss recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income is €5.2m.

The amount included in the Statement of Financial Position arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of defined benefit
retirement schemes is as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Present value of defined benefit obligations (22.0) (21.0)
Fair value of scheme assets 17.5 16.0
Liability recognised in the statement of financial position (4.5) (5.0)
Deferred tax asset 0.6 –
Net pension obligation (3.9) (5.0)
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Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

At beginning of year (21.0) (18.6)
Current service cost (2.1) (1.8)
Interest cost (0.7) (0.6)
Benefits paid out 1.5 0.7
Actuarial gains (losses) 0.5 (0.6)
Foreign exchange (0.2) (0.1)
At end of year (22.0) (21.0)

Movements in the fair value of scheme assets were as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

At beginning of year 16.0 15.4
Expected return on plan assets 0.6 0.6
Employer contributions 1.9 1.8
Benefits paid out (1.5) (0.7)
Actuarial gains (losses) 0.5 (1.2)
Foreign exchange – 0.1
At end of year 17.5 16.0

Allocated as follows:

€m €m

Cash 0.2 0.2
Bonds 10.7 10.3
Equities 3.4 2.3
Property 2.4 2.5
Other 0.8 0.7

17.5 16.0

All pension assets are insured.

The history of experience adjustments and change in assumption adjustments is as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

€m €m

Present value of defined benefit obligations (22.0) (21.0)
Fair value of the scheme’s assets 17.5 16.0
Deficit in scheme (4.5) (5.0)

Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities 0.5 (0.5)
Experience adjustments on scheme assets 0.5 (1.3)
Total actuarial gain (loss) 1.0 (1.8)

The estimated amount of cash contributions expected to be paid to the schemes during the year ended 31 December 2010 is €2.0m.
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26  Transactions with related entities

Pursuant to a contract with the Group, certain FMR LLC (‘FMR’), Devonshire Investors and Fidelity Shared Services Ireland Ltd
employees provide consulting and other services to the Group at agreed rates. The fees for these services for the year ended 
31 December 2009 were approximately €2.8m (2008: €3.3m) for FMR LLC employees, €1.0m (2008: €0.8m) for Devonshire Investors
employees and €nil (2008: €0.1m) for Fidelity Shared Services Ireland Ltd. At 31 December 2009, there were balances outstanding 
to FMR LLC, Devonshire Investors and for Fidelity Shared Services Ireland Ltd of €0.5m (2008: €2.3m), €0.3m (2008: €0.4m) and 
€nil (2008: €0.1m) respectively.

An amount of €6.6m was billed during 2009 to FIL and its subsidiaries for Voice, Data and Managed Services (2008: €8.7m). 
At 31 December 2009 there were balances outstanding from FIL and its subsidiaries of €1.1m (2008: €1.5m).

During the year an amount of €1.0m (2008: €0.9m) was billed by FIL for software and support services and at 31 December 2009
€0.5m (2008: €0.2m) was due to FIL.

An amount of €2.8m was billed during 2009 to HR Access, a subsidiary of FMR, for Data services (2008: €2.4m) and at 31 December
2009 €0.3m was due from HR Access (2008: €0.3m).

During the year the Group billed KVH €2.8m (2008: €0.6m) in respect of offshoring services as part of a business process outsourcing
contract and at 31 December 2009 €0.3m was due from KVH (2008: €0.3m).

The UK pension scheme is administered by FIL Pensions Management which is a wholly owned subsidiary of FIL. The fees for this
service for the year ended 31 December 2009 were €nil (2008: €0.1m).

During the year an amount of €0.3m was paid to J Robert Scott Executive Search for recruitment fees (2008: €0.2m).

During the year the Group entered into a number of currency transactions with FMR in response to currency needs which arose 
in the normal course of business. The total amount of currency purchased in this way was €109.3m (2008: €16.4m).

The Company has entered into an agreement with FIL Investments Luxembourg S.A. for administrative services for a charge 
of €0.1m (2008: €0.1m).

The Open Offer announced and completed during 2009 was fully underwritten by FMR and FIL. On completion of the Open Offer,
FMR and FIL subscribed for shares in COLT Telecom Group S.A., at market value, for €94.3m and €72.0m respectively.
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27  Subsidiary undertakings

The Company is the holding company of the Group and has the following principal operating subsidiary undertakings, each of which
is a private company operating in its country of incorporation. The Company holds 100% of the allotted capital of all of its operating
subsidiaries through intermediate holding companies and their results are included in the consolidated financial statements. 
The financial year end of all subsidiary undertakings is 31 December with the exception of COLT Technology Services India Private
Limited which is 31 March.

Country of 
Name incorporation Principal activities

COLT Telecom Group Limited United Kingdom Management, administration and treasury services

COLT Telecommunications (unlimited company) United Kingdom Telecommunications and internet services provider

COLT Telecom GmbH Germany Telecommunications and internet services provider

COLT Télécommunications France SAS France Telecommunications and internet services provider

COLT Telecom AG Switzerland Telecommunications and internet services provider

COLT Telecom SpA Italy Telecommunications and internet services provider

COLT Telecom España SA Spain Telecommunications and internet services provider

COLT Telecom BV The Netherlands Telecommunications and internet services provider

COLT Telecom SA Belgium Telecommunications and internet services provider

COLT Telecom Austria GmbH Austria Telecommunications and internet services provider

COLT Telecom AB Sweden Telecommunications services provider

COLT Internet US Corp. USA Intra Group internet services provider

COLT Telecom US Corp. USA Intra Group telecommunications services provider

COLT Telecom A/S Denmark Telecommunications and internet services provider

COLT Telecom A.S. Norway Telecommunications and internet services provider

COLT Telecom – Serviços de Telecomunições, Unipessoal Lda Portugal Telecommunications and internet services provider

COLT Telecom Ireland Limited Ireland Telecommunications and internet services provider

COLT Telecom Finland OY Finland Telecommunications and internet services provider

COLT Technology Services India Private Limited India Intra Group support services

COLT Telecom CSC, S.L. Spain Customer support services
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Group income statement (after exceptional items)

Year ended 31 December
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

€m €m €m €m €m

Revenue 1,821.7 1,801.0 1,679.6 1,675.4 1,622.5

Cost of sales
Interconnect and network (1,190.9) (1,166.2) (1,032.9) (998.7) (964.6)
Network depreciation (620.2) (216.3) (193.9) (197.0) (198.0)

(1,811.1) (1,382.5) (1,226.8) (1,195.7) (1,162.6)

Gross profit 10.6 418.5 452.8 479.7 459.9

Operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative (377.1) (373.2) (369.3) (355.8) (339.2)
Other depreciation and amortisation (72.8) (29.9) (28.2) (30.6) (34.4)

(449.9) (403.1) (397.5) (386.4) (373.6)

Operating profit (loss) (439.3) 15.4 55.3 93.3 86.3

Other income (expense)
Finance income 17.0 9.7 8.2 9.3 4.1
Finance costs and similar charges (67.6) (44.8) (23.6) (22.7) (9.0)
Profit on repurchase of debt 0.4 – – – –
Exchange gain (loss) (0.3) 0.9 (0.7) (8.0) 13.3

(50.5) (34.2) (16.1) (21.4) 8.4

Profit (loss) on ordinary activities before taxation (489.8) (18.8) 39.2 71.9 94.7
Taxation – – – – 26.9
Profit (loss) for the year (489.8) (18.8) 39.2 71.9 121.6

Basic earnings (loss) per share €(0.97) €(0.03) €0.06 €0.11 €0.14

Diluted earnings (loss) per share €(0.97) €(0.03) €0.06 €0.11 €0.14

Operating profit (loss) after exceptional items (439.3) 15.4 55.3 93.3 86.3

Exceptional items:
Cost of sales – – – (17.0) –
Network depreciation 334.7 – – – –
Selling, general and administrative – 9.3 – – –
Other depreciation and amortisation 25.5 – – – –

Operating profit (loss) before exceptional items (79.1) 24.7 55.3 76.3 86.3

EBITDA1 253.7 270.9 277.4 303.9 318.7

1 EBITDA is earnings before net finance costs, tax, depreciation, amortisation, foreign exchange, and exceptional items.
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Group statement of financial position

At 31 December
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

€m €m €m €m €m

Non current assets 1,272.2 1,265.5 1,276.1 1,260.6 1,306.1
Current assets 675.8 554.2 552.7 541.6 577.8
Total assets 1,948.0 1,819.7 1,828.8 1,802.2 1,883.9

Equity shareholders’ funds 495.3 924.4 936.7 942.3 1,273.2
Creditors 1,400.7 849.1 847.8 819.4 570.9
Provisions for liabilities and charges 52.0 46.2 44.3 40.5 39.8
Total liabilities, capital and reserves 1,948.0 1,819.7 1,828.8 1,802.2 1,883.9

Group cash flow statement of cash flows

Year ended 31 December
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

€m €m €m €m €m

Net cash generated from operating activities 228.9 285.6 310.0 367.6 321.6
Net cash used in investing activities (182.8) (229.4) (259.7) (310.1) (326.3)
Net finance costs (35.4) (37.1) (13.0) (11.8) (3.9)
Issue of ordinary shares net of issue costs 1.4 444.9 0.2 0.6 –
Open Offer proceeds net of costs recognised directly in equity – – – – 186.6
Exceptional foreign exchange gain on Open Offer proceeds – – – – 9.7
Loan finance 15.0 (15.0) – – –
Redemption of debt (348.0) (583.4) – – (262.2)
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents (320.9) (134.4) 37.5 46.3 (74.5)

Free cash inflow 10.7 19.1 37.3 45.7 101.4
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Company only Annual Accounts 
for the year ended 31 December 2009

COLT Telecom Group S.A.
K2 Building
Forte 1
2a Rue Albert Borschette
L-1246 Luxembourg



Overview
COLT Telecom Group S.A. (‘Colt S.A.’ or ‘the Company’) is the
parent company of the COLT Telecom Group S.A. Group. The
Company, together with its subsidiaries, is referred to as ‘Colt’ 
or ‘the Group’. The Group is a leading provider of business
communications offering Data, Voice and Managed Services 
to Major Enterprise and SME businesses and Wholesale
customers across Europe. Colt S.A. was incorporated 
in Luxembourg on 13 April 2006 and is listed on the 
London Stock Exchange. 

Colt has evolved from its origins as a UK-centric business 
to a pan-European multinational business. With over 80% 
of Colt’s revenue and 80% of its network assets being based 
in mainland Europe and a significant number of key pan-European
customers, the business is best served with a holding company
domiciled in mainland Europe, and in a country with strong 
EU credentials.

Financial performance and position
The Company is the holding company for the Group and 
as such it does not trade on its own account. The Company
publishes consolidated accounts which contain the full
consolidated results of the Group.

The Group generated total revenue of €1,622.5m (2008:
€1,675.4m), EBITDA of €318.7m (2008: €303.9m) and a net
profit excluding exceptional items of €111.9m (2008: €54.9m).
The Group had total assets at 31 December 2009 of €1,883.9m
(2008: €1,802.2m) and net assets of €1,273.2m (2008: €942.3m). 

The Company had net assets at 31 December 2009 
of €1,904.0m (2008: €1,716.4m) including €1,908.1m 
(2008: €1,718.7m) of investments in subsidiaries 
(all subsidiaries in the Group are 100% owned).

The net loss of Colt S.A. for the year ended 31 December 2009
was €1.7m (2008: €1.2m). 

Shares in affiliated undertakings
An impairment review was performed in respect of COLT Telecom
Group S.A.’s shares in affiliated undertakings.

The value in use calculation supported the carrying value 
of COLT Telecom Group S.A.’s shares in affiliated undertakings.

The value in use calculation was derived from a cash flow
forecast based on the Group’s most recent budget approved 
by management. The cash flow forecast is sensitive to material
changes in key assumptions, including those relating to Data
and Managed Services revenue growth, Data and Managed
Services profit margins, customer churn, and capital expenditure.
The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is estimated
by reference to the Group’s weighted average cost of capital,
calculated to be 10.2% for 2009. Thus, in the opinion of the
Board of Directors, there is no durable depreciation in the value
of the shares in affiliated undertakings and accordingly no value
adjustment was required at 31 December 2009.

COLT Telecom Group S.A. / Annual Report 2009 90

Directors’ report

Equity
Colt S.A. had issued share capital and share premium at 
31 December 2009 of €1,402.9m divided into 891,494,232 fully
paid shares with a nominal value of €0.50 per share. As at 
31 December 2009, the Company did not directly hold any 
of its own shares. 

Colt announced and completed an Open Offer issue of
210,963,549 ordinary shares during Q1 2009. Total proceeds
from this Sterling denominated share issue converted at the
spot rate were €189.4m before expenses.

As part of the Open Offer process, the shareholders approved 
a reduction in the nominal value of the ordinary shares from
€1.25 per share to €0.50 per share. Accordingly, the amount 
of the Group’s issued share capital in relation to the 680,527,576
existing shares at that time was reduced by €510.4m and
transferred to distributable reserves. The Open Offer shares
were also issued at a nominal value of €0.50 per share.

Internal controls and processes
The Group’s back office accounting processes are principally
performed at a shared service centre in India. A major project
to create a new billing system for the Group was completed
during the year.

Likely future developments
The Group continues to focus on its core strategy of increasing
revenue from Data and Managed Services whilst maintaining
tight control over operating costs.

Board of Directors
The following people were Directors of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2009 and up to the date of this report
unless otherwise specified:

A Barth
T Bates
V Damiani
G Gabbard
H F van den Hoven
R Walsh
H Eggerstedt
Dr R Hawley (resigned 22 July 2009)
T Hilton 
R Bhasin
S Haslam
M Ferrari (appointed 1 January 2009)
S Giacoletto (appointed 22 July 2009) 
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Article 11 report
The following disclosures are made in compliance with Article
11 of the Luxembourg Law on Take Overs of 19 May 2006.

a) Share capital structure
COLT Telecom Group S.A. has issued one class of shares 
which are admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange. 
No other securities have been issued by COLT Telecom Group S.A.
The issued share capital of COLT Telecom Group S.A. as of 
31 December 2009 amounts to €1,402,883,529 represented 
by 891,494,232 shares. COLT Telecom Group S.A. has a total
authorised share capital of €1,250,000,000. All shares issued 
by COLT Telecom Group S.A. have equal rights as provided for
by Luxembourg Company Law and as set forth in the articles 
of association of COLT Telecom Group S.A.

b) Transfer restrictions
As of the AGM 2009, all the COLT Telecom Group S.A. shares
are freely transferable but shall be subject to the restrictions 
on shareholdings set forth in Chapter 8 of the Articles 
of Association.

c) Major shareholdings
The details of shareholders holding more than three per cent 
of issued share capital of COLT Telecom Group S.A. as known
to COLT Telecom Group S.A. are set forth on page 32. 

d) Special contract rights
The issued and outstanding shares of COLT Telecom Group S.A.
have all equal voting rights and there are no special control
rights attaching to shares of COLT Telecom Group S.A. 

e) Control system in employee share scheme
COLT Telecom Group S.A. is not aware of any issues regarding
section e) of Article 11 of the Luxembourg Law on Take Overs
of 19 May 2006.

f) Voting rights
Each share issued and outstanding in COLT Telecom Group S.A.
represents one vote. The Articles of Association of COLT
Telecom Group S.A. do not provide for any voting restrictions.
In accordance with the Articles of Association a record date for
the admission to a general meeting may be set. The Articles 
of Association further provide that certificates on the
shareholdings and proxies be received by the Company 
a certain time before the date of the relevant meeting. 
In accordance with the Articles of Association the Board 
of Directors may determine such other conditions that must 
be fulfilled by shareholders for them to take part in any 
meeting of shareholders in person or by proxy. 

g) Shareholders’ agreements with transfer restrictions
COLT Telecom Group S.A. has no information about any
agreements between shareholders, which may result 
in restrictions on the transfer of securities or voting rights. 

h) Appointment of board members, amendment of Articles 
of Association
The appointment and replacement of Board members and 
the amendment of Articles of Association are governed by
Luxembourg Law and the Articles of Association (in particular
Chapters 3 and 4) that are published on www.colt.net.

i) Powers of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is vested with the broadest powers 
to manage the business of the Company and to authorise 
and perform all acts of disposal and administration falling
within the purposes of the Company.

In common with the Articles of Association of other
Luxembourg public limited companies, the Company’s Articles
of Association provide full power to the Board to issue shares
on a non-pre-emptive basis, but the Board has confirmed that,
as a matter of policy it intends to comply with the pre-emption
guidelines supported by the Association of British Insurers and
the National Association of Pension Funds to the extent
practical for a Luxembourg company. Furthermore, the Board
may purchase, acquire or receive COLT Telecom Group S.A.’s
own shares in the Company up to ten per cent of the issued
share capital from time to time on behalf of COLT Telecom
Group S.A., subject to prior authorisation by the General
Meeting of shareholders and on such terms as the Board 
may decide in accordance with the law. 

j) Significant agreements
The Board of Directors is not aware of any significant
agreements to which COLT Telecom Group S.A. is a party and
which take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control
of the Company following a takeover bid, and the effects thereof. 

k) Agreements with directors and employees
No agreements between COLT Telecom Group S.A. and 
its board members or employees exist that provide for
compensation if the board members or employees resign 
or are made redundant without valid reason or if their
employment ceases because of a takeover bid or other than 
as disclosed in the Remuneration Report on page 49. 

The annual accounts on pages 93 to 100 were approved by the
Board of Directors on 25 February 2010 and signed on their
behalf by

Rakesh Bhasin / Chief Executive Officer
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Independent auditors’ report to the shareholders of COLT Telecom Group S.A.

Independent Auditor’s report to the Shareholders 
of COLT Telecom Group S.A.

Report on the annual accounts
We have audited the accompanying annual accounts 
of COLT Telecom Group S.A., which comprise the balance
sheet as at 31 December 2009 and the profit and loss
account for the year ended 31 December 2009 and 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

Board of Directors’ responsibility for the annual accounts
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation
and fair presentation of these annual accounts in
accordance with the Luxembourg legal and regulatory
requirements relating to the preparation of the annual
accounts. This responsibility includes: designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant 
to the preparation and fair presentation of annual accounts
that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates 
that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual
accounts based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing as
adopted by the “Institut des Réviseurs d’Entreprises”.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the annual accounts are 
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the annual
accounts. The procedures selected depend on the Auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the annual accounts, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the Auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the annual accounts in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by the Board of Directors, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
annual accounts. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, these accompanying annual accounts give 
a true and fair view of the financial position of COLT
Telecom Group S.A. as at 31 December 2009, and of its
operations for the year then ended in accordance with
Luxembourg legal and regulatory requirements relating 
to the preparation of the annual accounts.

Report on other Legal Regulatory Requirements
The Directors’ report, which is the responsibility of the
Board of Directors, is in accordance with the annual accounts.

PricewaterhouseCoopers S.à r.l. Luxembourg
Luxembourg, 25 February 2010
Réviseur d’entreprises
Represented by

Marc Minet

R.C.S Luxembourg B65 477 TVA LU17564447
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Balance sheet

At 31 December
2009 2008

Notes € €

ASSETS
Formation expenses 3 788,256 1,284,156

Fixed assets
Financial assets

Shares in affiliated undertakings 4 1,908,082,249 1,718,691,998

Current assets
Cash at bank 647 76,282
Prepayments 48,418 50,944
Amount owed from affiliated undertakings 8 156,432 156,432
TOTAL ASSETS 1,909,076,002 1,720,259,812

LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Subscribed capital 5 445,747,119 850,659,473
Share premium 5 957,136,410 873,228,170
Other reserve 5 510,395,682 –
Loss brought forward 10 (7,533,006) (6,323,148)
Loss for the financial year (1,724,952) (1,209,858)

1,904,021,253 1,716,354,637

Creditors
Amounts owed to affiliated undertakings becoming due and payable within one year 9 5,054,749 3,557,248
Other creditors becoming due and payable within one year – 347,927
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,909,076,002 1,720,259,812
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Profit and loss

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

Notes € €

CHARGES
Directors’ fees 424,976 425,289 
Value adjustments in respect of formation expenses 3 495,900 495,900 
Other administration expenses 11 515,750 66,999 
Interest payable and similar charges 241,237 186,636
Interest receivable (911) (12,966)
Other taxes 12 48,000 48,000 
TOTAL CHARGES 1,724,952 1,209,858 

INCOME
Loss for the financial year 1,724,952 1,209,858 
TOTAL INCOME 1,724,952 1,209,858 
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Notes to the annual accounts

1  General

The Company was incorporated in Luxembourg on 13 April 2006 as a ‘société anonyme’ subject to Luxembourg law for an unlimited
period of time. The status of the Company was changed on 27 June 2006 to become a billionaire 1929 Company in accordance with
the law of 31 July 1929 concerning the fiscal regime of Holding companies. The Company has its registered office at K2 Building,
Forte 1, 2a rue Albert Borschette, L-1246 Luxembourg. 

The objects of the Company are: participation in any manner in all commercial, industrial, financial and other enterprises 
of Luxembourg or foreign nationality through the acquisition by participation, subscription, purchase, option or by any other 
means of all shares, stocks, debentures, bonds or securities; the acquisition of patents and licenses which it will administer and
exploit; it may lend or borrow with or without security, provided that any monies so borrowed may only be used for the purposes 
of the Company, or companies which are subsidiaries of or associated with or affiliated to the Company; in general it may undertake 
any operations directly or indirectly connected with these objects whilst nevertheless remaining within the limits set out by the 
31 July 1929 law on holding companies. 

The Company also prepares consolidated financial statements which are published according to the provisions of the law. 

2  Basis of preparation and accounting policies

The annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with Luxembourg legal and regulatory requirements. The accounting policies
and valuation rules (with the exception of those specified by the Law) are determined and applied by the Board of Directors. Certain
prior period comparatives have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.

Accounting period
These annual accounts were prepared for the year to 31 December 2009. 

Financial assets
The shares in affiliated undertakings are stated at cost. In case of a durable depreciation in value according to the opinion of the
Board of Directors, value adjustments are made in respect of fixed assets, so that they are valued at the lower figure to be attributed
to them at the balance sheet date. These value adjustments are not continued if the reasons for which the value adjustments were
made have ceased to apply. 

Details of the Company’s direct subsidiary undertakings are set out in note 4 to the annual accounts.

Currency translation
The Company maintains its books and records in Euros. The balance sheet is expressed in this currency. 

Formation expenses, intangible, tangible and financial assets denominated in currencies other than the Euro are translated at their
historical exchange rates.

Other assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the Euro are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date
of the balance sheet, unless this would lead to unrealised exchange gains.

Formation expenses
Formation expenses include costs in connection with the incorporation of the Company and eventual capital increases. Formation
expenses are amortised on a straight-line basis at an annual rate of 20%.

Prepayments
This item includes expenditure incurred during the financial year but relating to a subsequent financial year.



3  Formation expenses

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

€ €

Gross book value
Opening and closing balance 2,524,503 2,524,503 

Amortisation
Opening balance 1,240,347 744,447 
Amortisation for the period 495,900 495,900 
Closing balance 1,736,247 1,240,347 

Opening net book value 1,284,156 1,780,056 

Closing net book value 788,256 1,284,156 

4  Shares in affiliated undertakings

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

€ €

Cost and net book value
Opening balance 1,718,691,998 1,718,691,998 
Additions 189,390,251 – 
Closing balance 1,908,082,249 1,718,691,998 

The list of affiliated undertakings held as at 31 December 2009 is as follows:

Net equity at Net loss
31 Dec 2009 for the year

Investment value € €

COLT Lux Holding S.à r.l. – 100% 1,908,082,249 1,942,832,173 (87,193)

All subsidiaries have a balance sheet date of 31 December.

Indicator of impairment
An impairment review was performed in respect of COLT Telecom Group S.A.’s shares in affiliated undertakings.

The value in use calculation supported the carrying value of COLT Telecom Group S.A.’s shares in affiliated undertakings.

The value in use calculation was derived from a cash flow forecast based on the Group’s most recent budget approved 
by management. The cash flow forecast is sensitive to material changes in key assumptions, including those relating to Data and
Managed Services revenue growth, Data and Managed Services profit margins, customer churn, and capital expenditure. The rate
used to discount the forecast cash flows is estimated by reference to the Group’s weighted average cost of capital, calculated 
to be 10.2% for 2009. Thus, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, there is no durable depreciation in the value of the shares 
in affiliated undertakings and accordingly no value adjustment was required at 31 December 2009.
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Notes to the annual accounts / continued

5  Subscribed and authorised capital

The Company’s authorised capital is €1,250,000,000 represented by 2,500,000,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value of €0.50 each.
The subscribed share capital at 31 December 2009 is represented by 891,494,232 fully paid ordinary shares of €0.50 each as set 
out below. All shares have the same rights and entitlements.

Ordinary shares Share capital Share premium Total 
Issued share capital No. € € €

As at 1 January 2009 680,527,576 850,659,473 873,228,170 1,723,887,643 
Issued during the period 210,966,656 105,483,328 83,908,240 189,391,568 
Reduction in nominal share capital – (510,395,682) – (510,395,682)
As at 31 December 2009 891,494,232 445,747,119 957,136,410 1,402,883,529 

Colt S.A. announced and completed an Open Offer issue of 210,963,549 ordinary shares during Q1 2009. Total proceeds from this
Sterling denominated share issue converted at the spot rate were €189.4m before expenses. 

As part of the Open Offer process, the shareholders approved a reduction in the nominal value of the ordinary shares from €1.25 per
share to €0.50 per share. Accordingly, the amount of the Group’s issued share capital in relation to the 680,527,576 existing shares 
at that time was reduced by €510.4m and transferred to distributable reserves. The Open Offer shares were also issued at a nominal
value of €0.50 per share.



6  Share option plans

Previous COLT Telecom Group plc plan
Group Share Plan (‘Option Plan’)
Options were granted at an option price which was not less than the market value of the ordinary shares on the date of grant. 
All option awards since July 2003 have been subject to performance tests. No further grants will be made under this Option Plan.

Details of grants made under the Option Plan are set out below:

Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
Date Exercise Dates of Date of Options at 31 Dec in the in the in the at 31 Dec
of grant price (£) vesting expiration granted 2008 year year year 2009

Mar 99 33.90 Mar 00 to Mar 04 Mar 09 330,000 53,662 – – (53,662) –
May 99 36.75 May 00 to May 04 May 09 195,000 15,998 – – (15,998) –
Aug 99 38.22 Aug 00 to Aug 04 Aug 09 310,000 42,330 – – (42,330) –
Nov 99 63.00 Nov 00 to Nov 04 Nov 09 266,833 33,165 – – (33,165) –
Dec 99 73.17 Dec 00 to Dec 04 Dec 09 246,666 44,984 – – (44,984) –
Feb 00 108.54 Feb 01 to Feb 05 Feb 10 248,333 24,159 – – (3,332) 20,827
May 00 67.83 May 01 to May 05 May 10 264,166 59,983 – – (2,499) 57,484
Jun 00 79.98 Jun 01 to Jun 05 Jun 10 282,000 49,320 – – (4,999) 44,321
Aug 00 57.48 Aug 01 to Aug 05 Aug 10 393,833 80,650 – – (1,666) 78,984
Aug 00 53.19 Aug 01 to Aug 05 Aug 10 105,833 10,827 – – (1,666) 9,161
Nov 00 58.44 Nov 01 to Nov 05 Nov 10 266,666 74,145 – – (8,331) 65,814
Dec 00 45.54 Dec 01 to Dec 05 Dec 10 252,440 65,122 – – (2,498) 62,624
Feb 01 40.11 Feb 02 to Feb 06 Feb 11 800,347 93,475 – – (6,998) 86,477
May 01 25.32 May 02 to May 06 May 11 288,833 37,156 – – – 37,156
Jun 01 21.30 Jun 02 to Jun 06 Jun 11 896,250 258,109 – – (21,657) 236,452
Aug 01 9.66 Aug 02 to Aug 06 Aug 11 488,166 87,310 – – (10,831) 76,479
Nov 01 5.16 Nov 02 to Nov 06 Nov 11 77,000 8,499 – – – 8,499
Dec 01 4.68 Dec 02 to Dec 06 Dec 11 470,166 193,420 – – (10,323) 183,097
Feb 02 1.23 Feb 03 to Feb 07 Feb 12 1,562,833 175,673 – – (29,330) 146,343
May 02 1.35 May 03 to May 07 May 12 24,166 4,998 – – – 4,998
Jul 02 1.44 Jul 03 to Jul 07 Jul 12 1,867,433 538,239 – – (35,274) 502,965
May 03 1.47 May 04 to May 08 May 13 16,666 6,667 – – – 6,667
Jul 03 2.31 Jul 06 to Jul 08 Jul 13 2,387,000 828,292 – – (73,329) 754,963
Feb 04 3.39 Feb 07 to Feb 09 Feb 14 20,000 6,666 – – – 6,666
Apr 04 2.52 Apr 07 to Apr 09 Apr 14 6,666 6,666 – – – 6,666
May 04 2.31 May 07 to May 09 May 14 166,666 166,666 – – – 166,666
Mar 06 2.19 Mar 09 to Mar 11 Mar 16 13,333 13,333 – – (4,800) 8,533

2,979,514 – – (407,672) 2,571,842

Weighted average exercise price of options £16.08 – – £30.13 £13.85
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Colt Savings-Related Share Option Scheme 
The Colt Savings-Related Share Option Scheme (the ‘SAYE Scheme’) was adopted on 28 April 2006 and operates for the benefit 
of all eligible employees. Under the SAYE scheme, employees may save between £5 and £250 a month with a savings institution and
are granted options to acquire shares in the Company. After a three year period, employees can use the proceeds of their savings
account to exercise the options at a price established at the beginning of the three year period. 

Details of grants made under the SAYE Scheme are set out below:

Date of Exercise Date of Options Outstanding Granted in Exercised Lapsed in Outstanding
grant price (£) vesting granted at 31 Dec 08 the year in the year1 the year at 31 Dec 09

December 20042 1.29 March 2009 67,443 53,882 – – (53,882) –
December 20052 1.71 March 2010 80,272 70,172 – – (44,870) 25,302
December 2005 1.74 March 2009 1,252,647 488,519 – – (488,519) –
December 20062 1.41 March 2011 92,971 92,971 – – (60,263) 32,708
December 2006 1.43 March 2010 1,175,623 515,310 – – (186,009) 329,301
December 20072 1.70 March 2012 10,293 10,293 – – (4,117) 6,176
December 2007 1.77 March 2011 482,797 231,629 – – (83,107) 148,522
December 20082 0.62 March 2013 147,304 147,304 – – – 147,304
December 2008 0.65 March 2012 1,845,922 1,845,922 – (1,846) (110,014) 1,734,062
December 20092 1.24 March 2014 147,304 – 36,573 – – 36,573
December 2009 1.21 March 2013 1,845,922 – 1,302,531 – (7,500) 1,295,031

3,456,002 1,339,104 (1,846) (1,038,281) 3,754,979

Weighted average exercise price of options £1.05 £1.21 £0.65 £1.52 £0.98

1 Of the options exercised in the year, 1,846 were early exercises
2 Each option holder entered into a four year savings contract

Colt Deferred Bonus Plan
The Colt Deferred Bonus Plan (the ‘Deferred Bonus Plan’) was adopted on 28 April 2006. The Deferred Share Bonus Plan allows
grants of awards over matching shares based on shares purchased by participants with monies earned under the annual bonus plan.
The award of matching shares is subject to performance conditions the same or similar to those relating to the Share Grant Plan.
Participants must hold the shares for three years to obtain matching shares. No awards were made during 2009. 

Details of grants made under the Deferred Bonus Plan are set out below:

Date of Date of Number Outstanding Granted in Exercised in Lapsed in Outstanding
grant vesting granted at 31 Dec 08 the year the year the year at 31 Dec 09

Apr 06 Apr 09 6,529 4,504 – (1,261) (3,243) –

On 22 March 1999 an Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) was established, and on 31 December 2009 it held 43,737 shares (2008: 52,746).
These shares can be used to satisfy the Company’s obligations under the Deferred Bonus Plan. 



7  Legal reserve

In accordance with Luxembourg law, the Company is required to transfer a minimum of 5% of its net profit for each financial year 
to a legal reserve. This requirement ceases to be necessary once the balance on the legal reserve reaches 10% of the issued share
capital. The legal reserve is not available for distribution to the shareholders. No amounts have been transferred to a legal reserve
during the current or prior periods as the Company has not yet made a profit. 

8  Amounts owed by affiliated undertakings

All amounts owed by affiliated undertakings are due and payable within one year.

9  Amounts owed to affiliated undertakings

All amounts owed to affiliated undertakings are due and payable within one year.

10  Movements for the year on the profit and loss items

Loss Loss for
brought the financial
forward year

€ €

As at 1 January 2009 (6,323,148) (1,209,858)
Movements for the year

Allocation of the prior period’s losses (1,209,858) 1,209,858 
Loss for the year – (1,724,952)

As at 31 December 2009 (7,533,006) (1,724,952)

11  Other administration expenses

Other administration expenses includes professional fees, travel costs and other miscellaneous items.

12  Other taxes

The Company qualifies as a billionaire 1929 holding company in accordance with the law of 31 July 1929. As such it is exempt 
from corporation tax but instead pays a special income tax which is calculated on distributed dividends, interest on securities 
and remuneration paid to directors. The amount payable in respect of this tax was €48,000 (2008: €48,000).

13  Related party transactions

During the year the Company together with the Colt Luxembourg subsidiaries received administrative support from 
FIL (Luxembourg) S.A. for a charge of €65,000 per annum (2008: €65,000). As at 31 December 2009, €32,500 was due 
to FIL (Luxembourg) S.A. (2008: €32,500).

The Company and the other Colt Luxembourg subsidiaries have a sub-lease agreement with FIL (Luxembourg) S.A. for the
Luxembourg office space. The charge for this in 2009 was €28,116 (2008: €28,114). 

The Open Offer announced and completed during 2009 was fully underwritten by FMR and FIL. On completion of the Open Offer,
FMR and FIL subscribed for shares in COLT Telecom Group S.A., at market value, for €94.3m and €72.0m respectively.
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Colt’s principal European offices 

This report is printed on paper produced from ECF (elemental chlorine free) fibres which
are FSC (Forest Stewardship Council) certified, plus up to 70 per cent recycled fibre.

Designed by www.randallwilkinson.co.uk 
Printed by Royle Print

Investor information

Austria  www.colt.net/at
COLT Telecom Austria GmbH
Kärntner Ring 10-12
A-1010 Vienna
MD Austria: Semih Caliskan
Tel: +43 1 20 500 0

Belgium  www.colt.net/be
COLT Telecom NV
Culliganlaan 2H
1831 Diegem
MD Belgium: Ronny De Goedt
Tel: +32 2 790 16 16

Denmark  www.colt.net/dk
COLT Telecom A/S
Borgmester Christiansens Gade 55
2450 Copenhagen SV
MD Denmark: Per Soerensen
Tel: +45 70 21 23 30

France  www.colt.net/fr
COLT Telecommunications France SAS
23-27 rue Pierre Valette
92247 Malakoff Cedex
MD France: Michel Calmejane
Tel: +33 1 70 99 55 00

Germany  www.colt.net/de
COLT Telecom GmbH
Herriotstraße 4
D-60528 Frankfurt
MD Germany: Dr. Jürgen Hernichel
Tel: +49 69 56606 0

Italy  www.colt.net/it
COLT Telecom SpA
Viale E. Jenner 56
20159 Milan
MD Italy: Achille De Tommaso
Tel: +39 02 30 333 1

Netherlands  www.colt.net/nl
COLT Telecom BV
Van der Madeweg 12-14a
Postbus 94014
1090 GA Amsterdam
MD Netherlands: Peter Veenman
Tel: +31 20 888 2020

Portugal  www.colt.net/pt
COLT Telecom Serviços de
Telecomunicações Unipessoal Lda
Estrada da Outurela, 118
Parque Holanda,
Edificio B1
2790-114 Carnaxide
MD Portugal: Carlos Jesus
Tel: +351 21 120 00 00

Republic of Ireland  www.colt.net/ie
COLT Telecom Ireland Limited
15-16 Docklands Innovation Park
East Wall Road
Dublin 3
MD Ireland: Gary Keogh
Tel: +353 1436 5900

Spain www.colt.net/es
COLT Telecom España S.A.U.
C/ Telémaco 5
28027 Madrid
MD Spain: Angel Rojo-Diez
Tel: +34 91 789 9000

Sweden  www.colt.net/se
COLT Telecom AB
PO Box 3458
Luntmakargatan 18
SE – 103 69 Stockholm
MD Sweden: Fredrik Rahme
Tel: +46 8 781 80 00

Switzerland  www.colt.net/ch
COLT Telecom Switzerland GmbH
Mürtschenstrasse 27
CH – 8048 Zürich
MD Switzerland: Hans Jörg Denzler
Tel: +41 58 560 16 00

United Kingdom  www.colt.net
COLT Telecommunications
Beaufort House
15 St. Botolph Street
London EC3A 7QN
MD UK: Henri van der Vaeren
Tel: +44 20 7390 3900

Listing
Ordinary shares of COLT Telecom Group S.A. 
are listed on the London Stock Exchange.

Solicitors
Slaughter and May
One Bunhill Row
London EC1Y 8YY

Registrars
Computershare Investor Services (Channel Islands) Limited
P O Box 83
Ordnance House
31 Pier Road
St Helier
Jersey JE4 8PW
Tel: +44 1534 825230
Fax: +44 1534 825315

AGM
The 2009 Annual General Meeting of 
COLT Telecom Group S.A. will be held at 
11:00 am (Luxembourg time) on 29 April 2010 at:
K2 Building, Forte 1, 2a rue Albert Borschette
L-1246 Luxembourg

Further information contact
Investor Relations, Colt Telecom Group, Beaufort House,
15 St. Botolph Street, London EC3A 7QN
Tel: +44 20 7863 5314

Registered Office and Number
COLT Telecom Group S.A., Société anonyme
K2 Building, Forte 1, 2a rue Albert Borschette
L-1246 Luxembourg, BP 2174, L-1021 Luxembourg 

R.C.S Luxembourg B 115.679



© 2010 COLT Telecom Group Limited. All rights reserved. Colt and the Colt logo are registered trade marks.
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